



ÉCOLE DOCTORALE des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé (ED414)

Institut de biologie moléculaire et cellulaire, UPR9022 du CNRS



Arshad AYYAZ

soutenue le : 28 mars 2012

pour obtenir le grade de : **Docteur de l'université de Strasbourg** Discipline/ Spécialité : Aspects Moléculaire et Cellulaire de la Biologie

Vers une meilleure compréhension des infections intestinales: études des relations hôte-pathogène chez l'organisme modèle Drosophila melanogaster

THÈSE dirigée par :

Dr. Dominique FERRANDON

Directeur Recherche (DR2), IBMC, Strasbourg

RAPPORTEURS :

Prof. Arlette DARFEUILLE-MICHAUD Dr. François LEULIER

Université d'Auvergne, Clermont-Ferrand IBDML, Marseille

AUTRES MEMBRES DU JURY :

Prof. Jean-Luc IMLER Dr. Jean-Marc GHIGO IBMC, Strasbourg Institut Pasteur, Paris

RÉSUMÉ

L'intestin représente la barrière épithéliale la plus exposée au monde microbien, en particulier chez les vertébrés où le microbiote contient environ dix fois plus de cellules que l'organisme-hôte. Par ailleurs, de nombreux microbes potentiellement pathogènes sont ingérés avec les aliments ou la boisson. Effectivement, certains microbes sont capables de traverser la paroi intestinale et de provoquer des infections graves, surtout lorsque l'hôte est immunodéprimé. Cette paroi consiste en fait en un simple épithélium monocouche. Cette thématique fait l'objet de nombreuses études à l'heure actuelle. Le problème est difficile à étudier chez les vertébrés en raison de la complexité du microbiota et des deux niveaux imbriqués de la défense de l'hôte que sont l'immunité innée et l'immunité adaptative. Des études génétiques récentes chez un organisme modèle, Drosophila melanogaster, ont souligné que la défense de l'hôte contre les infections intestinales ne se résume pas à la seule réponse immunitaire dont le rôle est d'attaquer les pathogènes et de contenir le microbiota. Il est apparu qu'il est également important d'être capable de subir et de réparer les dommages entrainés par l'infection, soit directement par l'intermédiaire des facteurs de virulence microbiens, soit par la propre réponse immunitaire de l'hôte contre le pathogène. Par exemple, une infection orale de drosophiles par Serratia marcescens entraîne une mort cellulaire importante des entérocytes. La disparition des entérocytes est compensée par la prolifération des cellules-souches intestinales qui est elle-même déclenchée par l'activation de la voie JAK-STAT.

S. marcescens est une enterobacteriacae Gram-négative qui est ubiquitaire dans l'environnement. C'est un pathogène opportuniste capable d'infecter aussi bien les plantes que les animaux. Elle se retrouve aussi dans les services de soin intensif et de néonatalité et peut poser problème en raison de ses multiples gènes de résistance aux antibiotiques. S. marcescens est une bactérie entomopathogène très virulente chez la drosophile: quelques bactéries injectées dans la cavité interne, l'hémocoele, tuent la mouche en moins de 24 heures. Cependant, les mouches ne succombent qu'au bout de six jours dans un modèle d'infection orale. Une hypothèse était que S. marcescens resta confinée au tractus digestif, ce qui expliquerait ce phénotype. Cependant, bien que la majorité des bactéries se retrouve effectivement dans le lumen du tube digestif, quelques bactéries sont capables de traverser l'épithélium intestinal ainsi que la matrice péritrophique, une membrane chitinoprotéique qui borde intégralement l'épithélium de l'infection; cependant, elles ne semblent pas être en

mesure de proliférer dans l'hémocoele. De plus, elles sont phagocytosées efficacement par les hémocytes. De manière intéressante, bien que présentes dans l'hémocoele en quantités suffisantes pour déclencher une réponse immunitaire humorale systémique dans le modèle d'injection, une telle induction de cette réponse ne prend pas place après ingestion. Ainsi, selon le mécanisme d'introduction de *S. marcescens* dans l'hémolymphe, le résultat de l'infection peut varier considérablement, résultant en une bactérie virulente (injection) ou peu ou prou pathogène (ingestion). Il est vraisemblable que *S. marcescens* atténue son programme de virulence suite à son passage à travers la paroi intestinale, ce qui pourrait s'interpréter comme la conséquence d'un dialogue entre hôte et pathogène.

Une partie conséquente de mon travail a été d'effectuer un crible génétique en utilisant une bibliothèque de mutants générés par insertion aléatoire de Tn5-Sm, un minitransposon bactérien. Le crible a été réalisé dans un contexte défini: celui de mouches-hôtes auxquelles manquait le gène Eater, lequel code un récepteur de phagocytose. Dans ces mouches, l'infection n'est plus contrôlée dans l'hémocoele par les hémocytes et les drosophiles mutantes succombent rapidement à une bactériémie. Plusieurs phénotypes bactériens étaient attendus à l'issue de ce crible. Une première catégorie de phénotype prévisible était une virulence accrue, par exemple si les bactéries mutantes devenaient capables de traverser plus rapidement ou efficacement la barrière intestinale conséquemment à la perte d'un régulateur négatif. Un deuxième type de phénotype attendu était une virulence atténuée pouvant s'expliquer de plusieurs manières: 1- perte de résistance à l'environnement existant dans le lumen intestinal (enzymes digestives et lysozyme, radicaux libres et peptides antimicrobiens induits au niveau de l'épithélium intestinal dans le cadre d'une réponse immunitaire locale de l'hôte); 2incapacité à traverser la matrice péritrophique; 3-incapacité à envahir les cellules épithéliales (adhésion, pénétration); 4- incapacité à résister aux défenses intracellulaires potentielles; 5incapacité à sortir du côté basal des entérocytes 6- incapacité à proliférer dans l'hémolymphe ou perte de la résistance à l'action de la réponse immunitaire systémique qui est, quant à elle, fortement induite en l'absence de phagocytose, laquelle empêche chez les mouches sauvages la prolifération des bactéries ayant traversé la paroi intestinale.

J'ai ainsi isolé 58 lignées candidates après avoir criblé 1348 mutants bactériens. Je me suis par la suite plus particulièrement intéressé à un mutant affectant *FliR*, un gène de l'opéron impliqué dans la formation des flagelles. Le mutant *FliR* a effectivement une motilité atténuée et un moindre virulence *in vivo* qui corrèle avec un titre bactérien atténué dans l'hémolymphe. Ce phénotype suggère une capacité diminuée des mutants *FliR* à traverser la paroi intestinale. Ce gène pouvait soit être requis pour la sécrétion d'un facteur de virulence via l'appareil de construction du flagelle, soit plus vraisemblablement impliquer directement le flagelle comme facteur de virulence, par exemple en raison de son rôle dans la motilité bactérienne.

Mes travaux ont établi que le mutant *FliR* est capable de traverser la matrice péritrophique. Dans un modèle de culture de cellules, ce mutant semble capable de s'attacher aux cellules avec la même efficacité que la souche sauvage de *S. marcescens*. Cependant, il ne semble pas capable d'entrer efficacement dans les cellules en culture ou les entérocytes. Une interprétation alternative serait qu'il pénètre normalement dans les cellules mais soit incapable d'affronter les éventuelles défenses intracellulaires de l'hôte. Ainsi, un blocage au niveau de l'épithélium expliquerait le phénotype de moindre virulence du mutant FliR dans des mouches mutantes pour *Eater*. En conclusion, l'appareil de synthèse du flagelle est important pour la traversée de l'épithélium intestinal et constitue donc un facteur de virulence

La plupart des modèles d'infection intestinale utilisent des bactéries à Gram-négatif ou des champignons. Il semblait donc intéressant d'établir un tel modèle avec des bactéries à Gram-positif. Notre choix s'est porté sur *S. xylosus* car cette bactérie avait été retrouvée dans l'hémolymphe de certaines de nos cultures de drosophile affectées par une infection à microsporidies.

Une première étape a été la caractérisation de *S. xylosus* dans le modèle d'infection systémique après piqûre septique. La bactérie se comporte comme la plupart des bactéries à Gram-positif ayant un peptidoglycane de type Lysine, c'est-à-dire incapacité à tuer rapidement des mouches sauvages, mais virulence accrue dans les mutants affectant soit la voie Toll, soit la réponse cellulaire. Les mouches mutantes pour la deuxième voie de régulation de la réponse humorale systémique (la voie Immune deficiency [IMD]) se comportaient comme les mouches sauvages.

Dans le cadre d'une infection intestinale, les mouches sauvages (et *imd*) succombaient en six jours alors que, de manière surprenante, les mouches mutantes de la voie Toll périssaient plus lentement, une situation opposée à celle du modèle de la piqûre septique. Quelques bactéries sont capables de traverser la paroi intestinale mais sont incapables de proliférer à moins que la réponse cellulaire ait été préalablement bloquée. L'épithélium intestinal apparaissait normal à la dissection et la presque totalité des bactéries ingérées étaient tuées dans l'intestin. Après avoir exclu l'hypothèse d'une toxine sécrétée dans le surnageant des bactéries adsorbées sur le filtre sur lequel viennent se nourrir les mouches, nous avons testé l'hypothèse qu'une suractivation de la réponse immunitaire était à l'origine du décès des mouches. La génétique mettant hors de cause les peptides antimicrobiens, la voie Toll n'étant apparemment pas activée dans l'épithélium intestinal, nous avons alors étudié la réponse oxydative induite par l'ingestion de bactéries, laquelle est capable de tuer les mouches lorsqu'elle n'est pas régulée correctement. Là-aussi, le résultat s'est avéré négatif. En fin de compte, j'ai pu établir que la mort des mouches était due à un état de famine, confirmé par des mesures des réserves métaboliques. Mes travaux ont permis d'établir un nouveau rôle de la voie Toll dans la résistance à la famine, en présence ou absence d'infection, qui sera peut-être à mettre en relation avec un rôle métabolique de la voie Toll consistant à bloquer la voie de réponse à l'insuline lors d'une infection. En conclusion, mes travaux permettent de mieux comprendre les relations hôte-pathogène qui s'établissent lors d'une infection intestinale.

SUMMARY

The intestine is the organ most exposed to the microbial communities, especially in vertebrates where the number of individual microbes is ten times more as compared to the number of cells in the host organism. The epithelial barrier restricts these microbes into the lumen thus preventing them from causing local or systemic infections. Yet, some pathogenic bacteria cross the epithelial barrier, especially in immunocompromised people, and cause sever pathologies. Due to the complexity among the microbiota communities and the immune response of the host, consisting of innate and adaptive defenses, it is difficult to study specific interactions between individual microbial species and the host response. *Drosophila melanogaster* contains simple microbiota and lacks adaptive immune response. Also the availability of powerful genetic tools makes *D. melanogaster* a suitable genetic model to study host-pathogen interactions in the intestine. Some potential pathogens, like *Serratia marcescens*, can cross the intestinal epithelial barrier of *D. melanogaster* as well as damage the enterocytes, the dominant cell population in the intestinal epithelium. Consequently the intestinal stem cells undergo compensatory proliferation to maintain intestinal homeostasis.

The entomopathogenic Gram-negative bacterium S. marcescens infects a wide range of hosts. It opportunistically infects humans, especially immunocompromised people and neonates. It is posing a growing health hazard due to its resistance to multiple antibiotics. It behaves differently in distinct infection models. When directly injected into Drosophila hemolymph, S. marcescens kills the flies within one day but upon oral feeding the flies succumb only after six days of the start of infection. We reasoned that the bacteria exhibit differential virulence program depending on the mode of penetration in the flies. In the latter case there is an early degradation of the gut epithelium as early as a few hours after infection that is caused by the S. marcescens hemolysin. Following the initial regeneration of the gut epithelium from early damage prolonged exposure to S. marcescens leads to the gut damage possibly due to bacterial proteases. Interestingly, the bacteria cross the gut of the flies just after a few hours of infection but are not able to trigger the systemic immune response unless the cellular immune system is blocked. Bacteria that have crossed the gut barrier appear to have down regulated their virulence programs. As a result they are easily controlled by phagocytosis. I have performed a genetic screen to identify the bacterial virulence factors and genes responsible for the crossing midgut barrier. In this screen a bank of bacterial mutants generated by transposon insertions randomly into the genome of S. marcescens were tested in survival experiments using phagocytosis-deficient flies.

A screen was performed to identify bacterial virulence factors. A mutant strain with the transposon inserted into the fliR gene, a component of the type III flagellar protein export system, exhibited attenuation of virulence in oral infection assays in *D. melanogaster*. The plasmid insertion mutant strain generated to interrupt the gene fliR reproduced the fly survival phenotype, indicating that the *fliR* gene is important for the virulence of *S. marcescens*.

The *fliR* mutants are able to cross the peritrophic matrix, functionally similar to the human mucus. The bacteria were found in the vicinity of the epithelial cells but were not able to efficiently invade the intestinal epithelium as compared to the wild-type strain. Consequently lower titer of *FliR* mutants was found in the hemolymph. The inefficiency of the *FliR* mutants to invade cells was also confirmed in *ex-vivo* assay using insect cells.

I thus demonstrated that the *fliR* gene which is important in the motility apparatus is also required by *S. marcescens* for the crossing of the epithelial barrier of *D. melanogaster*.

Most of the intestinal infections utilize Gram-negative bacteria or fungi. It is therefore interesting to develop an infection model with a Gram-positive bacterium. The *Staphylococcus xylosus* strain Argentoratum was the microorganism of choice because it was isolated from the hemolymph of moribund flies coinfected with microsporidia.

First the *S. xylosus* was characterized in septic injury model. Like other Gram-positive bacteria, *S. xylosus* did not kill the wild-type flies but Toll pathway mutants, the immunity pathway responsible to sense Gram-positive bacteria through their structure Lys-type peptidoglycans as well as phagocytosus-deficient flies succumbed in a concentration dependent manner. The mutants for the other immunity-, Immune deficiency (IMD)-, pathway died like wild-type controls.

When the wild-type flies were orally infected with *S. xylosus* A. they succumbed to the infection within six days. The midgut structure was intact when visualized a moment before the flies die. No protection was provided by IMD pathway as *kenny* mutant flies were dying at the same rate as wild-type flies. The bacteria were able to cross the gut barrier but were not able to proliferate in the hemolymph and their numbers remained very low even when phagocytosis was blocked.

A strong oxidative response is triggered by *D. melanogaster* in the midgut against commensals and pathogens. In order to check whether the strong oxidative immune response is eventually killing the flies themselves, hydrogen peroxide was chemically neutralized in the midgut during the *S. xylosus* A. oral infection. No difference in the fly survivals was observed with or without neutralization of the oxidative response indicating that over-production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) does not seem to be responsible for the fly death caused by a

very low number of bacteria. Flies could efficiently survive to killed bacteria and filtered supernatant solution from overnight bacterial culture indicating that they do not die to the toxins released by the bacteria. Most surprisingly *MyD88*-, the Toll pathway-, mutant flies were surviving better to *S. xylosus* A. oral infection. A series of experiments lead us to the finding that the flies actually succumbed to starvation when orally infected with *S. xylosus* and that the MyD88 is required for the starvation susceptibility in microbiota-mediated manner. In conclusion my work has lead us to the better understanding of the host-bacterial interactions in the intestine.

Acknowledgements

I am thankful to Prof. Jean-Marc Reichhart for allowing me to work at IBMC. I am grateful to my supervisor Dr Dominique FERRANDON for allowing me to work as a member of his team. Dominique, thank you very much for your kindness, guidance and pieces of advice throughout during my stay at IBMC. I am grateful to you for all of your support and encouragement during difficult times in research. Many thanks to Dr Philippe GIAMMARINARO, my former supervisor since the times of my master internship at IBMC, for his kindness and practical training.

I am grateful to Dr François LEULIER, Dr Arlette DARFEUILLE-MICHAUD, Dr Jean-Marc GHIGO, and Dr Jean-Luc IMLER for accepting to judge my research work.

I am thankful to our team members Matthieu, Samantha, Sunny, Basti, Adrien, Marie-Céline and former members Samuel, Jessica, Jessie, Richard, Steffi for very useful scientific discussions and wonderful company that I have enjoyed with them. I am thankful to all other members of UPR9022 for providing friendly and pleasant environment. All the best to all of you guys...

I highly appreciate the moral support that my family, friends and near and dear ones have provided me during this period. My mother and father, without your encouragement and motivation I could have not accomplish this task.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction1					
1.	1.	Preface	2		
1.	2.	Drosophila melanogaster	3		
	1.2.	1. Immunity	3		
	1.2.	2. The <i>Drosophila</i> intestine	18		
	1.2.	3. Response to starvation	23		
1.	3.	Serratia marcescens	25		
1.	4.	Staphylococcus xylosus	27		
2. The host factors in oral infections with Serratia marcescens					
2.	1.	The host factors	32		
2.	2.	Wild-type flies survive a prolonged interaction with S. marcescens in the gut	33		
2.	3.	Flies are starved to death	34		
2.	4.	S. marcescens kills only the immuno-compromised flies	35		
2.	5.	The new infection model	36		
2.	6.	S. marcescens resists to ROS in Drosophila intestine	37		
3. The virulence factors of Serratia marcescens					
3.	1.	Rationale for the screens	40		
3.	2.	Results from the screens	40		
3.	3.	Secreted proteins of S. marcescens	41		
4. Serratia marcescens needs fliR gene to cross intestinal barrier					
5. The Toll pathway: from immunity to metabolism44					
5.	1.	MyD88 protective during septic injury but enhances susceptibility to starvation	45		
5.	2.	Role of MyD88 in nutrient metabolism during starvation	47		
	5.2.	1. Autophagy does not appear to be induced in <i>MyD88</i> mutants starved for a day	48		
	5.2.	2. TOR (target of rapamycin) apparently plays a role to mediate <i>MyD</i> 88 phenotype	50		
	5.2.	3. Role of the Insulin pathway	50		
	5.2.	4. Lipid metabolism in starved gut	51		
	5.2.	5. The gut microbiota appears to mediate the MyD88 starvation resistance phenotype	52		
	5.2.	6. <i>MyD88</i> mutant flies harbor different microbiota	53		
	5.2.	7. Lactobacillus plantarum dwells in younger MyD88 flies	55		
	5.2.	8. Yeast killed <i>MyD88</i> mutant flies faster upon starvation	56		
	5.2.	9. Longevity	56		
	5.2.	10. Conclusions	56		
6. Co	6. Conclusions				
7. Bi	7. Bibliography66				

Abbreviations:

AMP	: Antimicrobial peptides
CGD	: Chronic granulomatous
DAP	: Diamiopimelic acid
DIF	: Dorsal-related immunity factor
DTT	: Dithiothreitol
FOXO	: Forkhead box O
GlcNAc	: N-acetylglucosamine
GNBP3	: Gram negative protein 3
IMD	: Immune deficiency
ISC	: Intestinal stem cell
IRC	: Immune response catalase
JAK/STAT	: Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription
LPS	: Lipoplysaccharide
MAMP	: Microbe-associated molecular patterns
MurNAc	: N-acetylmuramic
NADPH	: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase
PGN	: Peptidoglycan
PGRP	: Peptidoglycan recognition protein
PO	: Phenoloxidase
ROS	: Reactive oxygen species
PRR	: Pattern recognition receptor
SPZ	: Spätzle
ТСТ	: Tracheal cytotoxin
TLR	: Toll like receptor

1. Introduction

1.1. Preface

Animals and microorganisms have evolved together. Regular contacts between these living entities throughout the process of evolution have lead to the development of versatile molecular interactions. The animal hosts have acquired the ability to recognise various categories of microbes and induce appropriate defense response that allows them to eradicate the hazardous microbes and tolerate the commensals. The innate immune response is the first lines of defense. It is composed of germ-line encoded receptors that recognize the structural components and danger signals from the pathogen. The adaptive immune response, first appeared in cartilaginous fish, is the second line of defense that is only present in higher animals. During the adaptive defense, a complex repertoire of the immune receptors is produced as a result of somatic gene rearrangements. These immune responses, however, utilize available energy resources of the host. Thus, the processes that interconnect immunity and metabolism are of immense importance for an efficient and cost-effective management of interacting microbes. Moreover, pathogens have also acquired strategies to overcome the host immune response. A large variety of virulence factors are secreted by various microbes that encounter the immune response and damage the tissues of their hosts at various stages of infection. The hosts, therefore, must repair the damages to maintain cellular and metabolic homeostasis essential for their survival.

The human intestine hosts a large variety of microorganisms. Abnormalities in the interactions with resident microbiota in the intestine result in sever pathologies. Many diseases like chronic and acute inflammation, cancer and metabolic disorders are associated with the interacting microbes. Not all mechanisms that ensure a healthy life by providing successful defense against microbes are known to date. In addition, there is a need to uncover the virulence factors of many life-threatening microbes.

Thus, the objective of my study was to use the powerful genetics of the model organism *Drosophila melanogaster* for the better understanding of intestinal infections, using a Gram-negative bacterium *Serratia marcescens* and a Gram-positive bacterium *Staphylococcus xylosus*. My work also led to the study of the mechanisms that connect immunity and metabolism.

1.2. Drosophila melanogaster

The fruit fly is widely used as a model organism because of numerous advantages. This small insect is cheap to maintain and easy to handle. As compared to other insects, Drosophila has a fast life cycle producing large number of offspring, allowing medium-throughput studies. Moreover, powerful genetic tools have been developed after a work spread over a century. The Drosophila genome has been sequenced (Adams et al., 2000) and large number of genetically modified strains are easily available. Induction of various transgene expressions can be achieved in a spatio-temporal manner using yeast UAS-GAL4 system (Brand and Perrimon, 1993; Zhong and Yedvobnick, 2009). Downregulation of gene expression can be achieved by combining UAS-GAL4 system with RNA interference (RNAi) where genes of interest are targeted by constructing hairpin dsRNA induced under the control of GAL4 promoter (Kennerdell and Carthew, 2000). Mutants can also be generated using transposon mutagenesis (Rubin and Spradling, 1982; Searles et al., 1982; Swaroop et al., 1985). Whole genome based Drosophila mutant libraries can be generated by feeding flies on ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) (Jenkins, 1967a, b; Williamson, 1970). Fate of proteins or individual cells can easily be traced in vivo using genetically marked fluorescent clones (Luo, 2007; Shrestha and Grueber, 2011; Wu and Luo, 2006). Finally, additional genetic tools like balancer chromosomes make *Drosophila* a power genetic model organism.

1.2.1. Immunity

Drosophila larvae feed on decaying fruits and vegetables and thus come across a large number of microbial communities. The microbes interact with *Drosophila* in the digestive tract, trachea, genitalia and other epithelia as well as by systemic dissemination through physical injuries. Although *Drosophila* lacks an adaptive immune response to microorganisms, the innate immune system provides an efficient protection to the flies against a majority of microbes. This makes *Drosophila* a suitable model to study innate immunity. Innate immune responses in *Drosophila* are well characterized and have lead to the discovery of various homologous innate systems in mammals (Tukhvatulin et al., 2010).



Figure 1.1: The Drosophila systemic immune response

The systemic immune response is triggered upon a septic injury. Coagulation and melanization are triggered and close the wound and trap the pathogen. Hemocytes engulf the invading microbes and phagocytose them. Reactive oxygen intermediates might be produced as by products of melanization reactions catalysed by the phenol oxidase enzyme. Toll and IMD pathway are induced to produce AMPs in the hemolymph.

1. Introduction

The septic injury of *Drosophila* results in the activation of several distinct immune responses against microbes in the body cavity (Figure 1.1). The activation of several proteolytic cascades lead to the deposition of melanin at the site of injury and the production of cytotoxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Nappi et al., 1995). The surviving microbes are phagocytosed by the hemocytes (Braun et al., 1998; Braun et al., 1997). A systemic immune response is activated that can recognise different classes of invading microbes. The downstream signaling results in the nuclear translocation of the NF- κ B transcription factors thus triggering the induction of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) active against the large categories of microbes (Basset et al., 2000; Dimarcq et al., 1988; Fehlbaum et al., 1994; Ferrandon et al., 2007; Ferrandon et al., 2004; Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007). The epithelia of *Drosophila* are protected by various physical and chemical immune barriers, namely cutin and peritrophic matrix, and the production of ROS and AMPs, respectively (Vallet-Gely et al., 2008). Below I describe the different arms of known *Drosophila* immune responses in detail.

Systemic Immune Response

The systemic immune response in *Drosophila* is composed of humoral and cellular responses.

Humoral response

The microbes in the hemocoel are recognized through their structural components, activating signaling cascades, leading to the synthesis and release of AMPs by the fat body, and possibly hemocytes. These processes are described in detail as follows:

Recognition of Microbes

Drosophila immune system detects microbes of various categories through their conserved structural components, namely microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs). Distinct MAMPs are associated with Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria and fungi. *Drosophila* detects these microbes respective recognition mechanisms.

Recognition of Gram-negative bacteria via DAP-type PGN



Figure 1.2: Toll and IMD pathway recognition of microbial structural components

Peptidoglycans are made up of long chains of alternating N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) and N-acetylmuramic acid (MurNAc) residues connected by short peptide bridges. The third protein residue is a meso-diamiopimelic acid (DAP) in Gram-negative bacteria and a lysine (Lys) in Gram-positive bacteria (shown in *red* and indicated by *black* arrow). A structure akin to TCT (shown in *blue*) is present at the extremity of all glycan strands. Amidase PGRPs remove short peptides from the sugar backbone (*blue arrow*) while lysozymes cleave the β -1,4-glycosidic bond between GlcNAc and MurNAc (*orange arrow*). Modified from (Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007).

The Immune Deficiency (IMD) pathway is responsible for the recognition of Gram-negative bacteria and some Gram-positive bacilli (Ferrandon et al., 2007; Lemaitre et al., 1995). Although lipopolysaccharides (LPS) form the outer cell wall of the Gram-negative bacteria and are highly immunogenic in mammals (Beutler et al., 2003a; Beutler et al., 2003b) they are not recognised by *Drosophila* (Kaneko et al., 2004; Leulier et al., 2003).

Peptidoglycan, lying beneath external LPS layer and outer cell membrane, are linear glycan strands cross-linked by short peptides (Rogers, 1980). Alternating Nacetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) and N-acetylmuramic acid (MurNAc) residues linked by β -1 \rightarrow 4 bonds form the glycan strands (Vollmer, 2008). A peptide stem, with the composition of L-Ala-y-D-Glu-meso-diAm-D-Ala-D-Ala in Escherichia coli where the last D-Ala residue is lost in the mature macromolecule, substitutes the D-lactov group of each MurNAc of the glycan backbone (Figure 1.2) (Vollmer and Bertsche, 2008). These glycan-bound peptide chains are generally cross-linked by the carboxyl group of D-Ala at position 4 and the amino group of the meso-diamiopimelic acid (DAP) at position 3 of the other peptide, either directly or through a short peptide bridge. This DAP residue at position 3 in the cross-linking peptide stems is abundant in Gram-negative bacterial PGN (DAP-type PGN), as well as that of some Grampositive bacilli. This residue at position 3 is replaced by a lysine (Lys) residue in Gram-positive bacterial PGN (Lys-type PGN) (Vollmer et al., 2008). Drosophila PGNrecognition proteins (PGRPs) can discriminate between these two types of PGN (Charroux et al., 2009; Ferrandon et al., 2007). The Drosophila genome encodes 13 members of peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs). They are categorized either as catalytic PGRPs (Mellroth et al., 2003; Mellroth and Steiner, 2006) or recognition PGRPs (Kim et al., 2003) on the basis of their function. The former are evolutionarily related to bacteriophage type II amidases while the later have lost the amino acid residues essential for the catalytic amidase activity.

PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE are the two noncatalytic members that sense DAPtype PGN of Gram-negative bacteria and activate the IMD pathway (Figure 1.3) (Choe et al., 2002; Gottar et al., 2002; Ramet et al., 2002; Takehana et al., 2002; Takehana et al., 2004). PGRP-LC, main receptor of the IMD pathway, is a type II transmembrane protein while PGRP-LE is either cleaved to retain only the PGRP domain and secreted in the hemolymph (similar to mammalian CD14) or serves as





(A) The IMD pathway is activated by DAP-type PGN that di- or multimerize PGRP-LE or -LC. Some other members of the PGRP family, such as PGRP-LB, -SC, and -LF, negatively regulate the IMD pathway. Activated IMD recruits DREDD through FADD. IMD and Relish are proteolytically cleaved by DREDD. Cleaved IMD is K63 poly ubiquitinated by the E3-ligase IAP2, E2-ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UEV1a, Bendless (Ubc13), and EFFECTE (Ubc5). This leads to the activation of Relish and and AP-1 triggering AMPs production and stress response, respectively. Akirin is required for Relish function. Prik/rudra/PIMS negatively regulates the IMD pathway at the level of recognition while DNR-1 and Casper block the response in the cytoplasm. (B) Dimerized Toll recruits TIR-domain containing adaptor protein MyD88 that connects with the death domain-containing Tube and Pelle. By a still undiscovered mechanism Cactus is degraded and then releases DIF/Dorsal. These transcription factors move to the nucleus and induce the expression of their taget genes. Adopted from (Valanne et al., 2012).

an intra-cellular receptor in full length where it binds to monomeric peptidoglycans (Kaneko et al., 2004; Kaneko et al., 2006). Both PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE can directly bind to longer or short length DAP-type PGNs, like tracheal cytotoxin (TCT), a naturally existing Gram-negative PGN (Chang et al., 2006; Mellroth et al., 2005).

There are three splice isoforms of PGRP-LC, a, x and y each with different extra-cellular domains (Werner et al., 2000). PGRP-LCx homodimers bind to polymeric DAP-type PGN while shorter length PGNs are sensed by the heterodimers of PGRP-LCx and PGRP-LCa. Detailed studies showed that heterodimerization of PGRP-LCx and PGRP-LCa was induced by TCT (Chang et al., 2006). The on crystal structure of TCT bound to PGRP-LC revealed that the ectodomain of PGRP-LCx binds with TCT and presents it to the ectodomain of PGRP-LCa for recognition since the former lacks the canonical peptidoglycan-docking groove conserved in other PGRPs. For that reason PGRP-LCa alone fails to bind directly to polymeric or monomeric PGNs (Mellroth et al., 2005). On the other hand when TCT is bound to PGRP-LE, a buried ionic interaction is established between the unique carboxyl group of DAP of TCT and an arginine residue of PGRP-LE conserved in all known PGRPs that bind to DAP-type PGN. The PGRP-LE bound TCT is than presented to another PGRP-LE. It has been shown that the contribution of prior TCT binding withh PGRP-LE enhances the affinity of PGRP-LE for the ligand (Lim et al., 2006).

The recognition of TCT initiates downstream signaling throught the IMD pathway. As a result of an activation of the IMD pathway, AMPs are secreted that lyse the bacteria. The lysed bacteria release long chain PGNs which are recognised by PGRP-LC to further activate the IMD pathway to fight the bacterial infection. Of note, overexpressed PGRP-LE is also found to induce melanization by triggering prophenoloxidase (proPO) cascade ((Takehana et al., 2002) in addition to induction of IMD pathway.

PGRP-LC is strictly needed to resist many Gram-negative bacterial species including *Enterobacter cloacae* or *Erwinia carotovora* (Gottar et al., 2002; Takehana et al., 2004), while PGRP-LE mutant flies did not exhibit a profound susceptibility to most Gram-negative bacterial infections (Takehana et al., 2004). However PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE double mutant flies failed to induced IMD pathway upon TCT infection as well as were found susceptible to *Escherichia coli* (Kaneko et al., 2004; Kaneko et al., 2006).



Figure 1.4: Negative regulation of the IMD pathway

The prolonged overactivation of the IMD pathway is controlled by the negative regulators (shown in *red*). Constitutive activation of the IMD pathway is prevented by the basal regulators (shown in *green*). Arrows: positive interaction,, dashed arrows: indirect interactions, red boxes: interactions in the *Drosophila* gut, ROS: reactive oxygen species. Taken from (Lee and Ferrandon, 2011).

Catalytic PGRPs (PGRP-SC1, PGRP-SB1 and PGRP-LB) of *Drosophila* retain their PGN degradation function. The elimination of the immunostimulatory properties of PGN by catalysis, thus, negatively controls a long-term IMD pathway activation to avoid potential detrimental effects for the host itself (Mellroth et al., 2003; Paredes et al., 2011). PGRP-LB, for example, is a secreted protein which is induced by the IMD pathway (Zaidman-Remy et al., 2006). It is an amidase that specifically degrades DAP-type PGNs of Gram-negative bacteria, thereby, providing a negative feedback loop to tightly control the activation of the IMD pathway (Paredes et al., 2011).

The transmembrane receptor PGRP-LF, although a non-catalytic PGRP, exhibits inhibitory function to immunity since reduction of PGRP-LF levels, in the absence of an infection, led to some basal IMD pathway activation (Maillet et al., 2008; Persson et al., 2007). PGRP-LF shows high affinity to DAP-type PGN and low affinity to Lys-type PGN (Maillet et al., 2008). It has two PGRP extra-cellular domains, LFz and LFw. None of the two domains of PGRP-LF can bind directly to PGN since they lack the PGN-docking groove found in other PGRP binding domains. Consequently PGRP-LF competes with PGRP-LCa to bind with PGRP-LCx/PGN complex, thus, downregulating the IMD pathway activity (Basbous et al., 2011).

Recognition of Gram-positive bacteria via Lys-type PGN

The cell walls of many Gram-positive bacteria contain Lys-type PGN (see above). The *Drosophila* genome encodes PGRP-SA that preferentially binds to Lys-type PGN (Figure 1.5) (Gobert et al., 2003). Another receptor namely Gram Negative Binding Protein 1 (GNBP1) has also been reported to sense Lys-type PGN (Gobert et al., 2003; Pili-Floury et al., 2004). A protein complex is formed by physical interaction of PGRP-SA and GNBP1 following recognition of Gram-positive bacteria. Activated GNBP1 hydrolyses Lys-type PGN into short di- or tetrameric muropeptides and presents the new glycan reducing ends to PGRP-SA (Wang et al., 2006). In a later report, however, full length GNBP1 did not show an enzymatic activity, and was rather suggested to function as a linker between PGRP-SA and ModSP, a modular serine protease (Buchon et al., 2009). Of note, the co-expression of both PGRP-SA and GNBP1 activates the Toll pathway in the absence of any infection (Gobert et al., 2003). PGRP-SD also senses Lys-type PGN with partial redundancy to the PGRP-SA-GNBP1 complex (Bischoff et al., 2004). The PGN-dependent recognition of the Gram-positive bacteria then activates a protease cascade that ultimately cleaves the

Toll receptor ligand Spätzle (SPZ). Cleaved SPZ then binds to the Toll receptor. The downstream signaling through the Toll pathway triggers the expression of its target genes including AMPs, such as Drosomycin.

Toll pathway activity is negatively regulated by PGRP-SC1B, a catalytic PGRP, that hydrolyzes the lactylamide bond between the glycan strand and the cross-linking peptides in Lys-type PGN thus preventing their detection by the receptors (Figure 1.2) (Bischoff et al., 2006; Mellroth et al., 2003)

Fungal Recognition

Fungi are recognized by the Toll pathway through two different mechanisms (Figure 1.5) (Gottar et al., 2006; Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007; Valanne et al., 2011). First, the fungi are detected through their cell wall components β -(1,3)-glucans by the circulating recognition molecules GNBP3, which then activate ModSP-dependent protease cascade (Buchon et al., 2009; Mishima et al., 2009). GNBP3 has also been reported to induce melanization of fungi through triggering a Phenoloxidase protease pathway activation (Gottar et al., 2006; Matskevich et al., 2010). Second, the *Drosophila* zymogen Persephone (PSH) is cleaved by the virulence factors of fungi as well as some Gram-positive bacteria (El Chamy et al., 2008; Gottar et al., 2006; Ligoxygakis et al., 2002). For instance, a fungal protease (PR1) is produced by the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* initially to digest fly cuticle. This protease, PR1, also cleaves PSH, which subsequently activates the protease cascade eventually triggering the Toll pathway (Gottar et al., 2006).

Toll pathway Activation

Nine members of the family of Toll receptors are encoded by the *Drosophila* genome (Toll, 18-wheeler, Toll3-9), which are evolutionary conserved in mammals (Lund and Delotto, 2011; Moresco et al., 2011). *Drosophila* Toll, however, is the only among nine receptors showing an immune function (Eldon et al., 1994; Gay and Gangloff, 2007; Tauszig et al., 2000). In contrast to mammalian Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) and *Drosophila* Toll9, *Drosophila* Toll does not sense pathogen factors PAMPs directly. Being a cytokine receptor itself, Toll has numerous leucine-rich repeats that bind to the cytokine SPZ cleaved by a proteolytic cascade activated after recognition of the microbial factors.

There are six members in the SPZ cytokine family. Structural studies reveal that SPZ is similar to neurotrophins. Synthesized as an inactive dimeric precursor (proSPZ) it is secreted in the hemolymph. SPZ is activated and cleaved by the three different pathways in *Drosophila* during immune response and development (Figure 1.5):

i) After recognition of microbial components by PGRP-SA, PGRP-SD, GNBP1 or GNBP3 (see above for details), a modular serine protease ModSP is activated initiating a proteolytic cascade involving several other serine proteases like Grass, Spirit, Sphinx1/2 and Spheroide, eventually activating SPE that ultimately cleaves SPZ (Kambris et al., 2006; Kellenberger et al., 2011).

ii) SPE is also activated directly by PSH, which senses the enzymatic activity from virulence factors from fungi and bacteria (*e.g.* fungal PR1) (Gottar et al., 2006; Jang et al., 2006).

iii) During embryogenesis, *Easter* is activated in response to positional cues, and in turn cleaves full-length SPZ. The activated SPZ than activates the Toll pathway, which is also required for the embryonic dorso-ventral patterning (Chasan and Anderson, 1989; Chasan et al., 1992; Gay and Keith, 1992).

The Toll pathway

The activation of the Toll pathway is initiated by the binding of the cleaved SPZ with the Toll receptor. Of note, the humoral and cellular innate immune responses cooperate at the level of SPZ since knocking down SPZ specifically in hemocytes of *Drosophila* larvae blocked Toll pathway activation after infection (Shia et al., 2009). Once in the hemolymph, the cleavage of the amino-terminal of disulfide-linked dimeric cystine-knot protein SPZ by SPE allows its carboxy-terminal fragement to bind to the amino-terminal of extra-cytoplasmic region of Toll receptor. This interaction forms a complex comprising a SPZ dimer and two Toll receptors thus activating the downstream signaling cascade (Figure 1.3) (Arnot et al., 2010; Hoffmann et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2004; Mizuguchi et al., 1998; Weber et al., 2005; Weber et al., 2003).

The intra-cellular domain of Toll receptor is a 150 amino acid TIR domain that is homologous to the intra-cellular signaling domain of interleukin-1 receptor and all TLRs in mammals (Ferrandon et al., 2007; Gay and Keith, 1991; Hashimoto et al., 1988; Schneider et al., 1991). The activation of Toll leads to dimerization of the two TIR domains that recruit three death-domain containing proteins, dMyD88, Tube, and Pelle. These proteins, together, form the Toll-induced signaling complex (TISC) (Sun et al., 2004). The cytoplasmic adaptor MyD88 (myeloid differentiation primary-response gene 88) is conserved between vertebrates and invertebrates (Tauszig-Delamasure et al., 2002). It has one TIR domain and one death domain. The TIR domain of MyD88 interacts with the TIR domain of the Toll while the death-domain interacts with the death-domain of Tube. The Death-domain of Tube then binds to the death-domain of Pelle, a member of the IL-1R associated kinase family (IRAK) of serine-threonine kinases (Shelton and Wasserman, 1993; Towb et al., 2009). The substrate of Pelle during an immune response is not known yet. However, *in vitro* assays reveal that the *Drosophila Dichaete* gene, a member of the Sox family of high mobility group (HMG) domain proteins, is a phosphorylation target of Pelle. Phosphorylated Dichaete is required for its proper subcellular distribution in developing oocytes and normal development of the egg chamber (Mutsuddi et al., 2010).

Under noninduced conditions, the nuclear factors Dorsal and/or Dorsal related immunity factor (DIF) are bound to Cactus (the *Drosophila* homolog of I- κ B) and remain anchored in the cytoplasm. During Toll pathway activation an uncharacterized mechanism causes the phosphorylation and K48 ubiquitination of Cactus. Cactus is then degraded in the proteasome-dependent manner (Belvin et al., 1995; Fernandez et al., 2001). This releases Dorsal and/or DIF that, upon nuclear localization, bind to the κ B-response elements triggering the expression of the target genes, including the AMPs like *Drosomycin* that is widely used as a reporter of Toll pathway activation.

A G-protein (Guanine nucleotide binding protein)-coupled receptor kinase (Gprk)2, CG15737/Toll pathway activation mediating protein, and U-shaped are recently been found to be required for normal *Drosomycin* response *in vivo* (Valanne et al., 2010). Studies on S2 cells reveal an interaction of Gprk2 with Cactus, but Gprk2 is not required for its degradation though. Moreover, the Toll receptor ligand complex might be endocytosed since two important proteins of endocytosis complex, the Myopic (MOP) protein and the Hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate (HRS), are required for Toll pathway activation both in cells and flies. According to epistasis studies, MOP protein functions upstream of the MyD88 adaptor and Pelle kinase. This shows similarities with mammals where TLR4 was proposed to induce



Figure 1.5: Cleavage of the SPZ cytokine which is required for Toll pathway activation SPE is activated by three protease cascades during an immune response. Virulence factors from Gram-positive bacteria and fungi activate Persephone (PSH) that in turn activates SPE. The other two cascades sense structural components of Gram-positive bacteria and fungi and converge at ModSP-Grass. The downstream activation of protease cascade induces SPE. Once activated, SPE cleaves the prodomain of SPZ. During early embryogenesis SPZ is cleaved by Easter. After cleavage of SPZ, its C terminal domain is exposed and binds to the transmembrane receptor Toll, thus triggering the downstream Toll pathway activation. Adopted from (Valanne et al., 2012).

TIRAP-MyD88 interaction at the plasma membrane. This interaction then leads to the internalisation of the receptor as a result of the activation of TRAM-TRIF signaling from the early endosomes (Kagan et al., 2008) and CD14-mediated endocytosis (Zanoni et al., 2011).

Negative regulation of Toll pathway

The activation of the Toll pathway mediated by the serine protease PSH is negatively regulated by Necrotic, a serine protease inhibitor of the Serpin family, thus regulating the Toll-mediated immune response (Levashina et al., 1999; Pelte et al., 2006; Robertson et al., 2006; Robertson et al., 2003). The catalytic PGRP-SC1B degrades Lys-type PGN and renders them unavailable for detection (Bischoff et al., 2006; Garver et al., 2006). Moreover, WntD (Wnt inhibitor of Dorsal), which is itself induced in response to the Toll pathway activation, negatively regulates the Toll pathway by preventing the nuclear localization of Dorsal during development. WntD has been shown to work in parallel or downstream of Cactus (Ganguly et al., 2005; Gordon et al., 2008; Gordon et al., 2005; McElwain et al., 2011). In a recent study, where WntD was shown to be involved in lipid metabolism for proper migration of primordial germ cells, *Drosophila* strains deficient for the positive regulators of Toll pathway, such as Toll, Tube, Pelle and MyD88, did not enhance WntD-mediated lethality. This suggests that the Toll pathway has no affect on WntD dependent metabolic affects (McElwain et al., 2011).

The IMD pathway

Both PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE share a RIP homotypic interaction motif (RHIM)-like motif in their amino-terminal domain, which is required for the initiation of signaling (Kaneko et al., 2006). Upon binding with the DAP-type PGN this cytoplasmic domain of PGRPs dimerizes or multimerizes, thus likey recruiting this death-domain containing adaptor IMD (Figure 1.3) (Choe et al., 2005).

The adaptor protein IMD plays a central role and initiates two genetically distinct processes, both aimed at activating the IMD pathway and ultimately leading to the nuclear localization of the main IMD pathway target, phosphorylated Relish, a NF- κ B-like transcription factor. Relish is structurally similar to the mammalian p100 and p105 precursors (Ferrandon et al., 2007; Hedengren et al., 1999; Silverman et al., 2000; Stoven et al., 2000). The first process is the phosphorylation of Relish. IMD,

after being activated, recruits FAS-associated death domain (FADD) protein (Hu and Yang, 2000; Leulier et al., 2002) that, in turn, recruits the caspase-8 like protein DREDD (death-related ced-3/Nedd2-like protein) (Chen et al., 1998; Hu and Yang, 2000). This leads to the DREDD-mediated cleavage of IMD (Paguette et al., 2010), exposing the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP)-binding motif (IBM) of IMD to the RING (really interesting new gene)-finger containing protein D. melanogaster inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (DIAP2). DIAP2 is thought to be a Drosophila E3 ligase for the K63-ubiquitination of IMD (Gesellchen et al., 2005; Huh et al., 2007; Kleino et al., 2005; Leulier et al., 2006). Ubiguitin conjugating E2 enzyme Bendless (Drosophila homologue of the mammalian ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 13 (Ubc13)), Effecte (Ubc5) and ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 variant 1 (Uev1a) also play a role in the ubiguitination of the IMD (Paguette et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2005). IMD-linked K63polyubiquitination serves as a scaffold for the assembly of a complex comprising of the MAPKKK transforming growth factor- β (TGF β)-activated kinase 1 (TAK1), and its regulatory subunit TAK1-binding protein 2 (TAB2). Eventually, the activation of IKK complex that consists of catalytic subunit immune-response deficient 5 (IRD5, Drosophila homologue of mammalian IKK β) and regulatory subunit Kenny (key, IKK γ) in mammals) phosphorylates Relish (Kleino et al., 2005; Zhou et al., 2005). The phosphorylation of Relish is required for the transactivational properties of Relish, but not for its cleavage (Erturk-Hasdemir et al., 2009). Second process is the cleavage of Relish. After being recruited by the IMD-bound FADD, DREED likey cleaves Relish, a process that is independent of its phosphorylation by the IKK complex (Erturk-Hasdemir et al., 2009; Leulier et al., 2000; Naitza et al., 2002). The phosphorylated and cleaved Relish then moves to the nucleus and induces the expression of target genes mainly AMPs. In a recent study Relish was found to also induce the apoptosis of neuronal in a retinopathy model (Chinchore et al., 2012).

The IMD pathway also interacts with JUN amino-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway. The Hemipterous (*Drosophila* homologue of MKK7/JNKK in mammals) is activated at the level of the TAK1/TAB2 complex (Naitza et al., 2002; Silverman et al., 2003) thus initiating a stress response. The exact role of JNK pathway activation in the systemic immune response remains controversial.

Negative regulation of IMD pathway

Since the hyperactivation of IMD pathway can be detrimental, it is tightly regulated at various stages (Figure 1.4) (Kim et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2006; Ryu et al., 2008). PGRP-SC and PGRP-LB are two amidases that degrade PGNs into nonstimulatory smaller fragments. Moreover, PGRP-LF competes PGRP-LC for dimerization by forming inactive heterodimers (see above). Another inhibitor of IMD pathway is PIRK, also called Rudra or PIMS, that acts at post-PGN recognition by binding to and inhibiting PGRP-LC activity (Aggarwal et al., 2008; Kleino et al., 2008; Lhocine et al., 2008). The fact that the transcription of PIMS is controlled by Ras/MAPK pathway, a mechanism that promotes cell proliferation upon activation, shows an inverse relationship between growth and immunity. The Ras/MAPK pathway exhibits the immune inhibitory function in *Drosophila* hemocytes, fat body and adult intestinal stem cells (Ragab et al., 2011). The activity of these regulators is inducible and they regulate IMD pathway in a negative feedback.

There are many other constitutively expressed intracellular factors that regulate the IMD pathway during noninduced conditions. A transcription factor Caudal blocks AMP transcription in posterior midgut region, but not that of the negative regulators PGRP-LB and PIRK. Casper inhibits DREDD mediated cleavage of Relish. Many other factors (*e.g.* dUSP36, POSH, CYLD, SKPA, SLMB, DCUL1, DNR-1) affect the stability of IMD pathway components influencing their ubiquitination status. The JNK pathway also provides negative feedback. It blocks the expression of certain AMPs, which are induced upon IMD pathway activation. AP-1, which is expressed upon IMD dependent JAK/STAT pathway activation, makes a repressor complex binding to the promoter region of Relish-dependent AMP genes (Davis, 1999; Kim et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2005). Furthermore, the Toll-8 (or Tollo (a member of the Toll pathway receptors)), the ligand SPZ2 and the intracellular TIR domain containing protein SARM negatively regulate the IMD pathway-dependent AMP activation in the respiratory epithelium (Akhouayri et al., 2011).

The JNK pathway

Many physiological processes like cytoprotection, apoptosis, autophagy, cell proliferation, differentiation, tissue repair, regeneration, metabolism and growth are influenced in response to the activation of the JNK pathway. The JNK pathway is activated by ROS, ultra-violet (UV) light and heat stress (Biteau et al., 2011; Boutros et al., 2002; Silverman et al., 2003) as well as by the IMD pathway (see above).

In case of IMD-mediated inflammation TAK1 (see above) activates Hemipterous (dJNKK) that phosphorylates Basket (dJNK) that in turn activates AP-1 (Delaney and Mlodzik, 2006; Geuking et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2007). A complex comprising AP-1, Stat92E, Dsp1 and HDAC1 binds the promoter region of IMD induced AMPs thus negatively regulating the pathway. In another study, however, JNK pathway has been shown to induce some AMPs (Delaney et al., 2006). This indicates the complexity of the role of JNK pathway. Moreover, the PDGF- and VEGF-receptor related (PVR), PDGF- and VEGF-related factor 2 (PVF2) and PVF3 ligands are induced by IMD-induced JNK pathway. PVR then blocks phosphorylation of JNK and Relish in a ERK dependent manner, thus negatively regulating the IMD pathway (Bond and Foley, 2009). In a recent study DREDD has been shown to be essential for the IMD-dependent activation of JNK pathway (Guntermann and Foley, 2011). These studies indicate that in addition to an antimicrobial response, the innate immune responses play a role in the endurance process of the flies where they can also withstand and repair the damages caused by the microbial infections.

Effector molecules of the systemic immune response

Antimicrobial peptides

Following a septic infection, the antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are secreted in the hemolymph as a result of the Toll and/or IMD pathway activation in the fat body cells. Seven families of AMPs have been identified to date including Diptericins (2 genes), Drosocin, Attacins (4 genes), Drosomycins (7 genes), Metchnikowin, Cecropins (4 genes) and Defensins (2 genes). Dipericins, Drosocin and Attacins are active against Gram-negative bacteria, drosomycins and Metchnikowin against fungi, cecropins against both bacteria and fungi, while defensins are the only AMPs that show specific antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive bacteria. To monitor an activation of the IMD and Toll pathway, respectively. DiptericinA and Drosomycin1 are widely used as readouts.

Tep proteins

The *Drosophila* genome encodes six Thioester-containing proteins (TEP1-6) that are similar to the mammalian complement $C3/\alpha^2$ -macroglobulin superfamily (Blandin and Levashina, 2004; Jiggins and Kim, 2006). TEP6, however, lacks the canonical thioester-motif. The fat body cells strongly induced seven TEP genes upon

an immune challenge. Once secreted they might work as opsonins to facilitate phagocytosis (Lagueux et al., 2000). No role of TEP proteins has been found in *Drosophila* in classical infection models (Bou Aoun et al., 2011), however, TEP2 is required for an efficient phagocytosis of *E. coli*, while TEP3 is needed for the phagocytosis of Gram-positive bacteria and might be required in the *Drosophila* gut against Gram-negative bacterium (unpublished data). The thioester lacking TEP6 may function to bind and internalize the fungi. In mosquito hemocyte-specific TEP1 functions as opsonin and promotes phagocytosis of bacteria (Levashina et al., 2001).

Miscellaneous effectors

A few putative immune factors are secreted in the *Drosophila* hemolymph as a result of an immune challenge. These molecules include *Drosophila* immune molecules (DIMs) and Tot proteins (De Gregorio et al., 2001; Ekengren and Hultmark, 2001; Ekengren et al., 2001; Levy et al., 2004; Uttenweiler-Joseph et al., 1998). Other effectors include catalase, transferrin, iron transporter gene and other factors that participate in distinct defense mechanisms like melanization and coagulation (Yoshiga et al., 1999). The exact function of the hundreds of genes induced upon immune challenge remains to be established.

Cellular Immune Response

In *Drosophila*, larval and adult hemocytes are derived from the mesoderm of the developing embryo (Evans and Wood, 2011; Tepass et al., 1994). They remove the apoptotic cells (Franc et al., 1996; Franc et al., 1999). The embryonic hemocytes constitute the major circulating hemocytes in larvae while ones produced in the lymph gland, the hematopoietic organ that proliferates and differentiates throughout the larval period (Grigorian et al., 2011), are not released in the absence of an infection until the onset of metamorphosis when they play a vital role in tissue remodeling. The embryonic and lymph gland produced hemocytes remain in the adult flies, mostly in a sessile form (Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007).

Among all three types of hemocytes, plasmatocytes are the largest group (90-95%) of larval hemocytes followed by crystal cells (5%) while lamellocytes are hardly detectable (Lanot et al., 2001). Crystal cells are nonphagocytic and are involved in melanization. They contain large amount of crystals of the hemocyanin-related oxidoreductase, the prophenoloxidase (proPO). They function as storage cells and

release their contents upon injury. Lamellocytes function in encapsulation of smaller foreign particles, oil droplets and parasitoid eggs (see below). Adult flies possess only plasmatocytes. They are phagocytic and their population remains uniform (about 1000-2000 per fly). They do not undergo proliferation or differentiation (Elrod-Erickson et al., 2000; Holz et al., 2003; Lanot et al., 2001).

Phagocytosis

The major function of plasmatocytes is to phagocytose invading microbes including viruses, bacteria and yeast, as well as other foreign particles and damaged self-components *e.g.* apoptotic cells during development. The microbes are recognized then internalized through cytoskeleton modulation. The engulfed microorganisms are enclosed in vacuoles and finally degraded by digestive enzymes in phagolysozymes. The genetic ablation of phagocytes by inducing hemocytes-specific apoptosis (Charroux and Royet, 2009; Defaye et al., 2009) or blockade of phagocytosis by the injection of nondegradable latex beads (Nehme et al., 2011) makes adult flies susceptible to some microbial infections. The genetic ablation of hemocytes in IMD and Toll pathways mutantsresults in larval mortality because of infections by opportunistic microbes (Matova and Anderson, 2006).

Several proteins have been identified that function as phagocytic receptors in Drosophila. Eater is an EGF-like repeat containing scavenger receptor (Kocks et al., 2005). Transcriptional downregulation of eater resulted in reduced binding and internalization of bacterial cells in cell culture assays. The eater null mutant adult flies have enhanced susceptibility to microbes (Charroux and Royet, 2009; Defaye et al., 2009; Nehme et al., 2011). The Nimrod family of EGF-repeat containing proteins, which are actually Eater-like molecules, are putative phagocytic receptors or opsonins (Kurucz et al., 2007). Draper, Croquemort and SIMU have been shown to recognize apoptotic cells to initiate their phagocytosis (Elliott and Ravichandran, 2008; Franc et al., 1996; Kurant et al., 2008; Ryoo and Baehrecke, 2010). A Drosophila Junctophilin, Undertaker, associates Draper-mediated phagocytosis and homeostasis (Cuttell et al., 2008). Croquemort, a member of CD36 family of phagocytic receptors, also recognizes bacteria (Stuart et al., 2005). The scavenger receptor, SR, has been demonstrated to recognize bacteria, but not fungi (Ramet et al., 2001). Gram-negative bacteria are also phagocytosed by PGRP-LC, a receptor for the IMD pathway that controls expression of AMPs. More than one thousand splice forms of the Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule (Dscam) are secreted in the hemolymph and are suggested to mediate bacterial binding with the hemocytes, although these findings lack *in vivo* demonstration (Watson et al., 2005). *phgA* null mutant flies exhibit enhanced sensitivity to bacterial infections because of impaired phagocytic binding of bacteria. The full-of-bacteria (Bergeret et al., 2008), psidins (Brennan et al., 2007), nonaspanins (Bergeret et al., 2008) are proteins involved in phagocytosis in steps downstream of internalization.

Encapsulation

The larval lamellocytes encapsulate eggs of parasitoids, foreign particles and oil droplets (Russo et al., 1996). Soon after the egg deposition by the female parasitoid, plamatocytes bind to the chorion and signal for a rapid release of hemocytes from the lymph glands and form sessile hemocytes by an unknown mechanism. This also triggers the massive proliferation and differentiation of sessile hemocytes into lamellocytes in the sub-epidermis (Jung et al., 2005; Markus et al., 2009). These hemocytes form multilayered capsule around the egg that, later on, becomes melanized. The local production of cytotoxic products including ROS and melanization cascade intermediates play a role in the killing of the parasitoid egg (Eleftherianos and Revenis, 2011; Nappi et al., 2009).

Clotting

Clotting or coagulation is a critical process to rapidly heal the wound upon an injury and regenerate the barrier upon infection. It has been essentially studied in larvae. This process immobilizes the invading pathogens and facilitates their killing (Wang et al., 2010). The clot formed at the site of injury is composed of fibers mainly composed of hemolectin (Goto et al., 2003; Karlsson et al., 2004; Scherfer et al., 2004). The cross-linking of the fiber components is mediated by proteins like transglutaminase and proPO. This fibers networks traps hemocytes and invading microbes (Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007; Lindgren et al., 2008; Scherfer et al., 2006).

Melanization

It is the process of melanin deposition that occurs during both encapsulation and clotting. It starts with the recognition of the microbes by PRRs like GNBPs and PGRP-LE, which activates cascades of a series of serine proteases, leading to the activation of prophenoloxidase activating enzyme (PPAE). PPAE than cleaves prophenoloxidase (proPO) into the enzymatically active form, phenoloxidase (PO). PO then oxidizes mono- and diphenols to orthoquinones that polymerise to melanin (Eleftherianos and Revenis, 2011; Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007; Liu et al., 2011). Its role in host defense is a matter of debate (Ayres and Schneider, 2008; Leclerc et al., 2006; Tang et al., 2008).

Other Miscellaneous hemocyte functions

Larval plasmatocytes express immune molecules like hemolectin, the JAK/STAT pathway ligand UPD3 and the Toll ligand SPZ (Agaisse et al., 2003; Goto et al., 2003; Shia et al., 2009). These cytokines are proposed to function as tools of communication between hemocytes and the immune responsive tissues such as fat body, in larvae.

A subset of circulating hemocytes expresses IMD-dependent AMPs expression upon an immune challenge (Reichhart et al., 1992). Moreover, many components of extracellular matrix like Collagen IV and Peroxidasin are secreted by the circulating plasmatocytes. These components are thought to play a role in the formation of basal membranes (Fessler et al., 1994).

Local Immune responses in barrier epithelia

The epithelia or the external surfaces of the animals are the frontiers between the environment and the internal milieu of the animals. These are the places where microbes first interact with the host animal. In *Drosophila*, the trachea (air paths), genital organs and intestine induce important immune responses against microbes (Akhouayri et al., 2011; Ferrandon et al., 1998; Tingvall et al., 2001; Tzou et al., 2000). Local immune responses in the *Drosophila* intestine are discussed in the following section.

1.2.2. The Drosophila intestine

The Drosophila intestine as a model for human gut infections and biology

Recent advances in the techniques to sequence metagenomes have revolutionized the study of microbiota in the human intestine. A normal human gut hosts as many as 10¹⁴ bacterial cells belonging to 400-1000 different species. A healthy intestine can maintain such a diverse array of microbes due to a tight control on the intestinal homeostasis, immune responses, specific composition and quantity

1. Introduction

of microbiota, eradication of potential pathogens, tissue repair and regeneration. Abnormalities in these processes lead to many diseases of human intestine, such as inflammatory disorders, colorecteral cancer, metabolic imbalance and gastrointestinal infections (Chassaing and Darfeuille-Michaud, 2011; Garrett et al., 2010; Wells et al., 2011). Moreover, many physiological complications, for instance obesity (Kallus and Brandt, 2012), insulin resistance (De Bandt et al., 2011), and inflammation of the intestine are associated with the specific resident microbiota (Caricilli et al., 2012; Serino et al., 2011). This highlights a need to develop robust research approaches for better understanding of the intestinal homeostasis, interactions with resident microbiota and immune responses against potential pathogens. Mammalian models provide good homology to the human biology; however, they are expensive, complex and associated to ethical issues. Also it is difficult to isolate and study individual mechanisms of interest due to the complex nature of these models. Furthermore, high to medium throughput studies are labor-intensive and not cost-effective in mammalian models.

Because it feeds on rotten fruits and vegetables, D. melanogaster regularly interacts with a variety of microbes over and over. It can survive over a period of two months in a microbe rich environment. Drosophila has evolved distinct mechanisms against microbes. These immune defenses are widely studied and established in flies. Systemic and local immune responses are induced in Drosophila against microorganisms in hemolymph and on the surface epithelia, respectively (see Drosophila immunity (1.2.1) and below). These systems are quick and easy to be monitored efficiently using genetic techniques developed in Drosophila. Also the Drosophila genome encodes large number of conserved signaling pathways involved in stem cell proliferation, damage repair, cell death, embryogenesis and development, neural signaling, nutrient metabolism, starvation resistance, autophagy and innate immune system. Moreover, use of Drosophila as model organism in different fields of biological research spread over a period of a century has resulted in the development of diverse genetic tools to study these biological mechanisms. For instance, lineages of gut epithelial cells can be genetically marked, traced and analysed using multiple techniques for in vivo studies (reviewed in (Apidianakis and Rahme, 2011)). The ease of establishing artificial infection models and the study of biological phenomena of interest in throughput studies add to the advantages of



Figure 1.6: **The** *Drosophila* **midgut**. The crop is a storage organ of adults while the proventriculous is a value at the junction between foregut and midgut. The midgut has a stomach-like acidic section, the copper cell region. Malpighian tubules, functionally analogues of mammalian kidneys, are present at the junction between midgut and hindgut. Note: the caeca are only present in the larvae, but not in adults. Taken from (Royet, 2011).
using *Drosophila* as a model organism for the better understanding of the hostmicrobe interactions in the intestine.

The intestinal epithelium

The Drosophila intestine (Figure 1.6) is the first site of interaction between the host and the ingested microbes. In order to limit microbes inside the lumen and kill potential pathogens, Drosophila midgut epithelium has evolved many physical and chemical barriers. A peritrophic matrix, mucous in mammals, is the first line of defense. It is secreted by the proventriculous and also possibly by enterocytes. It is a chitinoproteinaceous layer that lines the inner surface of the epithelium. It functions as a physical barrier to prevent microbes from coming into a direct contact with the epithelial cells and a systemic dissemination into the hemolymph (Kuraishi et al., 2011; Shanbhag and Tripathi, 2009). The Drosophila intestinal epithelium is a monolayer composed of three types of cells. The polyploid enterocytes (EC) form the majority of the midgut cell population, followed by hormone secreting enteroendocrine (EE) cells and the proliferating intestinal stem cells (ISC). ECs are absorptive cells but also secrete digestive enzymes in some parts of the gut. The Drosophila epithelium is constantly being renewed with a turnover time of one week. During this renewal, ISCs divide asymmetrically to produce a population of nondifferentiated enteroblasts (EB) that later differentiate into ECs and EEs (Charroux and Royet, 2010; Cordero and Sansom, 2012). The ISCs are located near to the basal membrane that is further lined by circular muscles. Both of these structures are important for the ISCs stability and maintenance (Bardin et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2010). The *Drosophila* epithelium also contains a medial copper cell region, which is acidic most likely for digestion purposes. Proteases, lipases (LipA), catalytic PGRPs and lysozymes are among the digestive enzymes secreted by the midgut cells (Sieber and Thummel, 2012).

Local AMP expression

The midgut epithelial cells of *Drosophila* secrete AMPs against ingested microbes. This immune response is IMD, and not Toll, pathway dependent (Liehl et al., 2006; Nehme et al., 2007; Ryu et al., 2006). In the absence of an infection *Drosophila* midgut tolerates commensal microbes. This is related to the low amounts of PGN released by the commensals in intestine, which is not sufficient to trigger a strong immune response. Additionally various negative regulators, like Caudal,



Figure 1.7: Mechanism of AMPs and ROS regulation in the gut in the presence of commensals and increased microbial burden. (A) Upon activation of an unknown G protein coupled receptor triggered by non-PGN microbial component(s), PLC β is activated in G α q-dependent manner. This activates IP3 (direct biochemical control), thus, secreting ROS at low level. The IMD pathway is activated by bacterial PGN, but is prevented from overactivation by Caudal, PIMS and catalytic PGRPs. (B) In the presence of increased microbial burden, high amounts of structural components of microbes induce IMD pathway that triggers the expression of AMPs. In addition to an increased activation of IP3, PKC and IMD pathway-dependent transcription of the DUOX gene is also induced (transcriptional regulation), thus secreting higher amounts of ROS. Taken from (Limmer et al., 2011).

PGRPs, USP36 and PIRK keep the immune response under control (Charroux and Royet, 2010; Ryu et al., 2008). The expression of IMD pathway induced AMPs is blocked by the DNA-binding repressor, Caudal, in the posterior region of the midgut. Caudal does not inhibit the expression of other IMD-dependent negative regulators such as PGRP-LB or PIRK. In the case of an infection, high amounts of PGN are released in the intestine that can trigger a strong AMP response in the midgut. *Drosophila* intestine can quickly come to the normal homeostasis because many negative regulators are under IMD control (see above).

Oxydative Response

The secretion of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is an important arm of the chemical immune response triggered against microbes in the *Drosophila* gut. Even heat-killed bacteria can induce a strong ROS response. By a non-described, PGN-independent, mechanism an unknown transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) is suggested to activate phospholipase C- β (PLC β) mediated by a G α protein (G α q). PLC β in turn induces the production of 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) causing mobilization of intracellular calcium. This induces the transmembrane protein dual oxidase (DUOX), a member of NADPH family, to produce ROS (Ryu et al., 2010). Under normal conditions, ROS are secreted to moderate levels by a direct biochemical control (Figure 1.7). During infection, however, production of ROS is increased, both biochemically as well at the transcriptional level.

ROS are the free oxygen radicals, such as oxygen ions and peroxidases. They are cytotoxic and lyse the microbes. An overproduction of ROS is neutralized by the secretion of an extracellular immune-related catalase (IRC) to avoid self toxicity that can be lethal for flies (Ha et al., 2005).

Homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium during intestinal infections

The midgut epithelium is damaged during bacterial infections of the intestine. The homeostasis is maintained by compensatory proliferation of ISCs. The JNK ((Ryoo et al., 2004) and see above), Hippo (see below), JAK/STAT, and EGFR pathways are involved in the repair of the damaged midgut epithelium in *Drosophila* (Buchon et al., 2010; Cronin et al., 2009; Jiang and Edgar, 2009; Xu et al., 2011) (Figure 1.8).

The Hippo pathway



Figure 1.8: **The** *Drosophila* **midgut homeostasis**. The enterocytes (ECs) in the midgut epithelium are damaged either by the virulence factors of pathogenic bacteria or overactivated host immune response triggered against ingested microbes. The damages to ECs, as well as activation of JNK pathway and downregulation of Hippo (Hpo) pathway in the stressed ECs, lead to the secretion of cytokines, such as unpaired (UPD), and UPD3. After receiving a stress signal, the JAK/STAT and EGFR pathways are induced in ISCs (located in the vicinity of the basal membrane (bm)), thus leading to the compensatory proliferation of ISCs that maintains homeostasis. Modified from (Limmer et al., 2011).

First discovered in *Drosophila*, the conserved Hippo pathway is anticipated to be the major growth control pathway in vertebrates and arthropods (Staley and Irvine, 2012). After being activated by the extracellular ligand Dachsous (Ds) the transmembrane receptor Fat, a large (more than five thousand amino acids) protein containing 34 cadherin repeats in its extracellular domain, activates the Merlin and Expanded (Mer-ex) protein complex. These redundant proteins, in turn, activate the cytoplasmic Hippo kinase cassette. The Hippo kinase cassette is comprised of four core proteins namely Hippo (Hpo), Salvador (Sav), Warts (Wts) and Mob-as-tumorrepressor (Mats). Hpo-dependent phosphorylation and auto-phosphorylation of the kinase Wts leads to the phosphorylation of transcriptional co-activator Yorkie (Yki) at three Ser residues (Huang et al., 2005; Ren et al., 2010b). Yki functions as an oncogene where it promotes cell proliferation and growth. Many more factors interacting with the Hippo pathway are reviewed in (Staley and Irvine, 2012). The Hippo pathway is involved in the compensatory ISCs proliferation in Drosophila midgut (Huang et al., 2005; Meignin et al., 2007; Ren et al., 2010a; Shaw et al., 2010).

The JAK/STAT pathway

The Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) pathway is involved in various physiological process including cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, stress response and immunity (Arbouzova and Zeidler, 2006; Ivanenkov et al., 2011; Karsten et al., 2002; Tamiya et al., 2011). It is conserved both in vertebrates and invertebrates. The JAK/STAT pathway has been extensively studied in Drosophila (Gregory et al., 2008; Luo and Dearolf, 2001; Muller et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2005; Zeidler et al., 2000). In flies the transmembrane Domeless (Dome) is activated by the circulating cytokines, Unpaired (UPD), UPD2 and UPD3. This induces the dimerization of the receptors and activation of Hopscotch (Hop (the JAK kinase)), which in turn phosphorylates tyrosine-residues of the intracellular domain of the receptor. This domain, thereafter, provides the docking sites for the cytoplasmic STAT proteins (STAT92E), which are also phosphorylated by the JAK kinase before being dimerized and translocated into the nucleus to induce the expression of the target genes. The JAK/STAT pathway is regulated by many factors. For instance the transcription factor STAT92E, main the player of the JAK/STAT pathway, is positively regulated by the JAK/STAT pathway itself



Figure 1.9: **Insulin/TOR signaling in** *Drosophila*. The insulin receptor (INR) is activated by extracellular *Drosophila* insulin-like peptides (DILPs). INR then recruits the insulin receptor substrate (Chico), thus activating PI3K and then Akt, which phosphorylates FOXO, that in turn is restricted to the cytoplasm. The TOR pathway is regulated by three ways: i) Upon activation by extracellular amino acid abundance, Slimfast-dependent endocytosis activates Rag complexes (Rag C/D and A/B complex) that possibly activate TOR, ii) under low ADP/ ATP ratio (energy rich environment; sensed by AMPK) and adequate supply of oxygen,TSC1/2 is inhibited thus increasing TOR activity, and iii) during insulin pathway activation Akt activates TOR by negatively regulating at least two of its negative regulators, TSC2 and PRAS40. TOR activity promotes protein translation by activating S6K and by blocking the activity of 4E-BP, which is initially transcribed by activated FOXO. Autophagy is blocked by TOR activity negatively regulating ATG1. Upon starvation, TOR activity is reduced, which activates ATG1 and thus autophagy. ATG1 also downregulates TOR activity under starvation stress. Modified from (Grewal, 2009).

(Arbouzova and Zeidler, 2006; Xi et al., 2003). Numerous factors like cytokine signaling 36E (SOCS36E), SOCS44A, protein inhibitors of activated STAT (PIAS), BTB/POZ domain containing transcription receptor Ken and Barbie (KEN), phosphatase PTP61F and PP1 α 96A negatively regulate the JAK/STAT signaling (Callus and Mathey-Prevot, 2002; Muller et al., 2008; Muller et al., 2005; Rawlings et al., 2004; Wormald and Hilton, 2004).

Several immune genes including Tep1 and the turandot (tot) are induced by the JAK/STAT pathway (Agaisse and Perrimon, 2004; Lagueux et al., 2000). In this case, the JAK/STAT pathway interacts with the IMD pathway and the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway to regulate the expression of the immune genes (Brun et al., 2006). Moreover, the nuclear localization of STAT92E in nonphosphorylated form depends on HP1 protein of the heterochromatin. HP1 is essential for the stability of STAT92E in the nucleus (Brown and Zeidler, 2008; Li, 2008; Shi et al., 2008).

1.2.3. Response to starvation

Living organisms digest, absorb and utilize the nutrients to generate energy when sufficient food resources are available. This energy is used for the routine biological activities like protein synthesis, cell proliferation, growth, development and reproduction. Surplus nutrients are stored in muscles and adipose tissues. Under starvation, however, the requirements are changed. The organism has to halt normal growth and development and redirect the available energy resources to the biological activities is, therefore, of utmost importance. A successful coordination requires an efficient mechanism of nutrient sensing and signaling to the whole body including tissues far from the sites of nutrient absorption and storage. The insulin pathway and the TOR pathway are responsible for nutrient sensing in *Drosophila*. These pathways are well conserved among other living organisms. Insulin pathway senses and responds to humoral signaling in the whole organism while TOR pathway is responsive to the intra-cellular energy status, especially in the fat body.

Insulin/Igf pathway

The Insulin/Igf-like signaling (IIS) pathway is conserved from yeast to humans. In *Drosophila* the transmembrane insulin receptor (INR) is activated in response to the humoral signaling by the insulin-like peptides (dilp1-7) (Figure 1.9). The activated INR then recruits an adaptor protein Chico (IRS in mammals) as well as regulatory and catalytic subunits of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). Activated PI3-K serine/threonine protein kinase which conversely phosphorvlates а Akt. phosphorylates the nuclear factor Forkhead box class o (dFOXO). Under normal conditions FOXO remains phosphorylated and is confined to the cytoplasm. Upon insulin pathway is downregulated starvation, however, leading to the dephosphorylation of FOXO. Once dephosphorylated, FOXO migrates to the nucleus where it induces the expression of its target genes to inhibit cellular growth and development.

The status of the insulin pathway has important implications in ageing, growth and development as well as the innate immune responses in *Drosophila* (Birse et al., 2010; Brogiolo et al., 2001; Dionne et al., 2006; Oldham, 2011; Partridge et al., 2011; Shin et al., 2011; Storelli et al., 2011).

TOR pathway

The target of rapamycin (TOR) pathway is the major intracellular nutrient sensing module. TOR is a kinase, the activity of which is finely regulated by three different mechanisms during stress conditions, such as nutrient deprivation and scarcity of oxygen (Figure 1.9). First, the low availability of amino acids reduces the Slimfast-, an amino acid transporter, dependent bulk endocytosis. This inactivates a complex of two complexes, Rag GTPase C/D and Rag GTPase A/B. The inactive Rag complexes then reduce their interaction with Raptor, an important TOR component, leading to the inactivation of TOR thus decreasing protein synthesis by the ribosomes. Second, a higher AMP/ATP ratio (*i.e.* low energy status during scarcity of glucose or hypoxia) activates the TSC1/2 complex that inactivates a small Ras-related GTPase (Rheb). Inactive Rheb in turn downregulates the activity of TOR. Third, the insulin pathway indirectly regulates TOR activity by downregulating at least two its negative regulators, TSC2 and proline-rich protein Akt substrate (PRAS40). PRAS40 however appears to play a role only during oogenesis.

Consequences of the TOR activity

Active TOR has three major functions:

24

- a) The synthesis of novel proteins: The synthesis of novel protein is controlled by the TOR activity in three ways: i) initiation of cap-dependent mRNA translation, ii) rate of elongation of nascent proteins and iii) indirect control of translation of the ribosomal proteins.
- b) The blockade of autophagy: Active TOR blocks autophagy by phosphorylating an autophagy-related gene, ATG1. Autophagy cannot be induced in the presence of phosphorylated ATG1. Conversely the overexpression of ATG1 is sufficient to induce autophagy under normal conditions.
- c) The onset of endocytosis: TOR pathway is required for the formation of clathrin-coated vesicles during bulk endocytosis. It has also been shown that the inhibition of endocytic degradation of slimfast, an amino acid transporter, is controlled by TOR activity.

In *Drosophila* starvation studies are mostly performed on larvae (Ballard et al., 2008; Harbison et al., 2005; Hoffmann et al., 2001; Kramer et al., 2003; Kramer et al., 2008; Tettweiler et al., 2005; Wayne et al., 2006; Zinke et al., 2002).

1.3. Serratia marcescens

S. marcescens is a Gram-negative proteobacteria that belongs to the family of *Enterobacteriacae*. The bacterial cells are rod-shaped and motile with peritrichous flagella. *Serratia* is a facultative anaerobe and thus can generate energy both by aerobic respiration and fermentation. The bacteria are free living and found on plant and animal surfaces, soil and water. They are saprophytic and can extract nutrients from organic matter (Hejazi and Falkiner, 1997). They can grow and spoil many food products that are rich in starch. Many strains of *Serratia* can produce a red pigment, prodigiosin. People in middle ages associated this red pigment with some "miracle" where food items with a growth of *Serratia* were thought to start "bleeding".

Serratia has a widespread host range including insects, corals, plants, nematodes, animals and humans (Grimont and Grimont, 1978; Kurz et al., 2003). It is a health hazard and an opportunistic pathogen (losifidis et al., 2012; Maltezou et al., 2012). It is thought to be an emerging major cause of nosocomial infections in neonates and immunocompromised patients. It has been found associated with pneumonia, intravenous catheter-associated infections, infection of skin and eye, endocarditis (inflammation in heart) and osteomyelitis (bone infections). Multiple-

antibiotic resistance in *Serratia* makes it difficult to cure these infections (Knowles et al., 2000; Nakamura et al., 2002; Traub, 2000). The production of β -lactamases and active multi drug efflux provide resistance to *Serratia* against antibacterial drugs. Its cells are able to communicate with each other by quorum sensing, a bacterial density depending mechanism studied in many bacterial species. After reaching a threshold, *Serratia* cells secrete N-Acyl-homoserine lactones and autoinducer 2 that can be sensed by other cells. This leads to a collaborative response in the bacterial cells against changed environmental conditions, for instance availability of food source.

The pathogenicity of *Serratia* depends on multiple virulence factors including secreted enzymes, such as nucleases, proteases (including serralysin), lipase, hemolysin as well as swimming and swarming ability of the bacterium (Hejazi and Falkiner, 1997; Kida et al., 2007). These weapons are used by the bacterium to adhere and invade the eukaryotic cells that provokes cytotoxicity and cytolysis.

I have used the *S. marcescens* strains Db11 and Db10 as the wild type controls. Db11 was selected spontaneously from the strain Db10 for its resistance to streptomycin. The Db10 was isolated from moribund flies (Flyg et al., 1980). I also worked with a bank of miniTn5-Sm transposon induced mutants randomly inserted in the genome of the wild-type strain Db10 (Pradel et al., 2007). The genome of Db11 strain of *S. marcescens* has been sequenced by the Sanger Institute (Hinxton, UK) in collaboration with the laboratory of Jonathan Newbank (Marseille, F). The *Serratia* genome contains 5.11 million base pairs with a coding density of 0.92.

S. marcescens infections in D. melanogaster

Serratia is a potent pathogen in *Drosophila* in a septic injury model. A few bacteria are sufficient to kill the fly within a day when inoculated in the hemolymph of the flies. IMD pathway-dependent systemic immune response is induced but *Serratia* is resistant to the AMPs because it proliferates to high titers and the flies finally succumb to bacteremia.

An oral infection model has been established by Nadine Nehme (Nehme et al., 2007). The flies in this infection model are fed with *Serratia* mixed in sucrose solution. The bacteria kill the wild type flies within six days. Nadine Nehme did retrieve bacteria from the hemolymph of the infected flies as early as two hours following the oral infection suggesting that *Serratia* is able to cross rapidly the

intestinal barrier. The proliferation of these bacteria was, however, efficiently controlled by the phagocytosis because phagocytosis-deficient, *eater* mutant (Kocks et al., 2005) or latex beads-injected, flies died faster than their wild type controls. The systemic immune response was not induced unless phagocytosis was blocked. The local immune response, however, is induced and has been shown to confer a partial protection to the flies because IMD pathway, *key*, mutants died faster as compared to their wild type controls. Nadine Nehme suggested that the wild-type flies eventually succumb because of severe damages to the gut epithelium that might be caused by the virulence factors of *S. marcescens*. Indeed, the intestinal epithelium of flies in the *cn bw* background became thinner, and the cytoplasm had an abnormal appearance when analyzed by electron microscopy (Nehme et al., 2007).

1.4. Staphylococcus xylosus

S. xylosus is a Gram-positive bacterium bacillus. It is a human and animal commensal of mucus and skin (Hariharan et al., 2011; Kloos et al., 1976; Nagase et al., 2002). *S. xylosus* is ubiquitous and is found in various niches like polluted water (Kessie et al., 1998), animal fodder and grains (Pioch et al., 1988), soil and various surfaces (Shale et al., 2005). It forms biofilms (Planchon et al., 2006). The expression of various proteins in sessile *S. xylosus* found in biofilm, from a human skin commensal strain C2a, is up-regulated as compared to its planktonic form (Planchon et al., 2009). These proteins were involved in various metabolic processes, mainly amino acid syntheses, protein translation and protein secretion pathways, indicating active protein trafficking in *S. xylosus* biofilms. *S. xylosus* can adapt to various environmental conditions. It is a natural component of raw meat and milk. It is used as a starter medium in the meat and milk fermentation industry (Kloos and Schleifer, 1986; Talon et al., 2002). Moreover, zinc-dependent metallolipase produced by *S. xylosus* is extensively used in the biotransformation industry (Bertoldo et al., 2011).

S. xylosus is normally considered to be a nonpathogenic *Staphylococcus* but some strains are associated with diseases. These strains behave as the opportunistic pathogens infecting immuno-compromised humans and animals. In humans *S. xylosus* is associated with endocarditis (Conrad and West, 1984),

septicemia (Koksal et al., 2009) and acute pyelonephritis (Tselenis-Kotsowilis et al., 1982). Chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) refers to a collection of genetic disorders in humans where some NADPH oxidase components are defective. CGD patients suffer from recurrent bacterial and fungal infections (Roos et al., 2007). *S. xylosus* is the major cause of death (or euthanasia) in mice deficient in phagocyte superoxide production due to defects in NADPH oxidase (Gozalo et al., 2010). Bacteria migrate to the internal organs, primarily lymph nodes and lungs and, to a lesser extend, muscles, bones and meninges, where they cause abscesses and granulomas in soft tissues. Several other reports have described *S. xylosus* as an opportunistic pathogen in animals (Bingel, 2002; Bradfield et al., 1993; Fthenakis et al., 1994; Jackson et al., 2001; Miedzobrodzki et al., 1989). Using the *S. xylosus* strain C2a as a driver, suppressive and subtractive hybridisation (SSH) analysis performed on pathogenic and nonpathogenic strains of *S. xylosus* led to the identification of two distinct groups of strains with one composed only of the potentially hazardous strains (Dordet-Frisoni et al., 2007).

In my study I used *S. xylosus* strain Argentoratum, which was originally isolated from moribund flies in our laboratory in Strasbourg, France. The dying fly stocks were later on found to be co-infected with microsporidia.

Aims and objectives

Microorganisms constitute the most primitive form of life on earth. They are the most abundant living creatures and display a vast diversity in the their habitats and host range. Not all of these microbes are pathogenic since they are tolerated or killed by the animals, thanks to the innate and adaptive immune responses that the hosts have selected during evolution. Yet, in humans several microbial infections cause severe diseases, some of them being lethal for a significant fraction of population. Many pathogenic bacteria are associated with the inflammatory disorders in the human intestine. Prevailing practices to counter these microbes mostly depend on the use of broad range antibiotics and the development of specific vaccines. Still there are numerous opportunistic and pathogenic microbes that lack proper diagnosis and control. Moreover, outbreaks of antibiotics-resistant strains remain a constant problem. To develop efficient novel antimicrobial drugs against these microorganisms, one needs to understand the complex molecular interactions between these microbes and their hosts. Microbial studies in human cell cultures and mice models provide high similarities to human infections but their advantages are limited for high-throughput investigations as well as the inconvenience of having to deal with multiple arms of the complex immune responses, for instance innate and adaptive defenses.

One of advantages of *D. melanogaster* is the presence of an efficient innate immune responses, and the absence of adaptive immunity. Many of the genetic factors mediating these responses are conserved in humans. The ease of rearing, short life cycle, high rate of offspring and the presence of powerful genetic tools make *Drosophila* an ideal model to study host-microbial relationships.

The immune responses in *Drosophila* upon septic injuries have been studied extensively. These responses are induced specifically against broad categories of microbes. In case of the Gram-negative bacterium *S. marcescens*, a few bacteria kill flies rapidly within a day when introduced directly into the hemolymph. A strong systemic immune response is induced but bacteria are resistant and flies eventually succumb to bacteremia. Yet, after systemic dissemination of *Serratia* in the hemolymph only a few hours after an oral infection, *Drosophila* survives for many days. The hemocytes control the proliferation of bacteria that had escaped into the hemolymph because the flies in which phagocytosis was impaired died faster because of bacteremia. Although bacteria damage the midgut epithelium, the exact

1. Introduction

cause of death is not known. So during my PhD I asked the questions such as: what is the exact cause of death of flies during oral infection? What happens when bacteria disseminate in the hemocoel through the gut barrier, since their proliferation is controlled by hemocytes as compared to their exponential growth upon septic injury? Is it a pathogenic specific mechanism where bacteria change their virulence program during their passage through the intestine or is it host mediated? The compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) is required to repair the damages induced by *Serratia*. Complex molecular interactions involving the JNK, Hippo, JAK/STAT and EGFR pathways have been shown to mediate damage repair in the gut. I used two approaches to address these questions: i) orally infecting the wild-type and the immunocompromised flies and monitoring whether the damages in the fly gut induced by the bacterial were irreversible and could not be reversed?, and ii) screening mutant bacterial strains in survival experiments by orally infecting phagocytosis-impaired, *eater* mutant, flies to identify virulence factors of *S. marcescens* and factors required for crossing the intestinal barrier.

Most of host-microbe systems of intestinal interactions in *Drosophila* use Gram-negative bacteria. In a second project of my PhD I attempted to develop an oral infection model using a Gram-positive bacterium *Staphylococcus xylosus* strain Argentoratum. While attempting to identify the reason of an unexpected result, my work led me to investigate the relationships between immunity, microbiota, and metabolism.

2. The host factors in oral infections with Serratia marcescens

2.1. The host factors

The *D. melanogaster* is adapted to a diverse of microbes that it ingests during feeding on rotten fruits and vegetables. The study of the underlying host mechanisms that provide protection to the flies against hazardous microbes required the establishment of an oral infection model. Therefore, in an attempt to develop an oral infection model of *D. melanogaster* with the entomopathogenic Gram-negative bacterium *S. marcescens* the flies were fed on sucrose solution containing a constant concentration of bacteria as described in Nehme et al., (2007). Briefly, the bacteria were grown overnight in LB at 37°C. Next day, the concentration of bacteria was measured in the overnight bacterial culture, which usually ranged from an optical density of 3-4 at 600nm (OD₆₀₀ 3-4). The bacterial solution was then diluted to an OD of 1 in sterile LB followed by a ten times dilution in sterile sucrose (50mM) solution. This infection solution was then added to the absorbent filters (Millipore) placed at the bottom of the medium fly culture tubes. Finally, flies were added in these tubes. Survival experiments were kept at 25°C.

The wild-type flies in this oral infection model succumbed only 6 days postinfection. The IMD pathway provided partial protection to the flies because key, an IMD pathway mutant, flies died almost 2 days earlier than the wild-type flies (Nehme et al., 2007). A significant numbers of bacteria were found in the fly hemolymph only a few hours after the beginning of infection. The proliferation of these bacteria in the hemolymph is controlled by phagocytosis because the flies for which phagocytosis was impaired either by the injection of latex-beads or the deletion of eater gene (Kocks et al., 2005) died faster as compared to wild-type the flies. In phagocytosisimpaired flies, the growth of S. marcescens in the hemolymph was exponential (Nehme et al., 2007). Taken together these findings indicated that both the IMD pathway and phagocytosis only provide a partial protection to the flies, because eventually the wild-type flies died to S. marcescens in this oral infection model. The exact cause of death remained undiscovered, thus raising the issue of the physiomorphological changes that occur in the flies during the course of infection. So the objective of this study was to uncover the host factors, for instance damages that might be induced in response to or by the pathogen, which might play a role in the eventual fly death in this oral infection model.



Figure 2.1: Wild-type flies die due to old bacterial solution

(A) The wild-type flies orally infected by standard protocol as described by (Nehme et al., 2007) die within 6 days (*blue solid* line). When the infected flies were transferred to sterile sucrose 50mM) solution 5 days post-infection (indicated by *red* arrow), almost 70% flies were still alive (*blue discontinuous* line) until 12 days when the experiment was terminated. Db11-infected flies shifted on fresh infection solution at day 5 post-infection died within 12 days (*green discontinuous* line), similar to flies which had been kept on sucrose solution for 5 days, before transferring them to the fresh infection solution (*green solid* line). (B) Naïve flies were either fed on freshly prepared bacterial solution or 5 days old infection solution on which another batch of wild-type flies had been feeding before being discarded and replaced by the naïve flies.

2.2. Wild-type flies survive a prolonged interaction with *S. marcescens* in the gut

S. marcescens induces damages to the fly gut epithelial cells as shown by the induction a JAK/STAT pathway and the enhanced proliferation of intestinal stem cells (Cronin et al., 2009). One can think that, as a result of a constant feeding of flies on S. marcescens for many days, some bacterial virulence factors might have caused severe damages to the host midgut epithelium. These damages may become irreversible in nature and might lead to the death of the flies. So I hypothesized that if these damages are irreversible flies should still die even if I would shift them to a sterile sucrose solution one day prior to their expected death. I therefore infected flies according to the standard procedure where flies were constantly feeding on S. marcescens for 5 days. At day 5, however, I shifted them to a sterile sucrose solution (50mM). Interestingly, this treatment completely rescued the flies indicating that the damages were reversible and flies could survive if shifted to the noninfected food source (Figure 2.1A). Moreover in a control experiment, flies feeding on S. marcescens for 5 days, were shifted to new infection tubes that were prepared with the fresh infection solution. Surprisingly, these flies died only after around 11-12 days (which is 5-6 days following the shift of the infected flies on the fresh infection solution, the time naïve flies took before eventually succumbing in the oral infection model). Also control flies that had been feeding on the sterile sucrose solution for 5 days and then were shifted to the fresh infection tubes at day 5 died within the same time period (11-12 days). These results suggested that the flies might not have died because of the irreversible damages as a result of consistent feeding on the bacteria and that the fly mortality might be associated to the infection solution present on the filter pads. To test this possibility, I did a modification in the standard infection procedure. I fed flies on the bacterial solution for 5 days according to the standard infection protocol. At day 5, however, the flies feeding on the older pads were discarded and replaced by the naïve flies. Indeed, naïve flies succumbed within just 2-3 days (Figure 2.1 B) strongly suggesting that something was changing in the older infection tubes and caused the death of flies feeding on this solution.



Figure 2.2: Orally infected flies are starved

(A) Wild-type flies orally infected by the conventional protocol (Nehme et al., 2007) died within 6 days (*red* line). However Db11-infected flies that also received a supplementation of 200µL of 50mM sucrose solution once after two days (*green* line) survived two days better than the conventionally infected flies. Quantification of sucrose in infection solution (conventional protocol where flies were not provided with additional food source) indicated depletion of sucrose solution to 10mM at day 4, as compared to the original concentration of 50mM. (B) Quantification of total fat reserves in the extracts of flies that were either infected by the conventional protocol (*black* bars) or that received an additional sucrose supply (*gray* bars). The former exhibits severe starvation symptoms at day 3 beginning of infection while the latter are starved at day 5.

2.3. Flies are starved to death

There were at least two possibilities that could explain these findings. First, the bacteria present on old filters for five days might have changed their virulence program at around 4-6 days post-infection. They expressed their full virulence program and, therefore, killed the flies rapidly. Second, there was a competition for food among the bacteria and flies that exhausted sucrose resources. Thus, the flies were actually starved and succumbed to food deprivation. Practically, it was difficult to check the first possibility since it required the study of changes in bacterial expression pattern on filters as well as inside the infected flies during the course of infection. Recovery of sufficient amount of bacteria from the infected flies and the unavailability of the Serratia-specific microarray chips for high-throughput studies make it a longterm project. I therefore decided to first check the second possibility. I provided the infected flies with a supplementary source of sucrose solution (addition of 400µL of 50mM sucrose solution after each 2 days) during the oral infection. The control flies received 200µL sterile water, which is usually added to maintain the required humidity in the infection vials. Indeed, sucrose supplementation improved fly survival for two days (Figure 2.2A). These results suggested that there was a deficiency of sucrose on the filters. To confirm these results, I measured the amount of sucrose on the filters that had not received an additional supply of sucrose solution. I collected the infection solution from the filters at day 1-6. In order to keep similar experimental conditions, the wild-type were allowed to feed on the infection solution before collection of the samples. Indeed, the sucrose resources started to deplete from day 3 onwards, while at day 4 only 20% of the original sucrose quantity was left (Figure 2.2A). This provided a direct proof that the flies faced food deficiency and might eventually die of starvation. However, before drawing a conclusive statement, I decided to perform an alternative experiment. If the flies feeding on S. marcescens infection solution had been starved, they would lose their fat reserves, which could be monitored as a starvation symptom. So, I measured the total lipid reserves from day 1 to day 5 post-infection in whole fly extracts. I tested two groups of flies: the flies that had received either 200µL of sterile water or sucrose (50mM) solution after each two days during the course of oral infection. As expected, flies receiving only pure water started losing their lipid reserves at day 3 and completely exhausted these stocks at day 5, just a day prior to their death. On the other hand,



Figure 2.3: S. marcescens kills immunocompromised flies

(A) The wild-type A5001 flies die within 3 days (*red solid* line), while the *key* mutants survived one day better (*red dashed* line), in a starvation assay where flies were kept on pure water at 25°C. The Db11-infected A5001 flies and *key* mutants received three different treatments on daily basis: a) conventionally infected flies received 200µL pure water (*blue* lines), or b) 200µL of 50mM sucrose solution (supplement-1) (*green* lines), or c) 200µmM of 100mM sucrose solution (supplemented-2) (*light green* lines). In each case the *key* mutants died earlier than the wild-type flies that received the same treatment. The infected wild-type flies as well as noninfected wild-type and *key* mutants that received supplement-2 survived as long as 18 days post-infection. (B) Phagocytosis-deficient (latex beads-injected) flies die to Db11 strain upon oral feeding. Supplementation of sufficient food sources does not rescue these flies suggesting a protective role of hemocytes against the bacteria that have crossed the intestinal barrier.

flies receiving additional sucrose supply started depleting their fat reserves only at day 5 (Figure 2.2B), Taken together, these data suggest that the flies feeding on *S*. *marcescens* according to the conventional protocol were starved to death.

2.4. S. marcescens kills only the immuno-compromised flies

It has been described previously that the IMD pathway provides protection to the flies against S. marcescens in the gut because key mutants died faster as compared to the wild type controls when orally infected following the conventional protocol. One could argue that in an assay where the wild-type flies succumb due to starvation, the key mutants might have died faster because of an enhanced susceptibility to starvation. So, to test this possibility, I decided to starve the key mutants as well as the wild-type flies. For this purpose the flies were added to the vials that contained filters soaked with pure water. In parallel, the two fly strains were also infected according to the conventional infection protocol (blue lines; Figure 2.3). The key mutants actually survived mildly better than the wild-type flies in starvation assay (red lines; Figure 2.3). As it had been shown earlier (Nehme et al., 2007), key mutants infected by the conventional protocol died faster as compared to the wildtype controls. These results indicate that starvation does not play a role in the susceptibility of key mutants observed in the conventional infection model. Of note, the wild-type flies died within 3 days in the starvation assay, which is the time it took to kill naïve flies transferred on 5 days old infection pads (Figure 2.1B (note that the flies died within 3 days)).

I further tested the susceptibility of the *key* mutants and wild-type flies to orally fed *S. marcescens* in food supplementation assays. The *key* mutants and the wild-type flies were infected by the standard procedure; however, both fly strains were provided with the additional source of sucrose during the course of oral infection. The sucrose solution was supplemented by one of the two methods: addition of 400µL of 50mM sucrose solution every other day (*supplement-1*), or daily supplementation of 200µL of 100mM sucrose solution (*supplement-2*). The wild-type flies that received *supplement-1* died at day 13 post-infection while the ones that received *supplement-2* did not die 18 days post-infection the when experiment was terminated. Moreover, another investigator, Dr Matthieu Lestradet, monitored the titer of live *S. marcescens*



Figure 2.4: The new oral infection model

The wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11 was grown in LB overnight at 37° C. Next day, the bacterial culture was centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 15 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and the bacterial pellet was resuspended in fresh LB to a final optical density of 10 (OD₆₀₀ 10). The bacterial suspension was then diluted ten times in sucrose (50mM) and 2mL of the infection was used to soak two absorbent filters in medium sized fly culture tubes. 20 flies were added in each tube and survival experiment was performed at 25°C. 200uL of sterile sucrose (100mM) solution was added to the filters on daily basis. Survival was monitored at least once per day. The wild-type do not die to this treatment while the IMD pathway, *key*, mutant flies die within about 16 days.

in the infection solution on filters that received *supplement-2*, with wild-type flies feeding on them. He concluded that the original bacteria titer was maintained till day 15 post-infection when he terminated the experiment. These data indicate that despite the stress symptoms observed by the induction of JAK/STAT pathway and compensatory stem cell proliferation (Cronin et al., 2009), the wild-type flies are able to repair damages and are resistant to the oral infection of *S. marcescens*. Moreover, the addition of sucrose solution by *supplement-2* is sufficient to avoid starvation, both in flies and bacteria.

Interestingly, the *key* mutant flies always died faster than the wild-type flies. Even in the presence of sufficient food supply, more than 50% of the *key* mutants succumb to *S. marcescens* (Fig. 2.3A). These data re-establishes that the IMD pathway is critical in the *Drosophila* gut against *S. marcescens* oral infection. The role of phagocytosis against an oral infection of *Serratia* was also retested. The flies where phagocytosis was impaired by the injection of latex beads, died even in the presence of sufficient food sources (Fig. 2.3B) This reconfirmed that the phagocytosis protects flies from systemic bacteremia during oral infection with *S. marcescens*. Taken together I have shown that the IMD pathway and the phagocytosis are essential to provide full protection to the flies against the orally fed *S. marcescens*.

2.5. The new infection model

Since wild-type flies died due to starvation during infection following conventional protocol, there was a need to develop an alternative oral infection assay to further investigate pathogenesis of the *S. marcescens* in the *Drosophila m*idgut. Although the addition of sucrose by *supplement-2* was sufficient to avoid starvation, the immuno-compromised *key* flies died very slowly (only 50% dead after 18 days of infection). So, I tested different initial concentrations of *S. marcescens* (it was a collaborative work with two other investigators, Dr Matthieu Lestradet and Dr Kwang-Zin Lee).

When an initial concentration of bacteria was increased ten times (*i.e.* OD 1 at 600nm (instead of OD_{600} 0.1) in 50mM sucrose solution) and flies were provided with 200µL of 100mM sucrose solution on daily basis (*supplement-2*), wild-type flies did



Figure 2.5: S. marcescens resists to ROS in Drosophila gut

(A) The knockdown of DUOX and IRC was achieved by crossing DUOX-RNAi and IRC-RNAi lines, respectively, with the gut specific, NP1-*Gal4/80*, driver at 25°C. 3-8 days old flies were then incubated at 29°C for 2 days before infecting with Db11 strain or *fliR* mutants following the newly developed oral infection model (see Fig. 2.4). It is possible that in the experiment with the *fliR* mutants, the *key* flies actually succumb to a secondary infection from some component of the microbiota as is likely the case for key flees fed only on sucrose supplemented with N-acetylcystein. (B) Bacterial strains were grown in LB overnight at 37°C. Next day LB was added to the overnight cultures to bring the bacterial concentration to optical density of 1 (OD₆₀₀ 1). Finally, the bacterial suspension was diluted 10,000 times in 0.01% H_2O_2 (diluted in pure water) solution and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature before plating on LB plates. Death rate was calculated by the following formulae:

Death rate (%) = $100 - ((number of H_2O_2 \text{ treated bacteria/ number of non-treated bacteria) x 100)$

not die until day 20 when the experiment was terminated (Fig. 2.4). All *key* mutants, however, died within 16 days post-infection. So we concluded that the flies orally infected with *S. marcescens* following this protocol could be used to further investigate the host-pathogenic interactions between *D. melanogaster* and *S. marcescens*. The *key* mutants die at very different rates (and slopes), depending on the availability of nutrients. Thus, a defective IMD-dependent response leads to nutrient-dependent detrimental effects. The provision of adequate food supply may partially compensate immune response.

2.6. S. marcescens resists to ROS in Drosophila intestine

Another important arm of the intestinal immune defense of *D. melanogaster* is the secretion of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS are produced by a transmembrane dual oxidase (DUOX) enzyme in response to ingested microbes or inhabiting commensals. ROS are free oxygen radicals, such as the superoxide, or peroxide, or hydroxyl radicals, which are cytotoxic and kill the microbes in the gut. The overproduction of ROS, however, is toxic to the flies themselves. The excessive amount of ROS is neutralized by the immune response catalase (IRC) in the Drosophila intestine. I utilized the newly established infection model to study a role of the oxidative immune response against S. marcescens in the Drosophila intestine. I used four types of flies to performed survival experiments: i) key mutants, ii) key mutants minus ROS response (by treatment with N-acetylcysteine that supposedly neutralizes ROS), iii) DUOX-downregulated mutants (by overexpressing DUOX-RNAi using gut specific NP1-Gal4 driver), and iv) IRC-downregulated flies (IRC-RNAi driven by NP1-Gal4). All four types of flies were either fed on sterile sucrose solution or orally infected with wild-type S. marcescens strain Db11 or fliR mutant, a nonmotile strain mutated for *fliR* gene that encodes a protein which is essential for the biosynthesis and function of flagella.

As expected the *key* flies infected with Db11 strain died within 16 days (Fig. 2.5A green). *fliR* mutants did not kill flies as rapidly as Db11 (please see Ayyaz et al., *in preparation* (Chapter 4) for discussion) (Fig. 2.5A *red*). The infected flies in which DUOX was downregulated did not die to Db11 strain or *fliR* mutants suggesting that the ROS response does not provide protection to the flies against *S. marcescens* in

the fly gut. However, the IRC-deficient flies infected with Db11 or *fliR* died within 17 days. These results suggest that a mild ROS response is induced in the gut against *S. marcescens*. It should however be reversible by N-acetylcystein treatment. The wild-type flies efficiently control the overproduction of ROS using IRC to avoid self-toxicity. Finally the *key* flies in which ROS response was neutralized by mixing N-acetylcysteine in food source died in non-infected control experiments where these flies were feeding only on sucrose solution (Fig. 2.5A *blue*). These flies are deficient for both major immune responses (i.e. AMPs and ROS production) so the mortality in these flies might be the result of outbreak of some potentially hazardous microbial population(s) residing in the *Drosophila* intestine. Of note, ROS-deficient *key* flies infected with Db11 strain or *fliR* mutants died about two days earlier, again suggesting a protective role of IMD pathway against *S. marcescens* in the gut.

We know that the *S. marcescens* genome encodes one catalase. So I hypothesized that if *Serratia* could neutralize ROS response in the fly gut, it should be resistant to H_2O_2 *in vitro*. I included a nonpathogenic *E. coli* strain and the catalase mutant of *S. marcescens*, created in strain Db10 by my former supervisor, Dr Philippe Giammarinaro. Indeed, no death was observed in *S. marcescens* to the same concentration of H_2O_2 where about 80% of the *E. coli* cells died (Figure 2.5B). Surprisingly, only about 35% of the catalase mutants of *S. marcescens* were killed. To further verify that the catalase mutants do not neutralize the H_2O_2 at all, I dipped these mutants and Db11 strain in a concentrated solution of H_2O_2 (30%) with the help of wooden tooth pick. I did not observe the production of bubbles that were immediately produced in large amounts by Db11 strain upon dipping in the H_2O_2 . These results indicate that *Serratia* has multiple mechanisms to neutralize and tolerate hostile environments. To definitely establish that *S. marcescens* catalase helps to protect against host generated ROS, I shall challenge *key* mutant flies with the catalase bacterial mutant, with or without N-acetylcystein.

3. The virulence factors of Serratia marcescens

List of Potential Mutants Isolated from Screen											
Strain	Fly Death	Strain	Fly Death	Strain	Fly Death	Strain	Fly Death	Strain	Fly Death	Strain	Fly Death
10 A2	Slow	16 B1	Slow	18 H11	Slow	63 E9	Fast	63 H2	Fast	59 B10	Fast
10 A3	Slow	16 C1	Slow	<u>19 E9</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63 A8	Slow	58 G1	Slow	59 C10	Slow
10 C3	Slow	17 A8	Slow	<u>19 E11</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63 B11	Slow	58 H6	Slow	55 C1	Fast
10 E2	Slow	17 E6	Slow	<u>19 D12</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63 C7	Slow	58 G9	Fast	55 E1	Fast
10 H2	Slow	17 C3	Slow	<u>19 E12</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63C11	Slow	58 B12	Slow	55 H2	Slow
11 A9	Slow	17 B11	Slow	<u>19 G12</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63 D9	Slow	60 A2	Slow	55 E8	Slow
11 H12	Slow	17 A3	Slow	<u>19 H12</u>	<u>Slow</u>	63 D10	Slow	60 C4	Slow	57 F1	Fast
11 E3	Slow	18 F8	Slow	62 E1	Slow	63 H12	Fast	60 C6	Fast	57 F2	Slow
16 D5	Slow	18 G8	Slow	62 E2	Slow	63 F11	Fast	59 B4	Fast		
16C9	Slow	18 D7	slow	62 H9	Slow	63 C12	Fast	59 A11	Slow		

Table 3.1: Internal annotation numbers of the potential transposon insertion mutants with attenuated virulence in *eater* mutant flies

eater mutant flies were infected, in batches of 10, with one of the 48 *S. marcescens* mutant strains in each set of survival experiments (protocol for oral infection is described in (Nehme et al., 2007)). Multiple control survivals were also included where *eater* mutants were infected with the wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11. Fly survivals were monitored once per day. After the termination of survival experiments, LT50 (time a bacterial strain takes to kill 50% flies) were calculated from each survival curve. The bacteria mutant strains whose LT50 values were more than ± 2 standard deviation (SD) from the mean value were considered potential mutants. The LT50s calculated from the Db11 infected controls were usually similar to the mean LT50 values.

Note: The six underlined strains were reconfirmed in second round of survival experiments (see Table 2A).

3.1. Rationale for the screens

One interesting feature of the *S. marcescens* intestinal model is that bacteria are able to cross the digestive tract very early on during the infection. Yet, bacteria that have escaped into the hemocoel appear to be quiescent with little if any proliferation and are controlled by the cellular immune response, namely phagocytosis by plasmatocytes. Thus, they do not appear to contribute to pathogenesis in this model. When the cellular immune response is impaired, either through the loss of the phagocytic receptor Eater or by saturation of the phagocytic apparatus by the prior injection of latex beads, *S. marcescens* proliferates to high levels in the hemocoel, which likely provokes the early demise of infected flies. We therefore surmised that mutant bacteria with altered virulence or bacteria impaired in their ability to cross the intestinal epithelium would display a slower death rate in *eater* null mutant flies. Alternatively, bacteria mutant for negative regulators of bacterial virulence might exhibit a higher killing rate. Thus, we screened a *S. marcescens* Db10 miniTn5 transposon insertion library previously generated in another laboratory (Pradel et al., 2007).

As proteases have been reported to participate in *S. marcescens* virulence in *Drosophila* (Flyg and Xanthopoulos, 1983; Kaska et al., 1976), we also tested this library on milk plates. Wild-type *S. marcescens* colonies form a clear zone at their periphery. In contrast, mutants with defective protease function or secretion were characterized by a hazy halo.

3.2. Results from the screens

We thus fed batches of 10 *eater* null flies with one bacterial mutant strain. In fact, 48 mutant strains were challenged in parallel, with two to three additional vials of flies challenged with wild-type *S. marcescens* Db11 strain, which has the same antibiotics markers as the transposon insertion mutants in the Db10 strain. In a first round, we tested 1348 strains, 58 of which caused an altered survival profile of infected *eater* flies, that is over 4% of the strains tested (Table 3.1). Twelve strains led to an apparent increased virulence, that is about 20% of the putative mutants. Only five strains displayed the original phenotype when retested at least three times, that is that *eater* mutant flies that had ingested these mutants (Table 3.2A) died more slowly to infection than flies that had ingested wild-type *S. marcescens* Db11.



Figure 3.1: Identification of transposon insertion site in the genome of *S. marcescens* by single primer **PCR.** Two transposon-specific primers on left side: (TSP1: 5'ctaggcggccagatctgatcaa3', and TSP2: 5'gctgttcttctacggcaagg3') and two on right side (TSP1': 5'caccaaggtagtcggcaaat3', and TSP2': 5'cgaacttgtgtataagagtcag3') of the mini-Tn5-Sm transposon were designed, respectively. The DNA fragments were amplified in a three step PCR reaction: i) Step I: TSP1 and TSP1' were used separately to amplify single strand transposon-specific DNA fragments that also contained part of *S. marcescens* genome-specific DNA sequence, ii) Step II: The melting temperature (Tm) was decreased to generate double-stranded sequences as a result of non-specific binding of the primers, and iii) Step III: double stranded DNA fragments were then amplified at normal Tm. Finally, in Step IV, the amplified fragments were purified from PCR reaction mixtures and sequenced using remaining two transposon-specific primers (TSP2 for TSP1-, while TSP2' for TSP1'-amplified fragments) that yielded part of transposon-specific and part of *S. marcescens* genome-specific DNA sequences. These sequences were blasted with genome of *S. marcescens* using BioEdit software. After the identification of the site of insertion of the transposon, primers were designed in the genome of *S. marcescens* in the vicinity of the transposon insertion site to perform a normal PCR reaction for reconfirmation of the results obtained from the single primer PCR.

In the milk plate screen, only two mutant colonies were retrieved in the first round (Table 3.2A). These were then confirmed several times on milk plates, and then by zymogram electrophoretic analysis (Ayyaz et al., *in preparation* (Chapter 4)). The two proteases we could consistently detect on the zymograms were missing for both mutant strains. Interestingly, one of the mutant strains had also been picked up and confirmed in the *in vivo* screen.

Next, we determined the insertion site of the transposon in the mutant strains by single primer PCR ((Karlyshev et al., 2000) and Figure 3.2). We did not succeed in mapping one mutant strain. The two protease-deficient mutants mapped to the same operon, the extracellular Lipase secretion system, which is described to secrete a lipase (LipA) and the surface layer protein (SlaA). Next, we generated independent mutants of the identified mutant loci in the S. marcescens Db10 strain by plasmid-mediated site-directed insertional mutagenesis. In addition, we also generated mutants for four potential virulence factors, namely in the single catalase (catA) gene present in the Db11 genome, in the gacA gene, which encodes a virulence regulator in *Pseudomonas entomophila* (Liehl et al., 2006), and in a gene encoding a putative metalloprotease. These mutants were then tested again in the in vivo assay. Unexpectedly, the phenotype was not conserved for any of the mutants, except for the insertion in the *fliR* gene. The reason for the discrepancy is not clear. However, we note that all of these mutants were coming from the same half of a 96well plate in which the library had been replated. Thus, bacteria present on that plate may have been somehow damaged during handling.

3.3. Secreted proteins of S. marcescens

S. marcescens secretes various extracellular proteins including proteases, chitinases, lipase and a nuclease (Hines et al., 1988). In an attempt to identify the secreted proteins of *S. marcescens*, we performed mass spectrometry analysis on proteins purified from supernatants of overnight cultures of Db10 strain. We identified 37 proteins with low rate of reproducibility. Four proteins were consistently found in these experiments namely a secreted nuclease, a chitinase (ChiB), a putative antioxidant and a catalase (Figure 3.3).

The *S. marcescens* extracellular nuclease (NucA) is encoded by $nucA_{Sm}$ gene. It is considered to be a virulence factor. The *S. marcescens* nuclease is nonspecific

A						
Name of Strain	Annotation Number	Gene mutated	Gene Function	Survival S (LT50 _a	creen "e)	Protease deficient
19 H12	sma2207	fliR	Type III flagellar protein export system	5,7	***	No
19 G12	sma0865	lipB	<i>lip</i> Operon	6,9	***	Yes
19 E11	sma4383	thiH	Biotin and Thiamin synthesis/ Thiazole biosynthesis	7,9	***	No
19 E9	sma3959	sma3959	Two component signal transduction system	7,0	***	No
19 D12			Uncharacterized	7,7	***	No
19 E12	sma0866	lipC	<i>lip</i> Operon	4.4	ns	Yes
Db11			Wild-type	4,7		No

B				
Name of Strain	Annotation Number	Gene mutated	Gene Function	Attenuation of virulence
FliR	sma2207	fliR	Type III flagellar protein export system	Yes
LipB	sma0865	lipB	<i>lip</i> Operon	No
KatA	sma2675	catA	Catalase	No
gacA	sma1098	grrA/gacA	Regulator for protease and chitinase production	No
sma1606	sma1606	sma1606	Extracellular hemolysin-type zinc-binding metalloproteinase	No
LipC	sma0866	lipC	<i>lip</i> Operon	No

Table 3.2: Characterization of potential mutants of S. marcescens

(A) Potential mutants identified in the first round of screen were reconfirmed in *eater* fly survival experiments and protease activity assays (milk plates). LT50s of each survival curve values were compared with that of Db11 by LogRank test of Prism software; (p > 0.05 for (ns), and p < 0.0001 for (***)). Only two mutants strains, 19G12 and 19E12 were found deficient for protease production on milk plates. (B) Homologous recombination based site-specific plasmid insertion mutants were created and tested for attenuation of their virulence in survival experiments of *eater* mutants as well as wild-type flies. Only one mutant strain mutated for *fliR* gene killed flies slower than the wild-type Db11.

Annotation	Function	M.Wt./PI	Exp. 1	Exp. 2	
SMA1061	Secreted nuclease	26921/6.23	X	X	
SMA2875	Chitinase	55661/6.09	X	X	
SMA0310	Putative antioxidant	22353/5.33	X	X	
SMA2675	Catalase	55277/5.89	X	X	
SMA2962	Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	38324/6.51	X		
SMA1461	Pyruvate kinase	50837/5.81	X		
SMA3345	Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	39088/5.81	X		
SMA2877	Chitin binding protein (cbp21)	21801/8.36	X		
SMA3966	Putative spheroplast protein	18674/9.37	X		
SMA2601	Phage tail sheath protein	53230/5.3	X		
SMA0206	Phosphoheptose isomerase	21029/5.79	X		
SMA3263	Quorum-sensing related protein	23913/5.55	X		
SMA4189	Superoxide dismutase (sodA)	23164/6.05	X		
SMA2606	Putative phase major capsid protein	45917/5.23	X		
	Ampicillinase	25177/5.27	X		
SMA1997	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase A, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase	33678/6.27	X		
SMA2263	Conserved hypothetical protein	17010/6.06	X		
sma2904	Dihydrodipicolinate synthase	31285/5.59		X	
sma3339	No match prediction	20256/8.54		X	
sma2843	Cystein synthase A	34417/5.16		X	
sma1323	No match prediction	16517/4.88		X	
sma3181	2,3,4,5-tetrahydropyridine-2-carboxylate	30039/5.55		X	
sma1037	Outer membrane protein A	38516/8.27		X	
sma0261	Hypothetical protein of isochorismatase			X	
sma1701	Phospholipase D	56143/6.19		X	
sma2481	Alpha/beta hydrolase	30372/6.18		X	
sma1014	Outer membrane protein	40781/4.51		X	
sma2846	Glucose specific PTS system	15623/4.59		X	
sma2659	Outer membrane protein	41414/4.74		X	
sma4311	Serralysin (Metalloprotease)	53974/4.55		X	
sma1037	Outer membrane protein A	38516/8.27		X	
sma1037	Outer membrane protein A	38516/8.27		X	
sma2606	Phage capsid with phosphopantetheine attachement site	46059/5.33		X	
sma1367	Metalloproteinase	50462/4.55		X	
sma0761	Outer membrane protein	18537/6.06		X	
sma1542	Glycosyl hydrolase	65621/6.51		X	
sma1859	Dioxygenase superfamily protein	14592/5.16		X	

Table 3.3: Secreted proteins of S. marcescens

Please turn the page for details...

Table 3.3: Secreted proteins of S. marcescens

Fresh Agar culture plates were prepared by plating *S. marcescens* strain Db10 and incubating overnight at 37°C. Next day a liquid culture of *S. marcescens* was grown in LB at 370°C overnight. The supernatant was centrifuged, filtered, added to pre-coold acetone in a ratio of 1:4 and incubated overnight at -20-C. After centrifugation pellets were washed with acetone and ethanol. Sephadex G25 was use to remove salts and impurities and 2D buffer [Urea (7M), Thiourea (2M), CHAPS (4%) and Tris (30mM)] was used to dissolve samples. Amounts of total proteins in samples were quantified by Standard Bradford method. Samples were then dissolved in rehydration buffer [2D buffer (90.5µL), DTT (6µL), Ampholyte (3µL) and of bromophenol blue (0.5µL)], spread on Nonlinear pH (pH range: 3-10) strip and incubated overnight at small current of 50 volts. Isoelectric focusing (horizontal protein spreading based on their iso-electric point) was performed by providing a series of different voltage as follows:

	Voltage	Rise in voltage	Duration	Temperature
Stage 1	250V	Rapid	15min	20°C
Stage 2	8000V	Progressive	5h-8h	20°C
Stage 3	8000V	Rapid	volts x hours 60,000-80,000	20°C
Stage 4	500V	Rapid	12h	20°C

The strips were then treated with denaturation solution (urea = 3.6 g, Tris HCL (1.5M, pH: 8.8) = 2.5 mL, Water milliQ = 1 mL SDS 10% = 2 mL, and Glycerol = 2 mL). DTT was used to reduce S=S bridges, iodoacetamide for alkylation, and bromophenol blue (0.5%) for visualization of the limit of migration on the SDS-PAGE. The SDS PAGE was prepared by Tris (1.5M, pH:8.8), Acryl (40%), SDS (10%), APS (10%) and Temed (50μ L). The migrated proteins were stained using Commassie Brilliant Blue G-250(colloidal blue) solution. Prominent spots were analyzed and protein sequence was determined by mass spectrometry at Plateforme Protéomique Strasbourg Esplanade, Strasbourg, France.

and its catalytic activity is 34 times greater than that of DNase I (Benedik and Strych, 1998). High rate of mortality was observed in porcine fetal fibroblasts expressing NucA (Caballero and Piedrahita, 2009). Interestingly, the *flhDC* operon that controls the synthesis and regulation of flagella, is required for the secretion of nuclease, as well as a phospholipase that was also identified in this study. We have shown that a flagellar protein, FliR, was required to invade and damage enterocytes in Drosophila midgut epithelium (Ayyaz et al., in preparation (Chapter 4)), therefore, it will be highly interesting to test the ability of a nuclease mutant S. marcescens strain to invade, damage, and escape the midgut barrier of Drosophila. The chitinase of Serratia (Brurberg et al., 1995; Harpster and Dunsmuir, 1989) degrades chitin (Vorgias et al., 1996). The fact that the peritrophic matrix, the first line of defense in the Drosophila midgut, is partially composed of chitin makes it highly interesting to test the ability of a Serratia mutant for chitinase to cross the peritrophic matrix. In addition to the catalase and a putative antioxidant, a third antioxidative protein, superoxide dismutase, was also secreted indicating the presence of multiple mechanisms in Serratia to neutralize the oxidative response in the D. melanogaster digestive tract.

Interestingly two metalloproteinases were also found in the supernatants of *S. marcescens*. Serralysin has previously been described as an insecticidal protein in locust (Tao et al., 2006), while in humans it induces the inflammatory response after being sensed by the protease-activated receptor 2 (Kida et al., 2007). Interestingly, two protease-deficient mutant strains, 19G12 and 19E12 with mutations in *lip* operon, were found deficient for the production of two active proteases, the molecular weight of one of them (54 kDa) corresponding to that of serralysin. This suggests that the *lip* operon of *S. marcescens* might be required for the extracellular secretion of serralysin, in addition to lipase A (LipA) and surface layer protein (SlaA).
4. Serratia marcescens needs fliR gene to cross intestinal barrier

Serratia marcescens needs the flagellar component FliR to invade and damage the Drosophila midgut epithelium

Ayyaz Arshad, Matthieu Lestradet, Philippe Giammarinaro¹, Sebastian Niehus, and Dominique Ferrandon

UPR9022 du CNRS, Université de Strasbourg, Equipe Fondation Recherche Médicale, Institut de Biologie Moleculaire et Cellulaire, 15, rue R. Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg Cedex, France

Current address: ¹ UMR1225 IHAP, Ecole nationale vétérinaire de Toulouse, 23, Chemin des Capelles, 31076 Toulouse Cedex, France

Note: The scientific article is *in preparation*.

Introduction

The antimicrobial defense in Drosophila melanogaster depends on innate immunity, the cellular and humoral responses being the major defense mechanisms. Phagocytes engulf circulating microbes while fat body cells secrete antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) upon recognition of the structural components of microbes or the detection of virulence factors enzymatic activity (Ferrandon et al., 2007; Lemaitre and Hoffmann, 2007). Gram-negative bacteria and some Gram-positive bacilli are sensed through their meso-diamiopimelic acidcontaining peptidoglycans (DAP-type PGNs), while often Gram-positive bacteria and fungi are recognised through lysine-containing (Lys-type) PGNs and glucans, respectively. The Drosophila genome encodes Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) that sense these microbes. The Peptidoglycan Recognition Protein-LC (PGRP-LC) and PGRP-LE bind to DAP-type PGNs. PGRP-SA, GNBP1 and PGRP-SD sense the Lys-type PGNs while GNBP3 is activated by glucans. Two genetically conserved signaling cascades, namely the Immune deficiency (IMD) pathway (activated by Gram-negative bacteria) and the Toll pathway (turned on by Gram-positive bacteria and fungi), control the expression of partially overlapping sets of AMPs, generally active against the respective categories of microbes. The AMPs are either systemically produced by the fat body cells against microbes disseminated in the hemocoel or secreted locally by barrier epithelia (Akhouayri et al., 2011; Ferrandon et al., 1998; Han et al., 2004; Tzou et al., 2000) against environmental, commensal, or pathogenic microbes.

The *Drosophila* intestine provides a niche for inhabiting commensals. Hazardous microbes and occasional pathogens are contained by physical and chemical barriers. The pertrophic matrix lines the gut epithelium and restricts microorganisms to the lumen of the digestive tract, that is the endoperitrophic space (Kuraishi et al., 2011). The transmembrane protein Dual Oxidase (DUOX) of midgut epithelia cells secretes cytotoxic Reactive oxygen species (ROS) in response to microbes through an unknown sensing mechanism (Bae et al.,

2010; Ha et al., 2005a; Ha et al., 2005b). AMPs are also secreted by the midgut epithelial cells, however, in an IMD pathway-, and not Toll pathway-, dependent manner (Liehl et al., 2006; Nehme et al., 2007; Ryu et al., 2006). Despite the sophisticated immune responses in the *D. melanogaster* intestine, some microbes are able to resist, survive, damage and cross the intestinal barrier and then may cause systemic infections (Limmer et al., 2011; Nehme et al., 2007).

Serratia marcescens is a Gram-negative bacterium. It is an opportunistic pathogen and is becoming a major cause of nosocomial infections in humans (Iosifidis et al., 2012; Maltezou et al., 2012; Voelz et al., 2010). It is also found associated with inflammatory diseases of the human intestine (Carlisle et al., 2011; Filius et al., 2005; Heidemann et al., 2003). S. marcescens is a potent pathogen in a septic injury model in Drosophila (Nehme et al., 2007). A few bacterial cells kill the flies within a day when introduced directly into the hemolymph. A strong systemic immune response is induced, yet the bacteria are resistant to the AMPs and the flies succumb to the massive proliferation of bacteria in the hemolymph. Interestingly, the flies do not succumb in an oral feeding assay with Serratia for many days, although low but significant numbers of bacteria are retrieved from the hemolymph of the flies only a few hours post-infection suggesting that it is able to cross rapidly the intestinal barrier. The midgut epithelium shows signs of stress and damage upon oral feeding of S. marcescens (Cronin et al., 2009; Nehme et al., 2007). Homeostasis in the gut epithelium is maintained by compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) driven partially by the JAK/STAT pathway (Buchon et al., 2009; Chatterjee and Ip, 2009; Cronin et al., 2009). The IMD pathway mutant flis for kenny (key) died faster as compared to the wild-type flies suggesting a protective role of the IMD pathway against S. marcescens in the gut (Nehme et al., 2007). Phagocytosis controls the proliferation of S. marcescens in the hemolymph. Flies mutant for *eater*, which encodes a phagocytic receptor for *S. marcescens* (Kocks et al., 2005), die faster in the oral infection due to uncontrolled bacterial proliferation in the hemolymph, that is bacteremia.

The virulence factors of *S. marcescens* that induce damages in the *Drosophila* midgut as well as the strategy the bacteria employ to cross the intestinal barrier are not known. We therefore performed a genetic screen in which the *eater* mutant flies were orally infected with single *S. marcescens* mutants taken from a bank created by random insertions of miniTn5 transposon in the bacterial genome (Pradel et al., 2007). The potential bacterial mutants showing attenuation of virulence in *eater* fly survival assays were selected for further analysis. In this screen, we isolated a nonmotile *S. marcescens* strain. This strain carried a transposon insertion in the *fliR* gene, which is required for the biosynthesis and function of the flagella. The reduced virulence appears to be related to a decreased ability to cross the digestive tract. By generating an independent *fliR* mutant strain by plasmid-mediated site directed mutagenesis, we have demonstrated that *S. marcescens* needs *fliR* gene to invade the enterocytes of the *Drosophila* intestinal epithelium. Our data suggest that damage to enterocytes requires FliR-mediated bacterial invasion of these epithelial cells.

Materials and Methods

Fly lines

Flies were reared at 25°C on standard corneal-agar medium. A5001 (Thibault et al., 2004) were wild-type controls for *keyC0*, a P-element insertion null mutant allele of *key¹* (Rutschmann et al., 2000) and *eater* mutants. The *eater* null mutant flies with two overlapping deficiencies on homologous chromosomes were obtained by crossing two heterozygous fly strains: Df(3R) D605/TM3, Sb[1] Ser [1] and Df(3R) T1-I, e[1]/TM3, Ser[1] (Kocks et al., 2005). The NP1-Gal4 driver, UAS-ATG1, and UAS-ATG1^{DN} lines were obtained from DGRC, Japan. All crosses to generate transgenetic rescue fly lines were performed at 25°C.

Bacterial strains

The *S. marcescens* strain Db11 is a spontaneous streptomycin resistant strain, while the bank of *Serratia* mutants was established by inducing miniTn5 transposon insertions randomly into the genome of the *S. marcescens* wild-type strain Db10 (Pradel et al., 2007). The Db strain was originally isolated from moribund flies (Flyg et al., 1980). DsRed derivatives of the wild-type strain Db11 and *fliR* mutants were obtained by transforming them with plasmid pEP933 (Nehme et al., 2007). Transposon insertion sites in the genome of *S. marcescens* were mapped using one-primer method (Karlyshev et al., 2000). Briefly, two pairs of nested transposon-specific primers were designed, one on each side of the transposon. The inner primes on each side of the transposon were used for unspecific amplifications (5 amplification cycles at Tm 60°C, 3 cycles at Tm 33°C, and finally 30 cycles at 60°C), followed by the sequencing using two outer primers on each side. For plasmid-mediated sitespecific mutagenesis, a fragment from *fliR* gene was amplified by PCR using primers 5'gctctagacctgtggctggcggttc3' and 5'ccgctcgagtcatcatgcccagcgt3' and cloned in plasmid pHG201spn. The wild-type Db10 strain was then transformed. The *fliR* mutant generated by homologous recombination was then selected for antibiotic resistance, and verified by PCR and motility assay.

Oral infection

Bacteria were grown overnight in LB at 37° C. Fresh LB was used to dilute the bacterial culture to an optical density of 1 (OD₆₀₀ 1) before finally diluting the resulting solution ten times in sucrose (50mM) solution. This infection solution was then used to soak filter pads (Millipore) placed at the bottom of fly culture vials before adding about 20 flies (10 flies for the screen). All survival experiments were performed at 25°C and flies were supplemented with 200µL of sterile sucrose (100mM) solution on a daily basis. Survival was monitored at least once per day.

Dithiothreitol (DTT) treatment of flies

3-8 days old female flies were added to the vials containing filters soaked with DTT (10mM) dissolved in sucrose (50mM) solution. Thee vials were incubated at 25°C for 18 hours. Finally, the flies were shifted to the vials with filters containing infection solution (see above) and incubated for 6 hours at 25°C. Hemolymph was extracted as described in (Nehme et al., 2007).

Peritrophic matrix permeability assay

FITC-labelled dextrans (70kDa) were mixed in sucrose (50mM) solution. Next, the wild-type strain Db11 or *fliR* mutant (final OD 0.1) or DTT (10mM) was added to the final mix and used to soak filter pads placed at the bottom of the fly culture vials. Flies were then added to

these vials and incubated for about 7 hours at 25°C. Guts were dissected in PBS, fixed in 4% PFA for 30 minutes and stained for actin using Texas Red-labelled Phalloidin (Invitrogen). The stained guts were then mounted using DAPI containing Vectashield and observed by confocal microscopy.

Blockade of phagocytosis and histochemistry:

Blockade of phagocytosis was achieved by injecting non-degradable latex beads with the NanojectII (Drummond). Gut dissections, fixation, immunostaining, microscopy and imaging as well as collection of hemolymph to monitor bacterial titre were performed as described in (Nehme et al., 2007).

Bacterial counts in gut epithelium

Flies were orally infected as above. Following one day post-infection flies were shifted to the fly culture vials containing filters that were soaked with Gentamicin (100µg/mL) solution in PBS. After 2 hours, flies were fed on sterile sucrose (100mM) solution for 30 minutes, two times, to wash away any remaining antibiotics. The dissected guts were shortly (almost a second) dipped in 70% ethanol, crushed in PBS and plated on Streptomycin (100µg/mL) containing bacteria culture plates.

Results

We have tested 1348 miniTn5 transposon insertion mutants generated in the strain S. *marcescens* for: i) decreased proteolytic activity of colonies on milk plates; ii) altered survival pattern of phagocytosis-deficient *eater* mutant flies that had ingested the mutant bacteria. eater mutant flies succumb to bacteremia caused by bacteria that have crossed the intestinal barrier. In this screen, we found two independent mutants in which the proteolytic activity was reproducibly decreased. Interestingly, the transposon insertions map to two genes in the same operon, namely the lipase secretion system (lip) operon (Akatsuka et al., 1995), which has been shown to be required for the secretion of lipase A (LipA) and the surface layer protein (SlaA) (Akatsuka et al., 1994; Kawai et al., 1998). This phenotype was confirmed by the direct inactivation of the *lipB* gene by the site-specific insertion of a plasmid. We confirmed by zymogram analysis that the two original mutant strains produce strongly reduced amounts of the two proteases that were reproducibly observed with wild-type S. marcescens Db11 (Fig. S1). As regards the in vivo screen, we only confirmed one insertion mutant, 19H12, which reproducibly led to a lower virulence in the intestinal infection model with *eater* flies, that is a slower death rate. This transposon mapped to the *fliR* gene, which is the last gene of the *fliL* operon, the seven genes of which are involved in the biosynthesis and functioning of the flagellar organelle (Malakooti et al., 1994). We therefore generated an independent mutant by plasmid-mediated site directed insertion mutagenesis. This mutant did not move as measured by a motility assay (Fig. S2). As shown in Fig. 1A, this *fliR* mutant reproducibly killed eater flies less rapidly than the control S. marcescens Db11 strain in a recently developed model of S. marcescens intestinal infection in which only flies with altered immune response or homeostasis succumb. Data obtained with our classical model of infection are shown in Fig. S3. Note that the difference in survival curves was much more

pronounced with the site directed mutant than with the original insertion mutant (Fig. S3). We checked that *fliR* was as virulent as *S. marcescens* Db11 in the septic injury assay, thus demonstrating that this mutant is not impaired for virulence factors required to overcome the systemic host defense (Fig. S4). To confirm the dependency of the *fliR* mutant phenotype on the cellular immune response, we impaired phagocytosis by the prior injection of latex beads (Fig. 1B). The results that we obtained were similar to those observed using *eater* mutants. As expected, like *S. marcescens* Db11 and *Escherichia coli*, ingested *fliR* bacteria did not specifically kill wild-type A5001 flies (Fig. 1C). In contrast, the IMD pathway mutant flies *kenny* (*key*) were sensitive to ingested *S. marcescens* Db11, even though they have supposedly a normal cellular immune response. Strikingly, *fliR* mutants behaved as nonpathogenic *E. coli* (Fig. 1D).

fliR mutants are not able to efficiently cross the intestinal barrier

The reduced death rate observed in phagocytosis-impaired flies that have ingested *fliR* mutant bacteria might be due either to a reduced virulence once the bacteria are present in the hemocoel, or an altered ability to escape from the digestive tract. The finding that *fliR S. marcescens* does kill flies as efficiently as wild-type bacteria when directly introduced in the hemocoel suggests that the phenotype is not due to a decreased virulence of the mutant. Thus, we monitored the rate of passage of the ingested bacteria through the intestinal barrier. To increase the sensitivity of the assay, we collected hemolymph from latex-bead injected flies, so as to prevent phagocytosis of bacteria that have reached the hemocoel (Nehme et al., 2007). Fig. 2A shows that the rate of passage of *fliR* bacteria was strongly decreased as compared to wild-type bacteria, with actually no bacteria being retrieved in some experiments. The next question we addressed was whether the mutant bacteria wave still able to cross the peritrophic matrix, which is the first barrier that bacteria have to cross. By confocal microscopy, we did find bacteria present in the ectoperitrophic space, in close

vicinity to the intestinal epithelium (Fig. S5). We further addressed this problem by two complementary approaches. We first asked whether S. marcescens is able to alter the permeability of the peritrophic membrane. To answer that question, we added FITC-labeled dextrans of high molecular weight (70 kD) to the food of flies. As shown in Fig. 2B, the dextrans remained confined to the lumen of the gut (intraperitrophic space) in flies on a sucrose regimen. In contrast, after seven hours of exposure to ingested S. marcescens the dextrans were no longer confined to the intraperitrophic space in the intestinal lumen, whether the bacteria were wild-type or mutant for *fliR*. This suggests that *fliR* mutants have intact abilities to alter the permeability of the peritrophic matrix and possibly may cross the peritrophic matrix as efficiently as wild-type bacteria. To complement these findings, we therefore destroyed the peritrophic matrix by feeding the flies with 10mM DTT (Edwards and Jacobs-Lorena, 2000). As expected this treatment allowed the FITC dextrans to diffuse within the whole gut (Fig. 2B). In keeping with a protective role of the peritrophic matrix, we noted that the hemolymph titer we measured with an intact peritrophic matrix after 24 hours of infection was reached here just after six hours. Under these favorable conditions, *fliR* bacteria were still unable to cross the intestinal barrier (Fig. 1A). We conclude that *fliR* mutant bacteria likely are unable to cross the intestinal epithelium itself.

fliR bacteria do not invade enterocytes

Next, we asked whether these mutant bacteria were able to penetrate inside intestinal cells, as had been previously reported for wild-type *S. marcescens* (Nehme et al., 2007). Indeed, we did observe wild-type bacteria inside enterocytes, although it was a relatively rare occurrence. In contrast, we never observed any intracellular *fliR* bacteria (Fig. 3 and Fig. S5). To confirm these data, we used another, more quantitative, approach. Flies were fed with bacteria for one day. Then, they were fed on gentamicin for two hours, a treatment that kills only extracellular bacteria. The flies were fed afterwards on sucrose for one hour to wash

away the antibiotics. This treatment indeed cleared GFP-labeled *S. marcescens* from the gut lumen (data not shown). We next dissected the guts and plated extracts on plates. Fig. 3B shows that hardly any *fliR* bacteria were retrieved from wild-type guts, suggesting that they have a decreased ability to invade intestinal cells. Similar results were obtained in *key* mutants, although the absolute titer for both wild-type and *fliR* bacteria was one Log higher than in wild-type flies (Fig. 3B). We confirmed these data in a cell culture gentamicin protection assay. To prevent host-mediated internalization of bacteria through phagocytosis, we pretreated the cells with cytochalasin D. *fliR* bacteria were as inefficient as nonpathogenic *E. coli* in invading *Drosophila* S2 cells (Fig. 3C), in keeping with results obtained with mammalian cell lines (Fedrigo et al., 2011). In a preliminary series of experiments, we asked whether *fliR* bacteria would be less adherent to S2 cells and found that it was not the case (Fig. S6).

It has been suggested that the autophagic machinery is required for the intracellular protection and proliferation of invading bacteria. We therefore attempted to block autophagy in enterocytes by overexpressing a dominant-negative construct of the ATG1 protein. This treatment did not alter the titer of wild-type *S. marcescens* within the intestinal epithelium. Interestingly however, inducing autophagy by overexpressing wild-type ATG1 did increase this titer (Fig. 3B).

fliR mutants do not damage extensively the intestinal epithelium

Ingested *S. marcescens* damages the intestinal epithelium by attacking enterocytes, which apparently undergo apoptosis (Cronin et al., 2009). The homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium is maintained through the compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs). Thus, monitoring ISC proliferation by phosphohistone H3 (PHH3) staining yields an indirect measurement of the extent of the damage that the intestinal epithelium undergoes.

First, we checked that the DUOX-mediated ROS response is not causing damage under our conditions of a relatively low titer of ingested *S. marcescens* Db11. Indeed, treatment with N-acetylcysteine did not alter the PHH3 counts (Fig. 4). Interestingly, the PHH3 count in flies that have ingested *fliR* mutant bacteria was as low as that measured in control flies feeding on a sucrose solution. These data suggest that the invasion of enterocytes by *S. marcescens* is required to damage the intestinal epithelium.

Discussion

One interesting feature of the *S. marcescens* intestinal infection model is the ability of these bacteria to rapidly cross the intestinal barrier, even though the bacteria downregulate their virulence program in the process. They however have not lost their virulence properties since they proliferate rapidly when the cellular host defenses are impaired. Here, we have performed a screen to identify bacterial factors that are required for the traversal of the intestinal epithelium.

In addition to this screen, we also identified a couple of mutants with an impaired secretion of proteases, as judged from milk plate assay and zymogram analysis. The molecular weight of one of these proteases is 54 kDa, evocative of the previously described serralysin (Park and Ming, 2002; Tao et al., 2006). Interestingly, the identity of a 54 kDa protein spot on 2D gels loaded with bacterial supernatant was confirmed to be serralysin by mass spectrometry analysis (data not shown). Proteases are thought to be important virulence factors of *S. marcescens*. Indeed, they are likely to degrade AMPs, although this property was not as essential as the presence of the LPS-O-antigen in accounting for the resistance of *S. marcescens* Db11 against the IMD-mediated systemic immune response in a septic injury model (Nehme et al., 2007). In the context of an intestinal infection model, proteases might actually trigger damages to enterocytes. They may also be required to attack the

chitinoproteinaceous peritrophic matrix. However, mutants with altered protease secretion did not exhibit a decreased virulence in the *eater* intestinal infection model. This suggests that the two proteases we have detected may not be required. Of note, the *S. marcescens* Db11 genome encodes another five proteases that were not detected here. The finding that two independent mutants map to the *lip* operon and that the phenotype was reproduced in an independent mutant in *lipB* strongly suggests that this operon is required for the secretion of these two protease. This operon has been reported to be required for the secretion of lipase A and of the surface layer protein (SlaA). Thus, it may also be required for the secretion of other proteins, including proteases.

The mode of passage of *S. marcescens* through the intestinal epithelium remains uncharacterized at present. The bacterium is able to cross the peritrophic matrix, yet does not appear to affect it, at least at the ultrastructural level as observed by electron microscopy (Nehme et al., 2007). Here, we have shown that it is nevertheless able to increase its permeability (Fig. 2), a process that may involve proteinases or chitinases. While this property may not be sufficient to allow the passage of the bacteria as a relatively low molecular weight dextran was used, it may nevertheless facilitate the passage of secreted virulence factors such as a phospholipase, a nuclease, or hemolysin. Indeed, most *S. marcescens* bacteria appear to be contained within the endoperitrophic space when examined by confocal or electron microscopy. We note that the rate of passage appeared to be enhanced after the disrution of the peritrophic matrix by DTT treatment (Fig. 2A).

Two strategies are possible to cross the intestinal epithelium: extracellular passage by going inbetween the closely apposed enterocytes, the epithelium being sealed by septate junctions, the insect equivalent of tight junctions. The alternate strategy is a passage through the epithelial cells. Some *S. marcescens* bacteria were observed by electron microscopy apparently attempting to cross the intestinal epithelium in between enterocytes at their apical

face, only after three days of ingestion (Nehme et al., 2007). To date, we have not observed them transiting or exiting on the basal side. Furthermore, passage may occur as early as two hours after the beginning of the ingestion, a time at which we have never observed pictures evocative of a possible paracellular path. We have also observed intracellular bacteria, especially in key mutants. However, we could not exclude that these bacteria were actually being killed by host intracellular defenses, namely autophagy or lysophagosomes. The finding that FliR is required both for the passage of bacteria through the digestive tract and that it is required for internalization of S. marcescens in S2 cells suggests an intracellular mode of passage, possibly through transcytosis. However, we cannot exclude that FliR may be required for other processes as discussed further below. A recent publication reported that S. marcescens is able to survive and proliferate within autophagic-like vacuoles in cultured Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) cells, which are formed in a noncanonical manner (Fedrigo et al., 2011). The bacteria are apparently able to prevent the fusion of lysosomes to autophagiclike vacuoles. Interestingly, internalization of S. marcescens depended on the autophagy factor atg5. We have attempted here to disrupt autophagy by overexpressing a dominantnegative form of ATG1, which has been reported to inhibit autophagy. This did apparently not influence the level of intracellular bacteria retrieved in the intestinal epithelium (Fig. 3B). It is not clear whether the autophagic process triggered by S. marcescens involves ATG1. On the other hand, had autophagy been a major intracellular host defense, then the intracellular titer of S. marcescens would have significantly increased. However, as the bacteria might be released on the basal side rapidly, these experiments should be repeated monitoring the bacterial titer in the hemolymph before a firm conclusion can be drawn. The overexpression of ATG1 did increase the intracellular titer of S. marcescens in enterocytes. One possibility is that an increased induction of autophagy might hinder the passage to the basal side. Alternatively, it might favorize the invasion of enterocytes. Again, the bacterial titer in the

hemolymph should be measured. Also, the integrity of the midgut should be assessed, as ATG1 overexpression has been reported to induce a caspase-dependent form of cell death during development (Chang and Neufeld, 2009; Juhasz and Neufeld, 2008; Scott et al., 2007). Thus, we cannot yet exclude that this genetic manipulation might alter the overall properties of the epithelium.

The flagellum is a *bona fide* virulence factor. In the gut, it allows movement and may be important for colonization as it may counteract peristaltic movements. We did not notice an obvious depletion of *fliR* mutant bacteria in the gut and observed mutant labelled bacteria in the vicinity of the epithelium (Fig. 3A), although we cannot exclude a quantitative effect. By the same token, we do not have the means to demonstrate formally that FliR is not required for crossing the peritrophic matrix. Yet, when this barrier is removed, *fliR* bacteria remain deficient in their ability to pass the intestinal epithelial border. Flagella have been reported to be required for the invasion of host cells by several bacteria (Claret et al., 2007; Gavin et al., 2003; Grant et al., 1993; Parthasarathy et al., 2007; Pichon et al., 2009; Tasteyre et al., 2001; Young et al., 2000). Our finding of a role for FliR in the passage of S. marcescens through the gut and favorizing the invasion of enterocytes and S2 cells is consistent with a recent report on a clinical strain of S. marcescens, in which the flagellin regulator operon flhD was shown to be required for the early steps of S. marcescens interaction with cultured epithelial cells (Fedrigo et al., 2011). However, we did not find a requirement for *fliR* in adherence to S2 cells. One possibility is that this is due to a difference between mammalian and insect cells. Our data are compatible with the hypothesis that FliR is directly required for invasion through a role of the flagellum. However, as the role of FliR is in the export of proteins through the flagellin type III secretion system, we cannot exclude the possibility that this effect is mediated by secreted proteins distinct from flagellin, for instance a phospholipase (PhIA) or a nuclease (NucA), both of whom are regulated by the *flhDC* operon

(Givskov et al., 1995; Liu et al., 2000). They might either be secreted by a FliR-dependent process or alternatively be regulated by this operon in a *FliR*-independent manner. It will be thus interesting to determine whether *phlA* or *nucA* mutants share the *fliR* mutant phenotype.

An important aspect of the *S. marcescens* intestinal infection model is that this pathogen actually causes damages to the intestinal epithelium (Cronin et al., 2009; Nehme et al., 2007). Obvious candidates were secreted virulence factors such as hemolysin, which indeed provokes important injuries early on during the infection (unpublished data). This work opens the possibility that enterocytes may be damaged only as a result of enterocyte invasion. However, as noted above, we cannot exclude at present that enterocytes are actually attacked by either the PhIA phospholipase or the NucA nuclease, which has been shown to kill transgenic porcine fibroblasts (Caballero and Piedrahita, 2009).

Bibliography

Akatsuka, H., Kawai, E., Omori, K., Komatsubara, S., Shibatani, T., and Tosa, T. (1994). The lipA gene of Serratia marcescens which encodes an extracellular lipase having no N-terminal signal peptide. Journal of bacteriology 176, 1949-1956.

Akatsuka, H., Kawai, E., Omori, K., and Shibatani, T. (1995). The three genes lipB, lipC, and lipD involved in the extracellular secretion of the Serratia marcescens lipase which lacks an N-terminal signal peptide. Journal of bacteriology 177, 6381-6389.

Akhouayri, I., Turc, C., Royet, J., and Charroux, B. (2011). Toll-8/Tollo negatively regulates antimicrobial response in the Drosophila respiratory epithelium. PLoS pathogens 7, e1002319.

Bae, Y.S., Choi, M.K., and Lee, W.J. (2010). Dual oxidase in mucosal immunity and hostmicrobe homeostasis. Trends in immunology 31, 278-287.

Bromke, B.J., and Venuti, E. (1999). A basal-defined medium for the study of proteolytic activity of Serratia marcescens. Can J Microbiol 45, 88-91.

Buchon, N., Broderick, N.A., Poidevin, M., Pradervand, S., and Lemaitre, B. (2009). Drosophila intestinal response to bacterial infection: activation of host defense and stem cell proliferation. Cell host & microbe 5, 200-211.

Caballero, I., and Piedrahita, J.A. (2009). Evaluation of the Serratia marcescens nuclease (NucA) as a transgenic cell ablation system in porcine. Anim Biotechnol 20, 177-185.

Carlisle, E.M., Poroyko, V., Caplan, M.S., Alverdy, J.A., and Liu, D. (2011). Gram negative bacteria are associated with the early stages of necrotizing enterocolitis. PloS one 6, e18084.

Chang, Y.Y., and Neufeld, T.P. (2009). An Atg1/Atg13 complex with multiple roles in TORmediated autophagy regulation. Mol Biol Cell 20, 2004-2014.

Chatterjee, M., and Ip, Y.T. (2009). Pathogenic stimulation of intestinal stem cell response in Drosophila. Journal of cellular physiology 220, 664-671.

Claret, L., Miquel, S., Vieille, N., Ryjenkov, D.A., Gomelsky, M., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2007). The flagellar sigma factor FliA regulates adhesion and invasion of Crohn disease-associated Escherichia coli via a cyclic dimeric GMP-dependent pathway. The Journal of biological chemistry 282, 33275-33283.

Cronin, S.J., Nehme, N.T., Limmer, S., Liegeois, S., Pospisilik, J.A., Schramek, D., Leibbrandt, A., Simoes Rde, M., Gruber, S., Puc, U., Ebersberger, I., Zoranovic, T., Neely, G.G., von Haeseler, A., Ferrandon, D., and Penninger, J.M. (2009). Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies genes involved in intestinal pathogenic bacterial infection. Science (New York, N.Y 325, 340-343.

Edwards, M.J., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2000). Permeability and disruption of the peritrophic matrix and caecal membrane from Aedes aegypti and Anopheles gambiae mosquito larvae. Journal of insect physiology 46, 1313-1320.

Fedrigo, G.V., Campoy, E.M., Di Venanzio, G., Colombo, M.I., and Garcia Vescovi, E. (2011). Serratia marcescens is able to survive and proliferate in autophagic-like vacuoles inside non-phagocytic cells. PloS one 6, e24054.

Ferrandon, D., Imler, J.L., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2007). The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. Nature reviews 7, 862-874.

Ferrandon, D., Jung, A.C., Criqui, M., Lemaitre, B., Uttenweiler-Joseph, S., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1998). A drosomycin-GFP reporter transgene reveals a local immune response in Drosophila that is not dependent on the Toll pathway. The EMBO journal 17, 1217-1227.

Filius, P.M., Gyssens, I.C., Kershof, I.M., Roovers, P.J., Ott, A., Vulto, A.G., Verbrugh, H.A., and Endtz, H.P. (2005). Colonization and resistance dynamics of gram-negative bacteria in patients during and after hospitalization. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 49, 2879-2886.

Flyg, C., Kenne, K., and Boman, H.G. (1980). Insect pathogenic properties of Serratia marcescens: phage-resistant mutants with a decreased resistance to Cecropia immunity and a decreased virulence to Drosophila. J Gen Microbiol 120, 173-181.

Gavin, R., Merino, S., Altarriba, M., Canals, R., Shaw, J.G., and Tomas, J.M. (2003). Lateral flagella are required for increased cell adherence, invasion and biofilm formation by Aeromonas spp. FEMS microbiology letters 224, 77-83.

Givskov, M., Eberl, L., Christiansen, G., Benedik, M.J., and Molin, S. (1995). Induction of phospholipase- and flagellar synthesis in Serratia liquefaciens is controlled by expression of the flagellar master operon flhD. Molecular microbiology 15, 445-454.

Grant, C.C., Konkel, M.E., Cieplak, W., Jr., and Tompkins, L.S. (1993). Role of flagella in adherence, internalization, and translocation of Campylobacter jejuni in nonpolarized and polarized epithelial cell cultures. Infection and immunity 61, 1764-1771.

Ha, E.M., Oh, C.T., Bae, Y.S., and Lee, W.J. (2005a). A direct role for dual oxidase in Drosophila gut immunity. Science (New York, N.Y 310, 847-850.

Ha, E.M., Oh, C.T., Ryu, J.H., Bae, Y.S., Kang, S.W., Jang, I.H., Brey, P.T., and Lee, W.J. (2005b). An antioxidant system required for host protection against gut infection in Drosophila. Developmental cell 8, 125-132.

Han, S.H., Ryu, J.H., Oh, C.T., Nam, K.B., Nam, H.J., Jang, I.H., Brey, P.T., and Lee, W.J. (2004). The moleskin gene product is essential for Caudal-mediated constitutive antifungal Drosomycin gene expression in Drosophila epithelia. Insect molecular biology 13, 323-327.

Heidemann, J., Spinelli, K.S., Otterson, M.F., and Binion, D.G. (2003). Case report: magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of epidural abscess complicating perirectal fistulizing Crohn's disease. Inflammatory bowel diseases 9, 122-124.

Iosifidis, E., Farmaki, E., Nedelkopoulou, N., Tsivitanidou, M., Kaperoni, M., Pentsoglou, V., Pournaras, S., Athanasiou-Metaxa, M., and Roilides, E. (2012). Outbreak of bloodstream infections because of Serratia marcescens in a pediatric department. Am J Infect Control 40, 11-15.

Juhasz, G., and Neufeld, T.P. (2008). Drosophila Atg7: required for stress resistance, longevity and neuronal homeostasis, but not for metamorphosis. Autophagy 4, 357-358.

Karlyshev, A.V., Pallen, M.J., and Wren, B.W. (2000). Single-primer PCR procedure for rapid identification of transposon insertion sites. BioTechniques 28, 1078, 1080, 1082.

Kawai, E., Akatsuka, H., Idei, A., Shibatani, T., and Omori, K. (1998). Serratia marcescens Slayer protein is secreted extracellularly via an ATP-binding cassette exporter, the Lip system. Molecular microbiology 27, 941-952.

Kocks, C., Cho, J.H., Nehme, N., Ulvila, J., Pearson, A.M., Meister, M., Strom, C., Conto, S.L., Hetru, C., Stuart, L.M., Stehle, T., Hoffmann, J.A., Reichhart, J.M., Ferrandon, D., Ramet, M., and Ezekowitz, R.A. (2005). Eater, a transmembrane protein mediating phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens in Drosophila. Cell 123, 335-346.

Kuraishi, T., Binggeli, O., Opota, O., Buchon, N., and Lemaitre, B. (2011). Genetic evidence for a protective role of the peritrophic matrix against intestinal bacterial infection in Drosophila melanogaster. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 15966-15971.

Lemaitre, B., and Hoffmann, J. (2007). The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. Annual review of immunology 25, 697-743.

Liehl, P., Blight, M., Vodovar, N., Boccard, F., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). Prevalence of local immune response against oral infection in a Drosophila/Pseudomonas infection model. PLoS pathogens 2, e56.

Limmer, S., Haller, S., Drenkard, E., Lee, J., Yu, S., Kocks, C., Ausubel, F.M., and Ferrandon, D. (2011). Pseudomonas aeruginosa RhlR is required to neutralize the cellular immune response in a Drosophila melanogaster oral infection model. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 17378-17383.

Liu, J.H., Lai, M.J., Ang, S., Shu, J.C., Soo, P.C., Horng, Y.T., Yi, W.C., Lai, H.C., Luh, K.T., Ho, S.W., and Swift, S. (2000). Role of flhDC in the expression of the nuclease gene nucA, cell division and flagellar synthesis in Serratia marcescens. J Biomed Sci 7, 475-483.

Malakooti, J., Ely, B., and Matsumura, P. (1994). Molecular characterization, nucleotide sequence, and expression of the fliO, fliP, fliQ, and fliR genes of Escherichia coli. Journal of bacteriology 176, 189-197.

Maltezou, H.C., Tryfinopoulou, K., Katerelos, P., Ftika, L., Pappa, O., Tseroni, M., Kostis, E., Kostalos, C., Prifti, H., Tzanetou, K., and Vatopoulos, A. (2012). Consecutive Serratia marcescens multiclone outbreaks in a neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Infect Control.

Nehme, N.T., Liegeois, S., Kele, B., Giammarinaro, P., Pradel, E., Hoffmann, J.A., Ewbank, J.J., and Ferrandon, D. (2007). A model of bacterial intestinal infections in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS pathogens 3, e173.

Park, H.I., and Ming, L.J. (2002). Mechanistic studies of the astacin-like Serratia metalloendopeptidase serralysin: highly active (>2000%) Co(II) and Cu(II) derivatives for further corroboration of a "metallotriad" mechanism. J Biol Inorg Chem 7, 600-610.

Parthasarathy, G., Yao, Y., and Kim, K.S. (2007). Flagella promote Escherichia coli K1 association with and invasion of human brain microvascular endothelial cells. Infection and immunity 75, 2937-2945.

Pichon, C., Hechard, C., du Merle, L., Chaudray, C., Bonne, I., Guadagnini, S., Vandewalle, A., and Le Bouguenec, C. (2009). Uropathogenic Escherichia coli AL511 requires flagellum to enter renal collecting duct cells. Cellular microbiology 11, 616-628.

Pradel, E., Zhang, Y., Pujol, N., Matsuyama, T., Bargmann, C.I., and Ewbank, J.J. (2007). Detection and avoidance of a natural product from the pathogenic bacterium Serratia

marcescens by Caenorhabditis elegans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 2295-2300.

Rutschmann, S., Jung, A.C., Rui, Z., Silverman, N., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ferrandon, D. (2000). Role of *Drosophila* IKK γ in a Toll-independent antibacterial immune response. Nat Immunology 1, 342-347.

Ryu, J.H., Ha, E.M., Oh, C.T., Seol, J.-H., Brey, P., Jin, I., Lee, D.L., Kim, J., Lee, D., and Lee, W.J. (2006). An essential complementary role of NF-kappaB pathway to microbicidal oxidants in Drosophila gut immunity. The EMBO journal 25, 3693-3701.

Scott, R.C., Juhasz, G., and Neufeld, T.P. (2007). Direct induction of autophagy by Atg1 inhibits cell growth and induces apoptotic cell death. Curr Biol 17, 1-11.

Tao, K., Long, Z., Liu, K., Tao, Y., and Liu, S. (2006). Purification and properties of a novel insecticidal protein from the locust pathogen Serratia marcescens HR-3. Curr Microbiol 52, 45-49.

Tasteyre, A., Barc, M.C., Collignon, A., Boureau, H., and Karjalainen, T. (2001). Role of FliC and FliD flagellar proteins of Clostridium difficile in adherence and gut colonization. Infection and immunity 69, 7937-7940.

Thibault, S.T., Singer, M.A., Miyazaki, W.Y., Milash, B., Dompe, N.A., Singh, C.M., Buchholz, R., Demsky, M., Fawcett, R., Francis-Lang, H.L., Ryner, L., Cheung, L.M., Chong, A., Erickson, C., Fisher, W.W., Greer, K., Hartouni, S.R., Howie, E., Jakkula, L., Joo, D., Killpack, K., Laufer, A., Mazzotta, J., Smith, R.D., Stevens, L.M., Stuber, C., Tan, L.R., Ventura, R., Woo, A., Zakrajsek, I., Zhao, L., Chen, F., Swimmer, C., Kopczynski, C., Duyk, G., Winberg, M.L., and Margolis, J. (2004). A complementary transposon tool kit for Drosophila melanogaster using P and piggyBac. Nature genetics 36, 283-287.

Tzou, P., Ohresser, S., Ferrandon, D., Capovilla, M., Reichhart, J.M., Lemaitre, B., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2000). Tissue-specific inducible expression of antimicrobial peptide genes in Drosophila surface epithelia. Immunity 13, 737-748.

Voelz, A., Muller, A., Gillen, J., Le, C., Dresbach, T., Engelhart, S., Exner, M., Bates, C.J., and Simon, A. (2010). Outbreaks of Serratia marcescens in neonatal and pediatric intensive care units: clinical aspects, risk factors and management. Int J Hyg Environ Health 213, 79-87.

Young, G.M., Badger, J.L., and Miller, V.L. (2000). Motility is required to initiate host cell invasion by Yersinia enterocolitica. Infection and immunity 68, 4323-4326.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Fig. 1 : *fliR* mutants kill the immunocompromised flies more slowly than the wild-type bacteria

eater null mutants (A), latex beads (LXB)-injected (B), nonLXB-injected (C) wild-type A5001 flies, and *key* mutants (D) were orally infected with an *E. coli* strain, *S. marcescens* wild-type strain Db11, or *fliR* mutants. Survival curves were compared by LogRank test using Prism statistical software. (A) *Serratia* strain Db11 killed *eater* flies faster than the *fliR* mutants (p values: sucrose *vs. E. coli*: p > 0.05 (ns), sucrose *vs.* Db11: p < 0.0001 (***), sucrose *vs.* FliR: p < 0.0001 (***), Db11 *vs.* FliR: p < 0.0001 (***), with n = 5 (Db11), n = 6 (FliR), n = 2 (sucrose and *E. coli*). (B) 50% of phagocytosis-deficient flies died within 3 days when infected wild-type Db11 strain while *fliR* mutants killed these flies within 6 days (Db11 *vs.* FliR: p = 0.0004 (***), n = 9). (C) Wild-type flies did not die from feeding on *S. marcescens* when a sucrose), n = 10 (FliR), n = 7 (*E. coli*)). (D) Half of *key* mutant flies infected with strain Db11 died within 14 days while *fliR* mutants did not kill these flies (p values: sucrose *vs. E. coli:* p > 0.05 (ns), sucrose *vs.* Db11: p < 0.0001 (***), sucrose *vs.* FliR: p > 0.05 (ns), Db11 *vs.* FliR: p < 0.0001 (***), with n = 9 (Db11 and *E. coli*), n = 8 (FliR), n = 6 (sucrose). Error bars represent standard errors in each panel.

Fig. 2 : *fliR* mutants are unable to cross the intestinal barrier but appear not to be hindered by the peritrophic matrix

(A) More than two logs higher titer of wild-type Db11 bacteria, as compared to *fliR* mutants, were retrieved in the hemolymph of LXB-injected A5001 flies, one day post-infection (p values = 0.004 n = 7 (**)). A similar titer of Db11 was observed 6 hours post-infection in the

hemolymph of flies that had been preincubated with DTT (10mM) for 18 hours, while we failed to retrieve any *fliR* mutants in these flies. Error bars represent standard errors. (B) Wild-type flies were fed with FITC-labeled dextrans (70kDa) (green) either by mixing with sucrose (50mM) solution alone or also containing wild-type Db11 strain, *fliR* mutants or DTT (10mM). Guts were dissected 7 hours post-infection, fixed, stained for actin (red) and nuclei (blue), and observed by confocal microscopy. The figures are representative of two independent experiments. Note that fluorescent dextrans were retained only in flies fed on sucrose suggesting that *S. marcescens* alters the permeability of the peritrophic matrix.

Fig. 3: fliR mutants do not invade Drosophila cells in vivo or ex-vivo

(A) DsRed derivatives of bacteria (red) are found in the vicinity of the intestinal epithelial cells of wild-type flies, 24 hours post-infection. The intra-cellular Db11-DsRed are indicated by *arrows* and the brush border of epithelial cells is shown by *arrow heads*. (B) Fewer *fliR* mutants were found invading the gut epithelium of the wild-type A5001 flies and *key* mutants in a gentamicin protection assay; (*for A5001*: p < 0.05 n = 5; *for key mutants*: p < 0.01 n = 6). NP1-Gal4 (midgut enterocyte-specific) driver fly line was the wild-type control to monitor Db11 titer in the gut epithelium of autophagy mutants: NP1-*Gal4*/UAS-ATG1^{DN} (downregulation of autophagy in enterocytes of gut epithelium (NP-ATG1-DN)) and NP-*Gal4*/UAS-ATG1 (over-expression of autophagy in enterocytes of gut epithelium (NP1-ATG1)); (p values: NP-ATG1^{DN}: p > 0.05 n = 4 (ns), NP-ATG1: p < 0.01 n = 4 (**)). There was no statistical difference between the Db11 titers of the two wild-type, A5001 and NP1-Gal4, fly strains: (p = 0.07, n = 4 (ns)). (C) Like nonpathogenic *E. coli*, *fliR* mutants were less efficient in invading S2 cells both at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5 and 10 in a gentamicin protection assay; (*for MOI 5*: Db11 vs FliR: p = 0.0005 (***), FliR vs *E. coli*: p = 0.26 (ns); n=9 for all

data sets). Of note, S2 cells had been pretreated with cytochalasin D to neutralize phagocytosis-mediated internalization. Error bars in B and C represent standard errors.

Fig. 4 : *fliR* mutants do not damage the gut epithelial cells

The extent of damage to enterocytes was through measurement of the compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells (ISCs) by counting the number of phosphohistone-H3 positive cells in midgut of wild-type flies, 24 hours post-infection; the non-parametric Mann Whitney test was applied for statistical analyses (Db11 vs Db11_N-ac: p = 0.6 (ns), Db11 vs FliR: p = 0.007 (**), Db11 vs sucrose: p = 0.0007 (***), Db11_N-ac vs FliR: p = 0.03 (*); while n=24 (Db11), n=16 (Db11_N-ac), n=23 (FliR), and n=21 (sucrose). Mean values are shown.

Supplementary Materials and Methods

Protease milk assay

The milk culture plates contained 3% (w/v) milk powder, 2.5% LB and 1.5% Agar. After stirring, culture plates were incubated at room temperature overnight.

Zymogram

Bacteria were grown overnight at 37°C with constant shaking in the basal salts and buffer (BSB that contained per liter: 0.375g KH₂PO₄, 0.325g (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.25g NaCl, 0.125g MgSO₄, and 33.35g HEPES buffer) medium that also contained glycerol (0.62%), calcium chloride (1mM), and Leucine (10mM) (Bromke and Venuti, 1999). The supernatants from overnight cultures were then filtered and proteins were separated by electrophoresis. The separating gel was prepared with 4 ml Gelatin solution (0.5%), 3.3 ml of 30% Acrylamide mix, 2.5 ml of 1.5M Tris (pH 8.8), 0.1 ml of 10% SDS, 0.1 ml of 10% APS, 0.004 ml of TEMED, while the stacking gel contained 3.4 ml sterile de-ionized water, 0.83 ml of 30% Acrylamide mix, 0.63 ml of 1.0M Tris (pH 6.8), 0.05 ml of 10% SDS, 0.05 ml of 10% APS, and 0.005 ml of TEMED. After the transfer of proteins at 30mA for 3 hours, the gel was shaken for 1 hour in 2.5% Triton X-100 solution. The gel was developed in 1 mM Dithiothreitol (DTT) at 37°C for 3 hours. Finally, the gel was stained in Coomassie blue C-250 (0.01% (w/v)) solution containing 10% acetic acid and 40% methanol.

Swimming Assay

Fresh culture plates were made with loose agar (0.3% agar). A few bacterial colonies were then picked up with the help of sterile toothpick and placed in the middle of the loose agar plate. These plates were than incubated for 8 hours at 37°C. Mobile bacteria formed a circle around their colonies while the sessile cells did not move.

Oral infection of eater mutants

Bacteria were grown overnight in LB at 37° C. Then fresh LB was used to dilute the bacterial culture to an optical density of 1 (OD₆₀₀ 1) before finally diluting ten times in sucrose (50mM) solution. The infection solution was then used to soak filter pads (Millipore) placed at the bottom of fly culture vials before adding 10 to 20 flies. All survival experiments were performed at 25°C and flies were supplemented with 200µL of sterile water. Survival was monitored at least once per day.

Pricking infection model

96nL of DMSO was injected in hemolymph of the flies with the NanojectII (Drummond). Flies were allowed to settle for almost a day at 25°C. Flies were then pricked with a needle, which was previous dipped either in the bacterial solution (final OD_{600} 0.1 in PBS) or sterile PBS. Survival experiment was performed at 25°C.

Supplementary Figure Legends

Fig. S1 : Protease activity assays

(A) The bacteria were streaked on milk plates and incubated overnight at room temperature. Wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11 secretes active proteases, thus forming a clear halo around its colonies. Note the hazy halo in the periphery of the mutant strains 12 E12 and 19 G12 indicating that these strains are deficient in protease secretion/ activity. Non-pathogenic *E. coli* does not produce active proteases; therefore, no halo was formed in the periphery of its growing colonies. (B) The supernatants from the overnight bacterial cultures were filtered and tested for the presence of active proteases in protease zymograms (see supplementary materials and methods). Two proteases were detected in the supernatant of wild-type Db11

strain, which were not present in that of the protease mutants as well as the nonpathogenic *E*. *coli* strain.

Fig. S2 : Bacteria mutant for the *fliR* gene are non-motile

The DsRed derivative of wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11, as well as the spontaneous revertant strain 12 H12^{RT}, are motile and form a circle around its growing colonies. The *fliR* mutants and the original transposon 19 H12 mutants, however, are nonmotile and do not form such circle consisting of the swimming bacteria.

Fig. S3 : *fliR* mutants slowly kill phagocytosis-deficient *eater* mutants flies

The survival experiment was performed in orally infected *eater* mutant flies following the protocol described in (Nehme et al., 2007). In this protocol no sucrose is added to the vials during the infection. The *fliR* mutants as well the strain 19 H12 killed flies slower than the wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11. However, the strain 19 H12 killed flies much faster as compared to *fliR* mutants. This observation may be accounted for by a high rate of spontaneous reversion that was observed in 19 H12 mutants in motility assays.

Fig. S4 : *fliR* mutants are as pathogenic as wild-type Serratia in septic injury model

Wild-type flies succumbed to *fliR* mutants as fast as to wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11 in the pricking assay, suggesting that nonmotile *fliR* mutants are still pathogenic when introduced directly in the hemocoel.

Fig. S5 : Wild-type Db11, and not *fliR* mutants, invade the midgut epithelium

(A-D2) The DsRed derivatives of the wild-type *S. marcescens* strain Db11 crossed the brush border and invaded the enterocytes of the *Drosophila* midgut epithelium. (a-d2) *fliR* mutants,

however, were found only in the vicinity of the epithelial cells. Note the colocalization of fluorescent bacteria (*red* (A and a)) and the nuclear stain DAPI (*blue* (B and b)), confirming the presence of live bacterial cells.

Fig. S6 : Wild-type Db11, E. coli and fliR mutants adhere to S2 cells to the same extent

S2 cells were incubated with bacteria followed by washing without the gentamicin treatment. This yielded a number of total bacteria including the ones that had invaded the cells. Therefore, the number of bacterial cells that had invaded the S2 cells (Fig. 3C) was then subtracted from the total number of bacteria to obtain the number of bacteria sticking to the surface of cells.



Fig. 1



Fig. 2





Fig. 3



Fig. 4



Fig. S1









Fig. S2



Fig. S3


Fig. S4



Fig. S5



Fig. S6

5. The Toll pathway: from immunity to metabolism

5.1. *MyD88* protective during septic injury but enhances susceptibility to starvation

Preface

The Toll pathway is activated after septic injury with Gram-positive bacteria, providing protection to the flies against this category of microbes. The local immune responses, however, are IMD pathway-, and not Toll pathway-, dependent. The antimicrobial defense in the Drosophila intestine against Gram-positive bacteria remains undiscovered. We therefore used а Gram-positive bacterium Staphylococcus xylosus strain Argentoratum, which was originally isolated from moribund flies in our laboratory at UPR9022, IBMC, Strasbourg, to investigate a role of the Toll pathway in the Drosophila intestine. In septic infections, S. xylosus was pathogenic in a concentration-dependent manner. The Toll pathway as well as phagocytosis provided protection to the flies against S. xylosus. Surprisingly, when provided orally to the flies the Toll pathway, MyD88, mutant flies survived better than the wild-type controls. Later on, we demonstrated that the flies actually died because of starvation and that the MyD88 flies were more resistant to starvation. Moreover, following one day of starvation, wild-type flies lost more than 80% of total fat content while only 20% of such loss was observed in MyD88 mutants suggesting that the starvation resistance phenotype observed in MyD88 flies was mediated through fat metabolism. We thus discovered a novel role of MyD88 gene in addition to its known functions during early development and immunity.

A negative role of *MyD88* in the resistance to starvation as revealed in an intestinal infection of *Drosophila melanogaster* with the Gram-positive bacterium *Staphylococcus xylosus*

Running Head: MyD88 in starvation resistance

Arshad Ayyaz, Philippe Giammarinaro¹, Samuel Liégeois², and Dominique Ferrandon*

UPR9022 du CNRS, Université de Strasbourg, Equipe Fondation Recherche Médicale, Institut de Biologie Moleculaire et Cellulaire, 15, rue R. Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg Cedex, France

Current addresses: ¹ UMR1225 IHAP, Ecole nationale vétérinaire de Toulouse, 23, Chemin des Capelles, 31076 Toulouse Cedex, France

² Laboratory Thomas Boehm, Max-Planck Institute of Immunobiology and Epigenetics, Stübeweg 51, D-79108 Freiburg, Germany

* Corresponding author: Tel: (33) 3 88 41 70 17; Fax: (33) 3 88 60 69 22; e-mail: D.Ferrandon@ibmc-cnrs.unistra.fr

Key words: Drosophila, immunity, lipid, metabolism, MyD88, Staphylococcus, starvation.

Abbreviations:

AMP: Antimicrobial peptides

CGD: Chronic granulomatous

DIF: Dorsal-related immunity factor

FOXO: Forkhead box O

GNBP3: Gram negative protein 3

IMD: Immune deficiency

ISC: Intestinal stem cell

IRC: Immune response catalase

JAK/STAT: Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription

NADPH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase

PGN: Peptidoglycan

PGRP: Peptidoglycan recognition protein

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

PRR: Pattern recognition receptor

SPZ: Spätzle

TLR: Toll like receptor

UV: Ultra violet

Abstract

Drosophila melanogaster is a useful model to investigate mucosal immunity. The immune response to intestinal infections is mediated partly by the Immune deficiency (IMD) pathway, which gets activated by structural compounds that are missing in several medicallyimportant Gram-positive bacterial species such as Staphylococcus. Thus, the intestinal host defense against such bacterial strains remains poorly known. Here, we have used S. xylosus to develop a model of intestinal infections by Gram-positive bacteria. S. xylosus behaves as an opportunistic pathogen in a septic injury model, being able to kill only flies immunodeficient either for the Toll pathway or the cellular response. When ingested, it is controlled by IMDindependent host intestinal defenses, yet flies eventually die. Having excluded an overreaction of the immune response and the action of toxins, we find that flies actually succumb to starvation, likely as a result of a competition for sucrose between the bacteria and the flies. Fat stores of wild-type flies are severely reduced within a day, a period when sucrose is not yet exhausted in the feeding solution. Interestingly, the Toll pathway mutant MyD88 is more resistant to the ingestion of S. xylosus and to starvation than wild-type flies. MyD88 flies do not rapidly deplete their fat stores when starved, in contrast to wild-type flies. Thus, we have uncovered a novel function of MyD88 in the regulation of metabolism that appears to be independent of its known roles in immunity and development.

Introduction

Drosophila melanogaster feeds on decaying fruits and vegetables and thus lives in a microbe-rich environment. As a result of constant interactions with its septic environment, *Drosophila* has evolved a sophisticated host defense that generally allows it to contain potentially hazardous microorganisms. The phagocytosis of microbes by circulating hemocytes and the secretion of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), respectively the cellular and humoral immune responses, constitute the major *Drosophila* defense mechanisms against infections (Ferrandon et al, 2007; Lemaitre & Hoffmann, 2007). AMPs are either secreted systemically or can be produced locally by contact epithelia (Akhouayri et al, 2011; Ferrandon et al, 1998; Han et al, 2004; Tzou et al, 2000).

Following a septic injury, AMPs are secreted by the fat body, a functional analog of the mammalian liver, into the fly hemolymph. Microbes are either recognized through their structural components or alternatively by the enzymatic activity of microbial virulence factors (Gottar et al, 2006). On the basis of differences in the chemical properties of microbial structural compounds, *Drosophila* is able to distinguish between different categories of microbes and, to some extent, activate the relevant antimicrobial response (reviewed by (Ferrandon et al, 2007)). Gram-negative bacteria, for instance, are recognized by the Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) Peptidoglycan Recognition Protein-LC (PGRP-LC) and PGRP-LE. These receptors sense Gram-negative bacteria and Gram-positive bacilli through their meso-diaminopimelic acid-containing peptidoglycans (DAP-type PGNs) and subsequently activate the Immune deficiency (IMD) pathway, which ultimately leads to the nuclear localization of Relish, a NF- κ B family transcription factor. Nuclear Relish transcribes AMP genes such as *Diptericin, Drosocin, Attacins*, and *Cecropins* that are active against this category of microbes. Fungi and some Gram-positive bacteria are sensed via their ß(1,3)glucans or via their Lysine type peptidoglycans (Lys-type PGNs). This recognition event involves respectively Gram Negative Protein 3 (GNBP3) for fungi and a complex comprising the secreted proteins PGRP-SA, PGRP-SD, and GNBP1 for the Gram-positive bacteria. The detection of these microbes activates proteolytic cascades that ultimately lead to the cleavage of the Spätzle cytokine (SPZ) into a ligand of the transmembrane Toll receptor. Toll activation triggers the nuclear localization of DIF in a DmelMyD88-dependent manner. The NF-kappaB transcription factor DIF in turn transcribes AMP genes encoding antifungal peptides such as Drosomycin and Metchnikowin. Interestingly, the only AMP active against Gram-positive bacteria is Defensin, the expression of which can be induced by IMD and Toll pathway activation (Dimarcq et al, 1994; Imler & Bulet, 2005; Nehme et al, 2011).

The *Drosophila* gut is equipped with physical and chemical barriers that contain microbes within the digestive tract. The peritrophic matrix is the first line of defense restricting the microbes to the lumen and prevents their direct contact with epithelial cells (Kuraishi et al, 2011). It thus fulfils a function analogous to that of mucus in vertebrates. AMPs are also secreted by the epithelial cells. However, this local AMPs secretion is IMD pathway-, and not *Toll* pathway-dependent (Liehl et al, 2006; Nehme et al, 2007; Ryu et al, 2006). A finely regulated induction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is also triggered against ingested microrganisms (Bae et al, 2010; Ha et al, 2005a; Ha et al, 2005b). In addition to its resistance to microbes, *Drosophila* has developed endurance mechanisms to withstand and repair the damages caused by pathogenic bacteria. Gut homeostasis, in this case, is maintained by the compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cell (ISC) (Biteau & Jasper, 2011; Buchon et al, 2009a; Buchon et al, 2010; Buchon et al, 2009b; Cronin et al, 2009; Jiang et al, 2011; Jiang et al, 2009). Most of these studies, however, have been performed using Gramnegative bacterial species.

The human intestine harbours hundreds of bacterial species (Qin et al, 2010). Any change in balanced interactions between intestinal microbes and the host immune system can lead to inflammatory disorders (Chassaing & Darfeuille-Michaud, 2011; Wells et al, 2011). Moreover, Firmicutes, a phylum that mostly consists of Gram-positive bacteria, is a major microbial population inhabiting the human intestine. In mammals, many physiological complications like obesity (Kallus & Brandt, 2012), insulin resistance (De Bandt et al, 2011), and Toll like receptors (TLRs)-mediated inflammation have been found to be associated with an abnormal proportion of Firmicutes (Caricilli et al, 2012; Serino et al, 2011). The *Drosophila* microbiota is made up of only 5 to 20 bacterial species. Interestingly, the microbiota is mainly dominated by Firmicutes, such as *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Lactobacillus plantarum*, and Proteobacter like *Acetobacter pomorum* (Cox & Gilmore, 2007; Ren et al, 2007; Roh et al, 2008; Shin et al, 2011; **Storelli** et al, 2011; Wong et al, 2011).

Staphylococcus xylosus is a Lys-type PGN containing Gram-positive bacterium that belongs to the phylum Firmicutes. It is a commensal of mucus and skin in mammals (Hariharan et al, 2011; Kloos & Schleifer, 1986; Kloos et al, 1976; Nagase et al, 2002). *S. xylosus* can be found in various niches like polluted water (Kessie et al, 1998), animal fodder and grains (Pioch et al, 1988), soil and various surfaces (Shale et al, 2005). It can form biofilms (Planchon et al, 2009; Planchon et al, 2006) and can adapt to various environmental conditions. *S. xylosus* is a natural component of raw meat and milk. It is used as a starter medium in the meat and milk fermentation industry (Kloos & Schleifer, 1986; Talon et al, 2002). Moreover, the zinc-dependent metallolipase produced by *S. xylosus* is extensively used by the biotransformation industry (Bertoldo et al, 2011).

S. xylosus is normally considered to be a nonpathogenic *Staphylococcus* but some strains are opportunistic in humans and animals (Bingel, 2002; Bradfield et al, 1993; Fthenakis et al, 1994; Jackson et al, 2001; Miedzobrodzki et al, 1989). In humans *S. xylosus*

has been found associated with endocarditis (Conrad & West, 1984), septicemia (Koksal et al, 2009), acute pyelonephritis (Tselenis-Kotsowilis et al, 1982) and chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (Gozalo et al, 2010). CGD is caused by genetic disorders in humans that affect one component of NADPH oxidase and lead to recurrent bacterial and fungal infections (Roos et al, 2007). Indeed, *S. xylosus* was reported to be the major cause of death for mice deficient in NADPH oxidase (Gozalo et al, 2010). Genetic variation observed between 24 different strains of *S. xylosus* divided them into two distinct groups based on their potential to become opportunistic pathogens (Dordet-Frisoni et al, 2007a).

Our knowledge about the *Drosophila* gut defense responses against Lys-type PGN Gram-positive bacteria is very limited. Indeed, the major AMP response described in the intestinal epithelium is controlled by the IMD pathway, which cannot be activated by these bacteria. We therefore used a *S. xylosus* strain Argentoratum originally isolated from microsporidia-infected fly stocks found in our laboratory in Strasbourg. In this work, we first found that *S. xylosus* behaves as a classical Gram-positive bacterium upon septic injury. Second, we showed that flies fed on a *S. xylosus* containing solution succumbed faster than uninfected controls. We than discovered that the Toll pathway mutant *MyD88* were more resistant to an oral challenge with *S. xylosus* as compared to wild-type flies and to starvation. These data allow us to uncover a potential link between innate immune genes and lipid metabolism.

Materials and methods

Fly strains.

Flies were reared at 25°C on standard corneal-agar medium. *cn bw* flies were used as wild-type control for *Dif* mutants flies (Rutschmann et al, 2000) while A5001 were wild-type controls for *MyD88^{c03881}* (Tauszig-Delamasure et al, 2002), *key*, and rescue strains with a UAS-MyD88⁺ transgene (Tauszig-Delamasure et al, 2002). The NP1-Gal4 driver line was obtained from DGRC, Japan. All crosses to generate transgenetic rescue fly lines were performed at 25°C.

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

S. xylosus strain named Argentoratum was isolated from moribund Oregon flies at UPR9022, IBMC. The flies were later found to be infected by microsporidia as well. Another *S. xylosus* strain C2a is described in (Dordet-Frisoni et al, 2007a; Dordet-Frisoni et al, 2007b). Colonies naturally resistant to streptomycin ($100\mu g/mL$) were selected to establish stock in 20% glycerol stored at -80° C. Before infection bacteria were grown at 37°C overnight in LB containing Streptomycin ($100\mu g/mL$).

Pricking assay:

Bacteria were pelleted to the equivalent of an optical density of about 200 at 600nm (OD₆₀₀) from an overnight culture grown at 37°C in Luria-Bertani broth (LB). A tungsten needle was either directly dipped in this pellet or the bacteria were first diluted to an optical density of 6 before challenging flies (20 flies/survival experiment) by pricking with the contaminated needle. Survival experiments were performed at 25°C and survival data was collected at least once a day. Survival curves were statistically analysed using the Log Rank

test as implemented in Prism software. Each survival curve is a representative of at least three survival experiments.

Oral infection

Bacteria were grown overnight in LB to an OD of 4, diluted to an OD of 0.4 (equivalent to approximately 6x10⁷ bacteria/mL) in sucrose (50mM) solution containing Streptomycin (100µg/mL). The bacterial solution was then used to soak filter pads (Millipore) placed at the bottom of fly culture vials before adding the flies. To block the effects of the ROS response, N-acetylcysteine (Sigma) was added to the bacterial solution to a final concentration of 20mM. All survival experiments were performed at 25°C and survival was monitored at least once per day. LT50 (logEC50) values were calculated using Prism software.

Starvation

Sterile water was directly added to filter pads in medium sized tubes before transferring flies. Experiments were kept at 25°C and fly survival was monitored twice per day.

Fat Quantification

Male flies were crushed in 0.05% tween (Sigma), heated at 70°C for 5 minutes and centrifuged at 5000 rpm to remove debris. Samples were then mixed with Thermo Infinity Trig. Solution and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. The Infinity Trig. Solution contains many reagents including lipase that first converts triglycerides into glycerol. A series of chemical reactions convert glycerol to hydrogen peroxide that in turn produces a red dye. The absorbance of this dye is measured at 570 nm at Mithras LB 940 (Berthold Technologies),

which is proportional to the concentration of the total fats in the sample. Percentage fat loss was calculated by the following formula:

Fat Loss (%) = $[(F_{0h} - F_{24h}) / F_{0h}] \times 100$, where F_{0h} is the initial fat content and F_{24h} is the fat content after 24 hours of beginning of oral feeding with *S. xylosus* (Fig. 3A) or food starvation (Fig. 4B) at 25°C.

Glycogen Quantification

Male flies were crushed in 0.05% tween (Sigma) and centrifuged. Supernatants were treated with freshly prepared Amyloglucosidase (Sigma; 0.1mg/mL) and incubated at 37°C for 3 minutes to covert polysaccharide chains of glycogen into simple glucose molecules. The samples were then added to Infinity Glucose Reagent (Thermo) in a ratio of 1:100 and incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C. This converts glucose to reduced Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide (NADH). Amount of NADH produced is measured at fluorescence at F355/F460 (excitation and emission respectively) on a Mithras LB 940 (Berthold Technologies), which is proportional to concentration of glucose in the sample. Percentage glycogen loss was calculated by the following formula:

Glycogen Loss (%) = $[(G_{0h} - G_{24h})/G_{0h}] \times 100$, where G_{0h} is the initial glycogen contents and G_{24h} is the glycogen contents after 24 hours of starvation at 25°C.

Sucrose Quantification

Samples directly collected from infected filters were mixed with Invertase (Sigma) in final concentration of 2mg/mL and incubated for 2 hours at 55°C. This converts disaccharide sucrose molecules into fructose and glucose (monosaccharides). Samples were then directly added to Infinity Glucose Reagent (Thermo) in a ratio of 1:100, and further treated as described in glycogen quantification.

Blockade of phagocytosis:

Blockade of phagocytosis was achieved by injecting non-degradable latex beads with the NanojectII (Drummond). Gut dissections and collection of hemolymph to monitor bacterial titre were also performed as described in (Nehme et al, 2007).

Results

S. xylosus Argentoratum is a virulent pathogen in the septic injury model

To determine whether S. xylosus is a virulent bacterium able to overcome Drosophila host defenses, we first challenged flies in the septic injury model using a needle that had been first dipped into a concentrated bacterial pellet. Both wild-type and Toll pathway mutants such as MyD88 and Dif mutant flies succumbed to the infection within two days (Fig. 1A). However, when challenged with a needle dipped into a diluted bacterial solution (equivalent to OD6) wild-type flies were much more resistant to the infection than Toll pathway mutants (Fig. 1A). This result is in keeping with results gained with other LYS-type PGN bacteria (Michel et al, 2001; Rutschmann et al, 2002). Both wild-type flies and Toll pathway mutants resisted an infection with about 10 bacteria (corresponding to a needle dipped into a bacterial solution of OD 0.6). Of note, *Toll* pathway mutants challenged with a nonpathogenic strain of S. xylosus (needle dipped into an OD6 equivalent), C2a, resisted the infection like wild-type flies (data not shown). The expression of Drosomycin-GFP, a classical transgenic read-out of the systemic activation of the Toll pathway, was induced after infection with S. xylosus, which suggests that the bacterium is efficiently detected by the fly immune system (Fig. 1B). Next, we assessed the importance of the cellular immune response. When phagocytosis had been saturated by the prior injection of nondegradable latex-beads, flies succumbed to about ten bacteria in about two days, independently of the host genotype (data not shown). In keeping with this result, S. xylosus were able to proliferate only when the cellular immune response was impaired, either by latex beads or in mutants for the phagocytic receptor *Eater* (Kocks et al, 2005) (Fig. 1C). However, C2a proliferated to a 100-fold lower level when tested under the same conditions (data not shown). These results underscore the importance of phagocytosis in controlling virulent S. xylosus systemic infections, as described previously for

other Gram-positive bacteria (Charroux & Royet, 2009; Defaye et al, 2009; Nehme et al, 2011). Taken together, these experiments indicate that virulent *S. xylosus* behaves rather like *Enterococcus faecalis* in the septic injury model (Michel et al, 2001; Rutschmann et al, 2002).

S. xylosus is less virulent in an intestinal infection model and apparently kills MyD88 mutants less rapidly than wild-type flies

We asked whether S. xylosus might be used to model intestinal infections by Grampositive bacteria. Thus, we assessed the behavior of S. xylosus after oral infection, in which overnight bacterial cultures are diluted one to ten in a sucrose solution and then placed on a filter onto which flies feed. Moisture was kept constant usually by adding water to the vials everyday. Wild-type and kenny (IMD pathway mutant) flies succumbed at the same rate (Fig. 2A) with 50% of flies dying by five days (LT50=4.9). However, MyD88 flies were surprisingly killed more than one and a half day later (LT50=6.6) (Fig. 2B). The IMD pathway is a major defense against Gram-negative bacterial infections in barrier epithelia. In keeping with the kenny survival data (Fig. 2A), we failed to detect a consistent induction of the IMD pathway reporter transgene Dipt-LacZ in the digestive tract of S. xylosus-infected flies (Fig. S1). As some bacteria are able to cross the intestinal barrier, we asked if this were the case for S. xylosus and whether bacteria proliferating in the hemocoel might provoke the death of the fly, as observed with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Limmer et al. 2011). While we consistently retrieved very few bacteria from the hemolymph of orally-infected flies, the titer remained constant throughout the infection in wild-type flies (Fig. 2C). To further test a possible involvement of hemolymphatic S. xylosus, we neutralized phagocytosis with latex beads. Wild-type flies displayed a weakly enhanced susceptibility to ingested S. xylosus when phagocytosis was impaired (LT50=4.3) while MyD88 mutant resistance was unchanged (LT50=6.6) (Fig. 2D). Furthermore, the bacterial titer in the hemolymph remained moderate

in phagocytosis-impaired flies as compared to untreated flies (only a tenfold increase and no exponential growth as observed with other models (Limmer et al, 2011; Nehme et al, 2007)) (Fig. 2E). Interestingly, there was no significative difference of the hemolymphatic bacterial titer between wild-type and *MyD88* mutant flies after the first day of infection. These results show that *MyD88* mutants are more resistant than wild-type flies in a *S. xylosus* intestinal infection model.

To identify the tissue in which the wild-type MyD88 gene might be acting to sensitize flies to ingested S. xylosus, we attempted to reverse the MyD88 enhanced survival phenotype by overexpressing a wild-type version of the gene specifically in either of two immunerelevant tissues, hemocytes or enterocytes, in MyD88 mutant flies. This was achieved by using a transgenic construct, the expression of which was driven using the Gal4/UAS system and either the hemolectin Delta-Gal4 driver (hemocytes) or the NP1-Gal4 driver (enterocytes). We found that the MyD88 mutant phenotype was reversed only when the transgene was expressed in the midgut (Fig. S2). We thus dissected midguts at various stages and stained them with phalloidin-FITC to reveal the morphology of enterocytes when observed by confocal microscopy. We failed to detect any striking morphological differences between S. xylosus-orally infected wild-type flies and control flies fed on a sucrose solution (Fig. S3). In contrast to flies orally infected with Serratia marcescens in which the bacterial titer in the gut increases throughout the infection, we found that the S. xylosus titer in dissected guts was constantly low (Fig. S4) and, for instance, was 500-fold lower than the S. marcescens titer after five days of infection. This suggested that S. xylosus was kept under control by midgut host defenses. As the IMD pathway is apparently not induced, the major known remaining defense is the microbial reactive oxygen species (ROS) response, generated by DUOX (Ha et al, 2005a). The immune response catalase (IRC) is necessary in the gut to protect the host against detrimental effects of ROS: in fact ROS are able to kill the IRC

deficient flies, even when triggered by dead bacteria (Ha et al, 2005b). We therefore asked whether too strong a ROS-response might be causing the death of flies that have ingested S. xylosus. Adding N-acetyl cysteine to the food solution has been reported to alleviate the ROS response (Ha et al, 2005a). This treatment is indeed able to effectively prevent the oxidative response since it inhibits the activation of a transgenic bacterial catalase reporter (Fig. S5). Then, we fed flies with a mixture of S. xylosus and N-acetyl cysteine. This treatment did not significantly improve the survival of flies to ingested S. xylosus (Fig. 2F). The ROS response is also able to cause severe damage to the gut within a few hours when strongly triggered by the Gram-negative bacterium Erwinia carotovora carotovora. However, gut damages are repaired within 48 hours through the compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells, a process that is partially dependent on the JAK-STAT pathway (Bach et al, 2007). We thus monitored the expression of a transgenic construct in which GFP expression is regulated by a promoter that contains ten STAT binding elements. This construct is activated in several gut damage models (Buchon et al, 2009a; Buchon et al, 2009b; Cronin et al, 2009; Jiang et al, 2009). However, w failed to observe any consistent induction of this reporter in flies that had ingested S. xylosus (Fig. S6). Taken together, these experiments suggest that midgut damages are not the cause of the demise of the infected flies.

Next, we asked whether flies might be killed by a toxin secreted by the bacteria. Flies fed on bacteria in which the culture supernatant had been removed by centrifugation died at the same rate as flies fed on bacteria according to our standard protocol, while flies fed on the supernatant alone did not die (Fig. S7). Flies fed on UV-killed or heat-killed bacteria also survived the experiment (Fig. S7). Moreover, our *S. xylosus* strain tested negative by PCR for the presence of enterotoxin A to H. In conclusion, flies were apparently not killed by a secreted toxin.

Flies fed on S. xylosus likely die from starvation

To monitor the general physiological state of the flies, we measured the total fat in flies that had fed on *S. xylosus*. Wild-type flies lost about 70% of their fat reserves already 24 hours after the beginning of the oral infection; total fat remained constant thereafter (Fig. 3A). This suggested that such a drastic loss might at least be partially caused by starvation. Flies appeared to feed normally as monitored by adding dextran-blue (1%) to the bacterial solution (data not shown). We supplemented the vials daily with a sucrose solution (sucrose regimen) or water (water regimen). The sucrose regimen rescued the survival of the flies independently of their genotypes after an oral infection (Fig. 3C: compare *MyD88* to wild-type flies under sucrose and water). LT50 data are shown in Fig. 3D for flies under the water regimen (they could not be computed for flies under sucrose regimen since they were not dead when we stopped the experiment after 12 days). We checked that the sucrose concentration was significantly declining on the filters after 3 days only in the water regimen, and not in sucrose regimen (Fig. 3B). Interestingly, flies on the sucrose regimen regained their fat stores three to four days after the beginning of the infection (Fig. 3A). These experiments strongly suggest that flies actually succumb to starvation and not to the infection.

MyD88 mutant flies resist starvation better than wild-type flies

If death were indeed due to starvation, one would expect that *MyD88* mutants would display a higher resistance to starvation. We therefore deprived flies of food by placing them on filters moistened only with pure sterile water. *MyD88* males and females succumbed about one and a half day later than wild-type flies (males: 1.2 days; females: 1.5 days based on LT50s) (Fig. 4A and data not shown). We then revisited the tissue-specific genetic rescue experiments of the *MyD88* phenotype to determine whether the resistance to starvation was due to a *MyD88* function limited to the midgut. We added additional controls to the

genotypes: UAS-MyD88⁺/+; MyD88/MyD88; hml-Gal4/+ (1xUAS-XChr-hml) for the rescue in hemocytes (transgene heterozygous, one copy on the X) and UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺; MyD88/MyD88, NP1-Gal4 (2xUAS-XChr-NP1) for the rescue in the gut. Thus, the female flies for which there was a rescue when challenged with S. xylosus (NP1 midgut driver) were actually homozygous for the UAS-MyD88 transgene insertion on the X chromosome (two copies of the transgene). We thus asked whether the rescue was dependent on the number of copies of the transgene. We first analyzed the survival to starvation of MyD88 flies carrying two copies of the wild-type UAS-MyD88 on the X chromosome and of flies containing only one copy, both carrying also the NP1 midgut driver. As shown in Fig. 4A and Fig. S8, whereas the former did rescue the MyD88 starvation phenotype, the latter did not. However, this result was unlikely to be due to the presence of two copies of the transgene in the genotype as flies carrying also two copies of the transgene, this time on two distinct chromosomes (X and 2nd) did not rescue the phenotype (Fig. S8). Thus, the alternate interpretation is that the transgene inserted on the X chromosome inactivates a resident gene, which would be a recessive suppressor of MyD88. Indeed, flies in which the trangene insertion on X is homozygous (females) or hemizygous (males) do display the reversed phenotype (Figs. 4, S8, and data not shown). If this interpretation were correct, then one would expect that the rescue is independent of the expression of the transgene, that is, a rescue should be still observed in the absence of the NP1 driver. This is the result we actually observed as shown on Fig. 4 (compare 2xUAS-XChr-NP1 to 2xUAS-XChr). The homozygous insertion of the transgene on the second chromosome did not rescue the MyD88 starvation phenotype (Figs. 4 and S8). We conclude that the transgene insertion on the X chromosome inactivates a gene that behaves as a recessive suppressor of the MyD88 starvation resistance phenotype. This suppressor is specific of the food deprivation phenotype

as *MyD88* flies that carry the homozygous transgene insertion on the X remained sterile and were still sensitive to a challenge with *E. faecalis* (data not shown).

Finally, we further investigated the MyD88 starvation resistance phenotype. To this end, we measured metabolic stores in males that are wild-type, MyD88, and hemizygous for the X chromosome suppressor (UAS-MyD88⁺/Y; MyD88/MyD88, NP1-Gal4), which partially reverse the starvation resistance phenotype in terms of survival (data not shown) after 24 hours of starvation. While glycogen stores were depleted for all genotypes (Fig. 4B), we found that total fat loss was much less important (20%) in MyD88 flies than in wild-type and transgenic rescue flies that succumb rapidly to starvation (Fig. 4B and C). We conclude that the wild-type MyD88 gene is directly or indirectly required for the depletion of fat stores when flies are starved.

Discussion

While attempting to model intestinal infections by opportunistic Gram-positive bacteria in *Drosophila*, we have discovered that flies continuously ingesting *S. xylosus* were actually succumbing to starvation in a process that is facilitated by *MyD88*, a Toll pathway intracellular adapter component. Strikingly, food deprivation led to a drastic and rapid *MyD88*-dependent loss of metabolic fat stores.

S. xylosus Argentoratum behaves like a classical Gram-positive opportunistic pathogen (*e.g., E. faecalis*) in the septic injury model as it efficiently kills Toll pathway mutants or phagocytosis-impaired flies, but not wild-type flies (Michel et al, 2001; Nehme et al, 2011; Rutschmann et al, 2002). Interestingly, another strain of *S. xylosus*, which has been described as nonpathogenic, C2a, is also not an opportunistic pathogen in immunodeficient flies. When ingested, very few *S. xylosus* Argentoratum bacteria manage to cross the gut. We have previously described other intestinal infection models in which Gram-negative bacteria such

as *S. marcescens* escape from the gut. Phagocytosis of *S. marcescens* in the hemocoel by hemocytes is sufficient to prevent their proliferation (Kocks et al, 2005; Nehme et al, 2007). Surprisingly, although the injection of ten *S. xylosus* bacteria in latex bead-treated *MyD88* flies kill those flies, an equivalent number of *S. xylosus* fail to proliferate under the same conditions after their passage through the intestinal barrier (Fig. 1C). One possibility is that bacteria that have crossed the gut have changed their virulence program. Alternatively, they may have come to be weak, for instance after undergoing alterations in their cell wall as a consequence of midgut host defenses. Consequently, once arrived in the hemocoel, they would become sensitive to another arm of the host defense, *e.g.*, melanization (Matskevich et al, 2010), which normally is not sufficient to kill them.

A striking finding is that known epithelial immune responses are mediated via the IMD pathway (Ferrandon et al, 1998; Han et al, 2004; Tzou et al, 2000). This pathway is induced by DAP-type PGN, which is not found in *Staphylococci*. Thus, it is not unexpected that the IMD pathway is not triggered by an oral challenge with *S. xylosus*. However, we find that the number of viable *S. xylosus* found in the digestive tract remains low throughout most of the infection, which suggests that some host defense is able to control it. These host defenses may include digestive enzymes such as lysozymes (Daffre et al, 1994; Hultmark, 1994) or the DUOX-mediated ROS response. Of note, we failed to find any indication of an overreaction of the oxidative immune response that would damage the gut (Figs. S1, S3, & S6), as has been described in other systems (Buchon et al, 2009a). However, we note that we are using a much lower amount of bacteria in our infection model; thus, we might not have reached the threshold that leads to a destructive response.

We did not find any evidence for the action of a toxin. Indeed, simply adding sucrose to the vials was sufficient to rescue the lethality observed in our model. In addition, we did not observe any obvious modification of the digestive epithelium (Fig. S3) nor an induction of the JAK-STAT pathway (Fig. S6), which is induced by many stresses. As control flies feeding on a sucrose solution survive at least for 12 days, it is likely that there is a competition for sucrose uptake between bacteria and flies, a phenomenon we have observed with other bacteria (unpublished data). Furthermore, our experiments suggest that, even though flies express enzymes able to degrade the bacterial cell wall such as lyzozymes and amidases, they nevertheless are not able to feed on them. We note that sucrose depletion begins around day 4 (Fig. 3B) and that flies succumb one to two days later, which is approximately the time it takes them to die from starvation. The striking result is that fat reserves are depleted very rapidly 24 hours after an oral challenge with S. xylosus (Fig. 3A), even though there is still at that time enough sucrose to feed on. Indeed, orally-infected flies appear to display a marked reduction of their glycogen stores only on the fourth day of the infection (data not shown). Furthermore, we note that fat stores are progressively replenished within three days when sucrose is added to the infection vials on a daily basis. As a basis for comparison, flies systemically infected with Mycobacterium marinum, which induces wasting, undergo this degree of loss only after seven days, when they are about to succumb to the infection (Dionne et al, 2006). Interestingly, the important depletion of fat stores we have observed in our oral infection model may be linked to the bacterial infection per se and not to a possible deprivation of amino acids, as preliminary data indicate that flies starved for amino acids (feeding on sucrose only) for 24 hours only lose 40% of such reserves. As this effect is observed rapidly even though there is still enough sucrose, it suggests that it is a distinct phenomenon from what occurs when flies are totally deprived of food. Thus, it will be interesting to determine the physiological basis for this effect. We note that S. xylosus strains secrete an extracellular lipase (Bertoldo et al, 2011; Kolling et al, 2010; Rosenstein & Gotz, 2000) that could be involved in fat reserve depletion.

In larvae, it is known that starvation leads to a depletion of triglycerides stores in the fat body, partially through the Brummer lipase (Gronke et al, 2005). Released lipids are then metabolized in oenocytes, which perform a function similar to mammalian hepatocytes (Gutierrez et al, 2007). We did not find any indication of a significant increase in Brummer expression in wild-type starved adult flies (data not shown). Thus, lipid mobilization might be performed by another lipase in starved adults, lipase 3 for instance. As regards the Toll pathway, it has recently been reported that its activation by an immune challenge leads to an attenuation of insulin signaling, leading for instance to the nuclear localisation of the FOXO transcription factor, with a concomitant mild decrease in fat stores (DiAngelo et al, 2009). Here, we observe that there is a much reduced decrease of fat stores upon starvation in MyD88 mutants as compared to wild-type flies (Fig. 4B and C). This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that the utilization of triglycerides during starvation may be mediated by the Toll pathway. Indeed, a mild FOXO-mediated increase of AMP expression has been reported in starved second instar larvae, which is much less intense than that occuring during the systemic immune response. Thus, one might envision that Toll pathway activation would lead to the nuclear localisation of FOXO, which in turn would drive AMP, especially Drosomycin, expression. However, no significant induction of Drosomycin or other AMPs has been observed after 24 hour of nutrient deprivation of adult flies (Buch et al, 2008), a result we confirmed as regards *Drosomycin* (data not shown). Thus, we have no indication that there is indeed an activation of the Toll pathway during the first 24 hours of starvation in adults, at least one that would yield an activation of the systemic immune response. As Drosomycin expression might not be a relevant read-out of Toll pathway activation under these circumstances, we therefore privileged a genetic approach and asked whether another Toll pathway gene, Dif (Rutschmann et al, 2000), was also involved in the fat loss that we observe 24 hours after the beginning of nutrient deprivation. We found that Dif mutants were dying from starvation almost at the same rate as MyD88 flies. However, because Dif mutants have been generated in another genetic background, we included nonmutagenized flies as controls in this experiment and found that they were resisting starvation even better than Dif mutants (data not shown). Thus, while these experiments suggest that Dif may not be involved in that phenomenon, we cannot formally rule out a role for other genes of the Toll pathway, for instance *Dorsal*, which encodes the other transcription factor regulated by the Toll pathway that is mostly used during development. We note that Dorsal and Dif are functionally partially redundant as regards the immune response in larvae, but not in adults (Manfruelli et al, 1999; Meng et al, 1999; Rutschmann et al, 2000). Another possibility is that MyD88 may have a Toll-independent function activated during starvation. This hypothesis is supported by the discovery of a recessive suppressor of MyD88, which suppresses only the starvation but not the developmental or immune phenotypes of MyD88 (Charatsi et al, 2003; Tauszig-Delamasure et al, 2002). The analysis of the suppressor mutation that we have identified by the insertion of a wild-type MvD88 transposon on the X chromosome will likely shed some light on this issue. One important conclusion of this study is that MyD88 may play a third role beyond those described in development and innate immunity.

Acknowledgements:

We thank M. C. Lafarge and J. Bourdeaux for technical support. We are grateful to Dr. R. Talon and Dr. S. Leroy for providing C2a strain. We express gratitude to Dr. S. Chtarbanova and other lab members for discussion. This work was financed by Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique; Fondation Recherche Médicale (Equipe Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale) (D.F.); and the Higher Education Commission, Pakistan.

Bibliography

Akhouayri I, Turc C, Royet J, Charroux B (2011) Toll-8/Tollo negatively regulates antimicrobial response in the Drosophila respiratory epithelium. *PLoS pathogens* **7**(10): e1002319

Bach EA, Ekas LA, Ayala-Camargo A, Flaherty MS, Lee H, Perrimon N, Baeg GH (2007) GFP reporters detect the activation of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway in vivo. *Gene Expr Patterns* **7**(3): 323-331

Bae YS, Choi MK, Lee WJ (2010) Dual oxidase in mucosal immunity and host-microbe homeostasis. *Trends in immunology* **31**(7): 278-287

Bertoldo JB, Razzera G, Vernal J, Brod FC, Arisi AC, Terenzi H (2011) Structural stability of Staphylococcus xylosus lipase is modulated by Zn(2+) ions. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1814**(9): 1120-1126

Bingel SA (2002) Pathology of a mouse model of x-linked chronic granulomatous disease. *Contemporary topics in laboratory animal science / American Association for Laboratory Animal Science* **41**(5): 33-38

Biteau B, Jasper H (2011) EGF signaling regulates the proliferation of intestinal stem cells in Drosophila. *Development (Cambridge, England)* **138**(6): 1045-1055

Bradfield JF, Wagner JE, Boivin GP, Steffen EK, Russell RJ (1993) Epizootic fatal dermatitis in athymic nude mice due to Staphylococcus xylosus. *Laboratory animal science* **43**(1): 111-113

Buch S, Melcher C, Bauer M, Katzenberger J, Pankratz MJ (2008) Opposing effects of dietary protein and sugar regulate a transcriptional target of Drosophila insulin-like peptide signaling. *Cell Metab* 7(4): 321-332

Buchon N, Broderick NA, Chakrabarti S, Lemaitre B (2009a) Invasive and indigenous microbiota impact intestinal stem cell activity through multiple pathways in Drosophila. *Genes & development* **23**(19): 2333-2344

Buchon N, Broderick NA, Kuraishi T, Lemaitre B (2010) Drosophila EGFR pathway coordinates stem cell proliferation and gut remodeling following infection. *BMC biology* **8**: 152

Buchon N, Broderick NA, Poidevin M, Pradervand S, Lemaitre B (2009b) Drosophila intestinal response to bacterial infection: activation of host defense and stem cell proliferation. *Cell host & microbe* **5**(2): 200-211

Caricilli AM, Picardi PK, de Abreu LL, Ueno M, Prada PO, Ropelle ER, Hirabara SM, Castoldi A, Vieira P, Camara NO, Curi R, Carvalheira JB, Saad MJ (2012) Gut Microbiota Is a Key Modulator of Insulin Resistance in TLR 2 Knockout Mice. *PLoS biology* **9**(12): e1001212

Charatsi I, Luschnig S, Bartoszewski S, Nusslein-Volhard C, Moussian B (2003) Krapfen/dMyd88 is required for the establishment of dorsoventral pattern in the Drosophila embryo. *Mechanisms of development* **120**(2): 219-226

Charroux B, Royet J (2009) Elimination of plasmatocytes by targeted apoptosis reveals their role in multiple aspects of the Drosophila immune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**(24): 9797-9802

Chassaing B, Darfeuille-Michaud A (2011) The commensal microbiota and enteropathogens in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* **140**(6): 1720-1728

Conrad SA, West BC (1984) Endocarditis caused by Staphylococcus xylosus associated with intravenous drug abuse. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **149**(5): 826-827

Cox CR, Gilmore MS (2007) Native microbial colonization of Drosophila melanogaster and its use as a model of Enterococcus faecalis pathogenesis. *Infection and immunity* **75**(4): 1565-1576

Cronin SJ, Nehme NT, Limmer S, Liegeois S, Pospisilik JA, Schramek D, Leibbrandt A, Simoes Rde M, Gruber S, Puc U, Ebersberger I, Zoranovic T, Neely GG, von Haeseler A, Ferrandon D, Penninger JM (2009) Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies genes involved in intestinal pathogenic bacterial infection. *Science (New York, NY* **325**(5938): 340-343

Daffre S, Kylsten P, Samakovlis C, Hultmark D (1994) The lysozyme locus in Drosophila melanogaster: an expanded gene family adapted for expression in the digestive tract. *Mol Gen Genet* **242**(2): 152-162

De Bandt JP, Waligora-Dupriet AJ, Butel MJ (2011) Intestinal microbiota in inflammation and insulin resistance: relevance to humans. *Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care* **14**(4): 334-340

Defaye A, Evans I, Crozatier M, Wood W, Lemaitre B, Leulier F (2009) Genetic ablation of Drosophila phagocytes reveals their contribution to both development and resistance to bacterial infection. *Journal of innate immunity* 1(4): 322-334

DiAngelo JR, Bland ML, Bambina S, Cherry S, Birnbaum MJ (2009) The immune response attenuates growth and nutrient storage in Drosophila by reducing insulin signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**(49): 20853-20858

Dimarcq JL, Hoffmann D, Meister M, Bulet P, Lanot R, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA (1994) Characterization and transcriptional profiles of a Drosophila gene encoding an insect defensin. A study in insect immunity. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* **221**(1): 201-209

Dionne MS, Pham LN, Shirasu-Hiza M, Schneider DS (2006) Akt and FOXO dysregulation contribute to infection-induced wasting in Drosophila. *Curr Biol* **16**(20): 1977-1985

Dordet-Frisoni E, Dorchies G, De Araujo C, Talon R, Leroy S (2007a) Genomic diversity in Staphylococcus xylosus. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **73**(22): 7199-7209

Dordet-Frisoni E, Talon R, Leroy S (2007b) Physical and genetic map of the Staphylococcus xylosus C2a chromosome. *FEMS microbiology letters* **266**(2): 184-193

Ferrandon D, Imler JL, Hetru C, Hoffmann JA (2007) The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. *Nature reviews* **7**(11): 862-874

Ferrandon D, Jung AC, Criqui M, Lemaitre B, Uttenweiler-Joseph S, Michaut L, Reichhart J, Hoffmann JA (1998) A drosomycin-GFP reporter transgene reveals a local immune response in Drosophila that is not dependent on the Toll pathway. *The EMBO journal* **17**(5): 1217-1227

Fthenakis GC, Marples RR, Richardson JF, Jones JE (1994) Some properties of coagulasenegative staphylococci isolated from cases of ovine mastitis. *Epidemiology and infection* **112**(1): 171-176

Gottar M, Gobert V, Matskevich AA, Reichhart JM, Wang C, Butt TM, Belvin M, Hoffmann JA, Ferrandon D (2006) Dual detection of fungal infections in Drosophila via recognition of glucans and sensing of virulence factors. *Cell* **127**(7): 1425-1437

Gozalo AS, Hoffmann VJ, Brinster LR, Elkins WR, Ding L, Holland SM (2010) Spontaneous Staphylococcus xylosus infection in mice deficient in NADPH oxidase and comparison with other laboratory mouse strains. *J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci* **49**(4): 480-486

Gronke S, Mildner A, Fellert S, Tennagels N, Petry S, Muller G, Jackle H, Kuhnlein RP (2005) Brummer lipase is an evolutionary conserved fat storage regulator in Drosophila. *Cell metabolism* **1**(5): 323-330

Gutierrez E, Wiggins D, Fielding B, Gould AP (2007) Specialized hepatocyte-like cells regulate Drosophila lipid metabolism. *Nature* **445**(7125): 275-280

Ha EM, Oh CT, Bae YS, Lee WJ (2005a) A direct role for dual oxidase in Drosophila gut immunity. *Science (New York, NY* **310**(5749): 847-850

Ha EM, Oh CT, Ryu JH, Bae YS, Kang SW, Jang IH, Brey PT, Lee WJ (2005b) An antioxidant system required for host protection against gut infection in Drosophila. *Developmental cell* **8**(1): 125-132

Han SH, Ryu JH, Oh CT, Nam KB, Nam HJ, Jang IH, Brey PT, Lee WJ (2004) The moleskin gene product is essential for Caudal-mediated constitutive antifungal Drosomycin gene expression in Drosophila epithelia. *Insect molecular biology* **13**(3): 323-327

Hariharan H, Matthew V, Fountain J, Snell A, Doherty D, King B, Shemer E, Oliveira S, Sharma RN (2011) Aerobic bacteria from mucous membranes, ear canals, and skin wounds of feral cats in Grenada, and the antimicrobial drug susceptibility of major isolates. *Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases* **34**(2): 129-134

Hultmark D (1994) Drosophila as a model system for antibacterial peptides. *Ciba Foundation symposium* **186:** 107-119; discussion 120-102

Imler JL, Bulet P (2005) Antimicrobial peptides in Drosophila: structures, activities and gene regulation. *Chemical immunology and allergy* **86:** 1-21

Jackson SH, Miller GF, Segal BH, Mardiney M, 3rd, Domachowske JB, Gallin JI, Holland SM (2001) IFN-gamma is effective in reducing infections in the mouse model of chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). *J Interferon Cytokine Res* **21**(8): 567-573

Jiang H, Grenley MO, Bravo MJ, Blumhagen RZ, Edgar BA (2011) EGFR/Ras/MAPK signaling mediates adult midgut epithelial homeostasis and regeneration in Drosophila. *Cell stem cell* **8**(1): 84-95

Jiang H, Patel PH, Kohlmaier A, Grenley MO, McEwen DG, Edgar BA (2009) Cytokine/Jak/Stat signaling mediates regeneration and homeostasis in the Drosophila midgut. *Cell* **137**(7): 1343-1355

Kallus SJ, Brandt LJ (2012) The intestinal microbiota and obesity. *Journal of clinical gastroenterology* **46**(1): 16-24

Kessie G, Ettayebi M, Haddad AM, Shibl AM, al-Shammary FJ, Tawfik AF, al-Ahdal MN (1998) Plasmid profile and antibiotic resistance in coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from polluted water. *Journal of applied microbiology* **84**(3): 417-422

Kloos WE, Schleifer KH (1986) Genus IV. *Staphylococcus*, In Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology. *Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD*: 1013-1035

Kloos WE, Zimmerman RJ, Smith RF (1976) Preliminary studies on the characterization and distribution of Staphylococcus and Micrococcus species on animal skin. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **31**(1): 53-59

Kocks C, Cho JH, Nehme N, Ulvila J, Pearson AM, Meister M, Strom C, Conto SL, Hetru C, Stuart LM, Stehle T, Hoffmann JA, Reichhart JM, Ferrandon D, Ramet M, Ezekowitz RA (2005) Eater, a transmembrane protein mediating phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens in Drosophila. *Cell* **123**(2): 335-346

Koksal F, Yasar H, Samasti M (2009) Antibiotic resistance patterns of coagulase-negative staphylococcus strains isolated from blood cultures of septicemic patients in Turkey. *Microbiological research* **164**(4): 404-410

Kolling DJ, Bertoldo JB, Brod FC, Vernal J, Terenzi H, Arisi AC (2010) Biochemical and structural characterization of two site-directed mutants of Staphylococcus xylosus lipase. *Mol Biotechnol* **46**(2): 168-175

Kuraishi T, Binggeli O, Opota O, Buchon N, Lemaitre B (2011) Genetic evidence for a protective role of the peritrophic matrix against intestinal bacterial infection in Drosophila melanogaster. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**(38): 15966-15971

Lemaitre B, Hoffmann J (2007) The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. *Annual review of immunology* **25:** 697-743

Liehl P, Blight M, Vodovar N, Boccard F, Lemaitre B (2006) Prevalence of local immune response against oral infection in a Drosophila/Pseudomonas infection model. *PLoS pathogens* **2**(6): e56

Limmer S, Haller S, Drenkard E, Lee J, Yu S, Kocks C, Ausubel FM, Ferrandon D (2011) Pseudomonas aeruginosa RhlR is required to neutralize the cellular immune response in a Drosophila melanogaster oral infection model. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**(42): 17378-17383

Manfruelli P, Reichhart JM, Steward R, Hoffmann JA, Lemaitre B (1999) A mosaic analysis in Drosophila fat body cells of the control of antimicrobial peptide genes by the Rel proteins Dorsal and DIF. *The EMBO journal* **18**(12): 3380-3391

Matskevich AA, Quintin J, Ferrandon D (2010) The Drosophila PRR GNBP3 assembles effector complexes involved in antifungal defenses independently of its Toll-pathway activation function. *European journal of immunology* **40**(5): 1244-1254

Meng X, Khanuja BS, Ip YT (1999) Toll receptor-mediated Drosophila immune response requires Dif, an NF-kappaB factor. *Genes & development* **13**(7): 792-797

Michel T, Reichhart J, Hoffmann JA, Royet J (2001) *Drosophila* Toll is activated by Grampositive bacteria through a circulating peptidoglycan recognition protein. *Nature* **414**: 756-759

Miedzobrodzki J, Naidu AS, Watts JL, Ciborowski P, Palm K, Wadstrom T (1989) Effect of milk on fibronectin and collagen type I binding to Staphylococcus aureus and coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine mastitis. *Journal of clinical microbiology* **27**(3): 540-544

Nagase N, Sasaki A, Yamashita K, Shimizu A, Wakita Y, Kitai S, Kawano J (2002) Isolation and species distribution of staphylococci from animal and human skin. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* **64:** 245-250

Nehme NT, Liegeois S, Kele B, Giammarinaro P, Pradel E, Hoffmann JA, Ewbank JJ, Ferrandon D (2007) A model of bacterial intestinal infections in Drosophila melanogaster. *PLoS pathogens* **3**(11): e173

Nehme NT, Quintin J, Cho JH, Lee J, Lafarge MC, Kocks C, Ferrandon D (2011) Relative roles of the cellular and humoral responses in the Drosophila host defense against three grampositive bacterial infections. *PloS one* **6**(3): e14743

Pioch G, Heyne H, Witte W (1988) Coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus* species in mixed fodder and on grain. *Zentralbl Mikrobiol* **143**: 157-171

Planchon S, Desvaux M, Chafsey I, Chambon C, Leroy S, Hebraud M, Talon R (2009) Comparative subproteome analyses of planktonic and sessile Staphylococcus xylosus C2a: new insight in cell physiology of a coagulase-negative Staphylococcus in biofilm. *Journal of proteome research* **8**(4): 1797-1809

Planchon S, Gaillard-Martinie B, Dordet-Frisoni E, Bellon-Fontaine MN, Leoy S, Labadie J, Hebraud M, Talon R (2006) Formation of biofilm b *Staphylococcus xylosus*. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* **109:** 88-96

Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, Nielsen T, Pons N, Levenez F, Yamada T, Mende DR, Li J, Xu J, Li S, Li D, Cao J, Wang B, Liang H, Zheng H, Xie Y, Tap J, Lepage P, Bertalan M, Batto JM, Hansen T, Le Paslier D, Linneberg A, Nielsen HB, Pelletier E, Renault P, Sicheritz-Ponten T, Turner K, Zhu H, Yu C, Li S, Jian M, Zhou Y, Li Y, Zhang X, Li S, Qin N, Yang H, Wang J, Brunak S, Dore J, Guarner F, Kristiansen K, Pedersen O, Parkhill J, Weissenbach J, Bork P, Ehrlich SD, Wang J (2010) A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* **464**(7285): 59-65

Ren C, Webster P, Finkel SE, Tower J (2007) Increased internal and external bacterial load during Drosophila aging without life-span trade-off. *Cell metabolism* **6**(2): 144-152

Roh SW, Nam YD, Chang HW, Kim KH, Kim MS, Ryu JH, Kim SH, Lee WJ, Bae JW (2008) Phylogenetic characterization of two novel commensal bacteria involved with innate immune homeostasis in Drosophila melanogaster. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **74**(20): 6171-6177

Roos D, Kuijpers TW, Curnutte JT (2007) Chronic granulomatous disease, p. 525-549. *In* Ochs H. D. Smith C.I.E., Puck J. M. (ed.) Primary immunodeficiency diseases, a molecular and genetic approach, 2nd ed. New York (NY): Oxford University Press.

Rosenstein R, Gotz F (2000) Staphylococcal lipases: biochemical and molecular characterization. *Biochimie* **82**(11): 1005-1014

Rutschmann S, Jung AC, Hetru C, Reichhart JM, Hoffmann JA, Ferrandon D (2000) The Rel protein DIF mediates the antifungal but not the antibacterial host defense in Drosophila. *Immunity* **12**(5): 569-580

Rutschmann S, Kilinc A, Ferrandon D (2002) The *Toll* pathway is required for resistance to Gram-positive bacterial infections in *Drosophila*. *J Immunol* **168**: 1542-1546

Ryu JH, Ha EM, Oh CT, Seol JH, Brey PT, Jin I, Lee DG, Kim J, Lee D, Lee WJ (2006) An essential complementary role of NF-kappaB pathway to microbicidal oxidants in Drosophila gut immunity. *The EMBO journal* **25**(15): 3693-3701

Serino M, Chabo C, Burcelin R (2011) Intestinal MicrobiOMICS to Define Health and Disease in Human and Mice. *Current pharmaceutical biotechnology*

Shale K, Lues JFR, Venter P, Buys EM (2005) The distribution of *Staphylococcus* sp. on bovine meat from abattoir deboning rooms. *Food Microbiology* **22**: 433-438

Shin SC, Kim SH, You H, Kim B, Kim AC, Lee KA, Yoon JH, Ryu JH, Lee WJ (2011) Drosophila microbiome modulates host developmental and metabolic homeostasis via insulin signaling. *Science (New York, NY* **334**(6056): 670-674

Storelli G, Defaye A, Erkosar B, Hols P, Royet J, Leulier F (2011) Lactobacillus plantarum promotes Drosophila systemic growth by modulating hormonal signals through TOR-dependent nutrient sensing. *Cell metabolism* **14**(3): 403-414

Talon R, Leroy-Sétrin S, Fadda S (2002) Bacterial starters involved in the quality of fermented meat products, p. 175-191. *In* F. Toldra (ed.), Handbook of research advances in quality of meat and meat products. Research Signpost, Kerala, India.

Tauszig-Delamasure S, Bilak H, Capovilla M, Hoffmann JA, Imler JL (2002) Drosophila MyD88 is required for the response to fungal and Gram-positive bacterial infections. *Nature immunology* **3**(1): 91-97

Tselenis-Kotsowilis AD, Koliomichalis MP, Papavassiliou JT (1982) Acute pyelonephritis caused by Staphylococcus xylosus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* **16**(3): 593-594

Tzou P, Ohresser S, Ferrandon D, Capovilla M, Reichhart JM, Lemaitre B, Hoffmann JA, Imler JL (2000) Tissue-specific inducible expression of antimicrobial peptide genes in Drosophila surface epithelia. *Immunity* **13**(5): 737-748

Wells JM, Rossi O, Meijerink M, van Baarlen P (2011) Epithelial crosstalk at the microbiotamucosal interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108 Suppl 1:** 4607-4614

Wong CN, Ng P, Douglas AE (2011) Low-diversity bacterial community in the gut of the fruitfly Drosophila melanogaster. *Environmental microbiology* **13**(7): 1889-1900
FIGURES LEGENDS

Fig. 1: S. xylosus is a virulent pathogen in the septic injury model

(A) Flies were either pricked with the concentrated bacterial pellet obtained from overnight culture or bacteria were first diluted in sterile PBS to OD 6 (OD_{600}) prior to pricking. Flies were then transferred to 25°C and survival was monitored on daily basis. Note that the three survival curves with the concentrated bacteria are indistinguishable from each other. This represents one experiment out of three. (B) The induction of Toll pathway was monitored using a Drosomycin-GFP reporter fly line 48 hours post infection (OD_{600} 6); Ml: *Micrococcus luteus*. n=3. (C) Ten bacteria diluted in PBS were injected in flies, with or without prior injection of latex beads (LXB). The hemolymph was extracted and plated, thus allowing the measurement of the bacterial titer. The results shown represent one out of two experiments.

Fig. 2: Ingested *S. xylosus* appears to kill *MyD88* flies slower than wild-type flies in a process that does not involve a systemic infection

(A-B) *S. xylosus* overnight culture diluted in sucrose (50mM) to final OD of 0.4 (OD₆₀₀ 0.4) was orally fed to wild-type and *key* (IMD pathway mutant) flies (A) and survival monitored. (B) Same as (A), except that the Toll pathway mutant *MyD88* is compared to wild-type flies. (C-E): A few *S. xylosus* bacteria cross the intestinal barrier but are unlikely to cause the death of their host. Hemolymph was collected and plated to determine the bacterial titer without (C) or with (E) prior latex beads injection. The data show the mean of three experiments; error bars represent standard error. The ablation of phagocytic activity by latex bead pretreatement did not influence the survival rate of flies that had ingested *S. xylosus* (D). (F) The DUOX-mediated ROS response in the gut is likely not responsible for the death of flies that have ingested *S. xylosus*, as the addition of N-acetylcyteine to the bacterial solution did not alter the survival of infected flies. All experiments have been repeated twice.

Fig. 3 Flies feeding on *S. xylosus* likely die from starvation

(A) Loss of fat reserves (reference is day 0) were measured on flies that had ingested S. xylosus, either with the daily addition of 200 µl of water or 100mM sucrose solution. Statistical analysis was performed for each day by comparing the water to the sucrose treatment (p-values; D1: p=0.5 n=6 (ns), D2: p=0.1 n=6 (ns), D3: p=0.0002 n=9 (**), D4: p<0.0001 n=9 (***). (B) The sucrose concentration on the filters the flies feed on was measured under the water or sucrose regimens. Statistical analysis was performed by comparing the measured concentration to the initial one (D0); p-values for water supplementation: D1: p=0.58, D2: p=0.67, D3: p=0.2, D4: p=0.003 (**); p-values for sucrose supplementation: D1: p=0.009 (*), D2: p=0.195, D3: p=0.67, D4: p=0.48; n=9 for all data series. (C) Survival of flies that had ingested S. xylosus and that were either under the water regimen (plain lines) or the sucrose regimen (dashed lines). Flies under the sucrose regimen did not succumb to ingested S. xylosus. A statistical analysis was performed to compare the effect of distinct genotypes with wild-type flies, all under the water regimen (D). LT50 values (time it takes for 50% of the flies to die) were determined and averaged (p-values: MyD88 flies: p=0.002 n=7 (**); 2xUAS-XChr (UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺; MyD88/MyD88) flies: p=0.6 n=7 (ns); 2xUAS-2ndChr (*MyD88*, UAS-MyD88⁺/MyD88, UAS-MyD88⁺) flies: p=0.02 n=6 (*)). Error bars represent standard error in all panels.

Fig. 4 Wild-type MyD88 facilitates starvation-induced lipid consumption

(A) *MyD88* flies endure starvation better than wild-type flies, a phenomenon that can be suppressed by the insertion at an unknown locus on the X chromosome of a transgene carrying a wild-type copy of *MyD88*, whereas the insertion of the same transgene at another site on the second chromosome did not rescue the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype.

LT50s values were calculated for each survival experiment performed under food deprivation and values were compared with the wild-type A5001 flies (p-values, MyD88 flies: p<0.0001 n=49 (***), 2xUAS-XChr-NP1 (UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺; MyD88/MyD88, NP1-Gal4) flies: p=0.4 n=15 (ns), 2xUAS-XChr (UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺; MyD88/MyD88) flies: 0.1 n=18 (ns), 2xUAS-2ndChr (*MyD88*, *UAS-MyD88*⁺/*MyD88*, *UAS-MyD88*⁺) flies: p=0.0006; n=9 (**)). There is no difference in the LT50 of flies homozygous for the X-insertion whether the transgene is expressed in the gut under the NP1 driver or not. (B) Loss of fat contents was measured in male flies of different genotypes that had been starved for 24 hours (left panel). Fat reserves were relatively well preserved in starved MyD88 mutant flies as compared to that of wild-type flies, while there was not statistical difference between fat losses by 1xUAS-X/YChr-NP1 (UAS-MyD88⁺/Y; MyD88/MyD88, NP1-Gal4) and wild-type flies (p-values: MyD88 flies p=0.0001 n=9 (***); 1xUAS-X/YChr-NP1 flies: p=0.1 n=8 (ns)). Loss of glycogen reserves were also measured in starved male flies (right panel) and statistically analysed in the same way as in case of fat contents (p-values: MvD88 flies p=0.4 n=5 (ns); 1xUAS/Y-XChr-NP1 flies p=0.96 n=5 (ns)). (C) Fat reserves are depleted in wild-type but not in MyD88 flies. Fat bodies from flies starved for 24 hours were dissected, mounted in glycerol, and observed by light microscopy without any further treatment. This experiment has been performed twice with at least 10 flies dissected each time. Error bars represent standard errors in all panels.



Fig. 1





Fig. 2



Fig. 3



Fig. 4

Supplementary Data

A negative role of *MyD88* in the resistance to starvation as revealed in an intestinal infection of *Drosophila melanogaster* with the Gram-positive bacterium *Staphylococcus xylosus* AYYAZ A., P. GIAMMARINARO, S. LIEGEOIS, and D. FERRANDON

Supplementary Materials and methods

Fly strains

The transgenic fly strains 10XSTAT-GFP (*stat92*E-GFP) (Bach et al, 2007), Hml-Gal4 [the hml-Gal4 line is actually hml Δ -Gal4] (Sinenko & Mathey-Prevot, 2004) and MyD88_CL Excision (clean excision line for *MyD88* mutation) (Tauszig-Delamasure et al, 2002) were reared at 25°C on standard corneal-agar medium.

Construction of ROS biosensor E. coli Cat-GFP strain

The *catG* promoter was amplified from *Escherichia coli* using primers 5'cgggatcctcaggcggatttgctta3' and 5'cgtctagacaatgtgctcccctcta3' and cloned in the plasmid pTAC4598 (Atlung et al, 2002) by placing the promoter of *catE* in front of the GFP reporter gene, using BamHI and XbaI restriction sites. The ligated plasmid was used to transform DH5 α strain of *E. coli*.

Microscopy

Gut dissections, staining of brush boarder using FITC-labelled phalloidin, observations by confocal microscopy and staining of β -galactosidase activity in infected guts were performed as previously described (Nehme et al, 2007).

N-acetylcysteine treatment

Flies were kept overnight at 25°C on sucrose solution (50mM) containing N-acetylcysteine (20mM). The next day the ROS biosensor *E. coli* Cat-GFP strain (OD 0.1 diluted from overnight culture grown in LB at 37°C) was added to the sucrose solution plus N-acetylcysteine solution. Flies were then transferred in the vials containing filters and incubated at 25°C for three hours. Dissected guts were mounted in 80% glycerol solution and observed under fluorescent microscope.

Survival experiments for bacterial toxins

An overnight bacterial culture (grown at 37°C) was diluted to OD 1 in LB before heat killing for 1 hour at 95°C. These heat-killed bacteria were then diluted ten times in 50mM sucrose solution and added to the absorbent filter pads in medium tubes. Flies were next transferred and shifted to 25°C. For another batch of flies, PBS washed bacteria were diluted ten times in sucrose solution to a final OD of 0.1 and added to the filter pads in medium vials. Flies were either transferred directly in the vials or bacteria on filter pads were first killed by UV treatment (120,000 µJoules for five minutes, three times), before starting the survival experiment. For yet another batch of flies, supernatant from overnight bacterial culture was filtered twice before diluting ten times in sucrose solution, added to the filter pads before transferring the flies in the vials for survival experiment. Survival data are collected daily.

Bibliography

Atlung T, Nielsen HV, Hansen FG (2002) Characterisation of the allelic variation in the rpoS gene in thirteen K12 and six other non-pathogenic Escherichia coli strains. *Mol Genet Genomics* **266**(5): 873-881

Bach EA, Ekas LA, Ayala-Camargo A, Flaherty MS, Lee H, Perrimon N, Baeg GH (2007) GFP reporters detect the activation of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway in vivo. *Gene Expr Patterns* **7**(3): 323-331

Nehme NT, Liegeois S, Kele B, Giammarinaro P, Pradel E, Hoffmann JA, Ewbank JJ, Ferrandon D (2007) A model of bacterial intestinal infections in Drosophila melanogaster. *PLoS pathogens* **3**(11): e173

Sinenko SA, Mathey-Prevot B (2004) Increased expression of Drosophila tetraspanin, Tsp68C, suppresses the abnormal proliferation of ytr-deficient and Ras/Raf-activated hemocytes. *Oncogene* **23**(56): 9120-9128

Tauszig-Delamasure S, Bilak H, Capovilla M, Hoffmann JA, Imler JL (2002) Drosophila MyD88 is required for the response to fungal and Gram-positive bacterial infections. *Nature immunology* **3**(1): 91-97



Fig. S1 : S. xylosus does not induce IMD pathway (Diptericin-LacZ)

Digestive tracts of *cn bw* flies fed on infection solution containing *S. xylosus* (OD_{600} 0.4) were dissected 48 hour post-infection, fixed with 4% PFA and stained for X-gal activity.



Fig. S2 : Apparent tissue-specific reversion of the *MyD88 S. xylosus* resistance phenotype by the $MyD88^+$ transgene

Flies were orally fed on 50mM sucrose solution infected with *S. xylosus* (OD₆₀₀ 0.4) and transferred at 25°C. Survival data was noted on daily basis. Tissue specific overexpression of the $MyD88^+$ transgene was achieved in MyD88 mutants by NP1 (midgut-specific) and hml-Gal4 (hemocytic-specific) drivers to construction 2xUAS-XChr-NP1 (UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺; MyD88/MyD88, NP1-Gal4) and 1xUAS-XChr-hml (UAS-MyD88⁺/+; MyD88/MyD88; hml-Gal4) fly lines, respectively.



Fig. S3 : Midgut morphology intact even 5 days post-infection

Infected guts were dissected 5 days post-infection, fixed for 30 minutes in 4% FPA and stained using a FITC-labelled Phalloidin stain. The mounted guts were observed using confocal microscopy.



Fig. S4 : Time course of the S. xylosus in the gut

Guts of infected flies were dissected in sterile PBS in batches of ten, crushed and spread on media plates containing Streptomycin ($100\mu g/mL$).



Sucrose



N-acetylcysteine

Fig. S5 : N-acetylcysteine treatment neutralizes the ROS response in the fly gut

Flies were kept overnight on sucrose solution (50mM) with or without N-acetylcysteine (20mM). Next day, flies were allowed to feed for 3 hours on a sucrose solution containing the ROS biosensor *E. coli* Cat-GFP strain with or without N-acetylcysteine. Dissected guts were mounted in 80% glycerol solution and observed by fluorescence microscopy.





Fig. S6 : JAK/STAT pathway was not induced 24 hours post-infection

Guts of orally infected JAK/STAT pathway reporter fly strain, 10XSTAT-GFP were dissected 24 hours post-infection, fixed in 4% PFA for 15 minutes and observed by fluorescence microscopy. Fluorescence is mostly observed in the crop and the proventriculous



Fig. S7 : Flies do not appear to succumb as a result of exposition to a bacterial toxin

Wild-type flies A5001 were fed on sucrose solution (50 mM) containing: i) the filtered supernatant from overnight culture of *S. xylosus*, ii) heat-killed bacteria, iii) UV light-killed bacteria, or live bacteria iv) with or v) without a prior washing with PBS (see supplementary materials and methods).



Fig. S8 : The insertion of the $MyD88^+$ transgene on the X predicts a recessive suppressor of the MyD88 starvation phenotype

All fly types were kept on sterile water and survival experiment was performed at 25° C. *w1118* is another wild-type fly line while the transposon inserted at the *MyD88* locus has been excised in MyD88_CL Excision flies (Tauszig-Delamasure et al, 2002). We did not find any interline difference between three genetically similar *MyD88* mutant fly lines (1-3) collected from several investigators in the laboratory. Exact genotypes of the mutant strains tested are described as follows:

2xUAS-XChr: UAS-MyD88⁺/UAS-MyD88⁺;MyD88/MyD88

2xUAS-2ndChr: w; MyD88, UAS-MyD88⁺/MyD88, UAS-MyD88⁺

1xUAS-2ndChr-NP1: w; MyD88, UAS-MyD88⁺/MyD88, NP1

1xUAS-XChr,1xUAS-2ndChr-NP1: UAS-MyD88⁺/+;MyD88,UAS-MyD88⁺/MyD88,NP1 1xUAS-XChr-NP1: UAS-MyD88⁺/+;MyD88 /MyD88,NP1

5.2. Role of MyD88 in nutrient metabolism during starvation

The Toll pathway plays a critical role in *Drosophila* during early embryogenesis as well as in innate immune response against microbes. We have uncovered a novel role for the major cytoplasmic adaptor of the Toll pathway, MyD88, in resistance to starvation in adult flies. We have shown that the *MyD88* mutants survived better than wild-type controls in a food starvation assay. Moreover, a significant loss of lipid reserves was observed after one day of food starvation in the wild-type controls as compared to *MyD88* mutant flies.

Although we did not find any evidence of Toll pathway activation in starved flies as monitored *Drosomycin* expression, we cannot rule out that the Toll pathway might be activated to trigger the target genes other than those involved in immune response or development. These findings raised other questions such as the biological basis of the starvation resistance that we observed in *MyD88* mutant flies. A part of this question relates as to how nutrient metabolism is changed in starved *MyD88* flies. Since the Toll pathway is one of the major antimicrobial immune defense, it is worth asking whether it influences the composition of the microbiota and how the microbiota evolves during starvation. To answer these questions and understand the underpinning biological mechanisms I performed further experiments, which are described below.

Starvation studies in *Drosophila* have been mostly performed on larvae, a developmental stage during which significant growth takes place. Nutrient deprivation has many consequences on the metabolism of *Drosophila*. The insulin pathway and the target of rapamycin (TOR) pathway are downregulated upon starvation. The activity of TOR, the major intra-cellular nutrient sensing module, is regulated either directly by nutrient availability (Colombani et al., 2003) or indirectly by the insulin pathway through at least two negative regulators of TOR (Figure 1.9). One of the major downstream targets of both the insulin and the TOR pathways is the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein (4E-BP), a repressor of translation. On the one hand, downregulation of TOR under starved conditions leads to the dephosphorylation of 4E-BP. This prevents the translational machinery in ribosomes from synthesizing nascent polypeptides. On the other hand, as a result of starvation,



Figure 5.1: Autophagy and lipid droplets in starved wild type and *MyD88* mutant flies.

Wild type (A5001) and MyD88 mutant flies were starved for 24 hours at 25-C. (a-d) Dissected fat body and other tissues were treated with Lysotracker from Sigma (100nM) (green) for 10 minutes, fixed for 15 minutes in 4% PFA (paraformaldehyde), mounted with Vectashield containing DAPI stain (red), and observed under confocal microscope. Black holes represent lipid droplets, n=2. (e-h) Lysotracker stained tissues (red) were mounted with glycerol (80%) and observed under fluorescent microscope, n=3.

the intra-cellular insulin pathway serine/threonine protein kinase Akt dephosphorylates Forkhead head protein (dFOXO). This leads to the nuclear localization of FOXO. 4E-BP is a transcriptional target of FOXO that, thus, becomes overexpressed (Teleman et al., 2005). In the absence of TOR-mediated phosphorylation, the higher cytoplasmic concentration of 4E-BP further re-enforces the blockade of protein synthesis initiated by TOR activity. As a result, growth and development are halted in the starved organism and available energy resources are redirected towards biological processes indispensable for survival.

Autophagy, defined as the self-digestion of cellular components, is downstream of the conserved metabolic pathways and is activated upon starvation in a TOR-dependent process (Scott et al., 2004). Activated TOR inhibits the first step of autophagy controlled by Atg1 (Figure 1.9). It has been shown in mice that fat stored in lipid droplets is digested by autophagolysosomes (Singh et al., 2009). Lipids are degraded into simple fatty acids and transported to the mitochondrion for the generation of energy. Moreover, 4E-BP reportedly mediates lipid catabolism in starved *Drosophila* (Teleman et al., 2005). These observations predict a link between the consumption of lipids, autophagy and conserved nutrient pathways under starvation stress.

5.2.1. Autophagy does not appear to be induced in *MyD88* mutants starved for a day

I first hypothesized that the reduced consumption of lipid reserves that we observed in starved *MyD88* mutant flies might be a consequence of a decreased autophagic activity. Adult female flies were dissected after one day of food starvation. The dissected fat body were then stained with Lyso-tracker (Berry and Baehrecke, 2007) and were either directly observed by fluorescent microscopy (Figure 5.1e-h) or were fixed prior to observation by confocal microscopy (Figure 5.1a-d). Lysotracker monitors the acidic compartment of phagosomes or autophagosomes. Using both techniques, I did not observe a significant accumulation of the stain in vesicles of the fat body lobules dissected from *MyD88* starved mutant flies (Figure 5.1). Such vesicles were numerous in starved wild type controls (Figure 5.1). Furthermore, lipid droplets were more numerous and bigger in fat body lobules dissected from starved *MyD88* mutant flies, both in fixed and non-fixed tissues. This observation is



Figure 5.2: Autophagy blockade slightly improves survival during starvation

Autophagy was temporary induced or blocked in adult females by over-expressing UAS-ATG1 or UAS-ATG1-DN (dominant negative), respectively, using an ubiquitous, heat-shock induced hsp-Gal4 driver. 3-6 days old flies were heat-shocked and transferred to sterile water at 25°C. Data was noted twice per day. All survival curves were compared with A5001 (p values: hsp: p = 0.2 (ns), hsp-UAS-ATG1: p = 0.998 (ns), MyD88: p < 0.0001 (***), hsp-UAS-ATG-DN: p = 0.0007 (***); n=6 for all analyses). Hsp-UAS-ATG1-DN were also statistically different from hsp-UAS-ATG1 (p = 0.0002 (***)). Error bars represent standard error.

consistent with earlier experiments in which fat loss appeared to be less important in starved *MyD88* mutant flies as compared to wild type controls (Figure 4C, Ayyaz et al., *submitted* (Chapter 5.1)).

Before drawing a firm conclusion, however, some additional control experiments are required. First, we should use another marker for the formation of autophagic vesicles. At the onset of autophagy, phagosomes not only recruit circulating cytoplasmic proteins but the expression of autophagy-specific genes is induced. One such protein, ATG8, can be either stained for immunohistofluorescence microscopy or or used on western blots. Alternatively, a tagged form of an autophagy-related fusion protein, huLC3-GFP, should be specifically overexpressed in the fat body of adults and observed for localization of the reporter to distinct subcellular vesicles characteristic of autophagy. This reporter should also be analyzed in a *MyD88* starvation context.

A second line of evidence should be provided by genetic analysis. Autophagy can be induced by overexpressing ATG1 or conversely inhibited by expressing a dominant-negative transgenic construct ATG1^{DN}. I thus submitted such flies to starvation (Figure 5.2), using an ubiquitous hsp-GAL4 driver, which is strongly induced by heat shocks. As shown in Figure 5.2, I did not observe a higher death rate of wild-type flies in which the UAS-ATG1 transgene was overexpressed. One interpretation may be that autophagy is already fully activated by starvation. Interestingly, I observed that wild-type flies in which autophagy was somewhat prevented by the overexpression of ATG1^{DN} resisted significantly better to starvation. However, this effect was mild. One possibility is that the dominant-negative construct is not fully blocking the activity of endogenous ATG1. Another parameter may be the fact that starvation already starts during heat-shocks. As a consequence of starvation is a shut-off of protein synthesis, it is possible that the ATG1^{DN} transcript is not efficiently translated. Of note, I have not yet checked the efficiency of the treatment on those transgenic lines using lysotracker staining. Thus, these experiments are only suggestive at this stage. However, the critical experiment to ask whether the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype is mediated by an absence of the induction of autophagy during the first day of starvation still needs to be performed. Namely, I should attempt to induce autophagy in starved MyD88 mutants, for instance by forcing the expression of the UAS-ATG1 transgene.



Figure 5.3: Rapamycin to starved wild type and MyD88 mutant adult flies.

Flies were fed on sterile water containing either DMSO (2.5%) only or also containing rapamycin (Sigma, 50 μ M). For statistical analysis LT50s were calculated from each survival curve and compared with A5001 feeding on DMSO (p values: MyD88_DMSO: p = 0.008 (**), A5001_Rapa: p = 0.18 (ns), MyD88_Rap: p = 0.02 (*), A5001_Suc ; n=4 for all analysis) Since A5001 flies fed on sucrose solution do not die until the end of experiment, we can not calculate LT50 for their survival curve that forced us to use Log Rank test (in Prims) to compare A5001_DMSO and A5001_Suc (p < 0.0001 n=2 (***)). *MyD88* mutant flies feeding on Rapamycin were significantly different from A5001_DMSO as well as MyD88_DMSO (p=0.04 n=4 (*)) indicating a partially reversed phenoype by overexpression of autophagy.

Of note, the *MyD88* flies homozygous for the suppressor on the X chromosome displayed a somewhat intermediate phenotype in these assays. Since we observe a full reversion of the starvation phenotype, this suggests that autophagy is contributing to the phenotype but that other processes are likely involved as well.

5.2.2. TOR (target of rapamycin) apparently plays a role to mediate *MyD88* phenotype

Since the induction of autophagy is negatively regulated by TOR, I expect that the blockade of TOR in *MyD88* mutant flies should rescue the *MyD88* survival phenotype. Therefore, I treated flies with rapamycin, a TOR inhibitor (which actually gave the name to the protein). This treatment partially reversed the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype (Figure 5.3). Again, no effect of rapamycin treatment was observed in wild type flies, consistent with a possible physiological inhibition of TOR during starvation. This observation suggests that TOR acts downstream of *MyD88*. In other words, MyD88⁺ activity might be required for the repression of TOR activity following starvation.

It will be necessary to check that TOR activity is indeed not inhibited in starved *MyD88* flies, for instance by monitoring the phosphorylation status of S6 kinase and 4E-BP on western blots of adult fat body (carcass of the abdomen). Complementary experiments with RNAi lines targeting the TOR control pathway should be also performed both in a wild-type and in a *MyD88* mutant background to confirm this hypothesis. Thus, inactivating TOR in *MyD88*-starved mutants should trigger autophagy and reverse its starvation resistance phenotype. By testing different levels of the TOR regulatory pathway (Figure 1.9), there might be a possibility to map the step regulated by MyD88 (amino acid sensing, ATP/ADP ratio [AMPK], insulin pathway).

5.2.3. Role of the Insulin pathway

TOR activity is directly regulated by the availability of nutrients, for instance amino acids (see Figure 1.9 and (Colombani et al., 2003)). However, the insulin pathway also regulates TOR activity by shutting down it negative regulators when induced. One of the main readouts of the downregulation of insulin pathway is to



Figure 5.4: Expression of FOXO targets: INR and 4E-BP, during starvation.

RNA from flies starved for 0 and 24 hours. One-way ANOVA (Prism) showed insignificant difference among different values, (**A**) INR RNA fold expression: p > 0.05 n=5 (ns), (**A**) 4E-BP RNA fold expression: p > 0.05 n=13 (ns). Where n represents biologically independent replicates in each of six groups and error bars represent standard error in both panels. The graphs are representative of two experiments for INR and three experiments for 4E-BP.

check for the nuclear localization of FOXO, which is inhibited by insulin signaling (see above). I therefore observed the subcellular distribution of FOXO by immunohistochemistry. After 24 hours of starvation of *MyD88* mutant and wild type flies, I did not detect a nuclear localization of FOXO in dissected tissues (fat body and midgut) in any of the fly lines tested. At this stage, I cannot discount the possibility of a technical problem and should test the FOXO-antiserum on starved larvae, a condition in which nuclear FOXO has been observed (Wang et al., 2011).

As an alternative strategy, I monitored by Q-RT-PCR the expression of the *4E-BP* and *insulin receptor* (INR) genes, which are direct transcriptional targets of FOXO, both in *MyD88* mutant and wild type flies, under starvation or nonstarvation conditions. I did not observe any significant changes in the expression of these genes, although there was some important variability between biological replicates (Figure 5.4).

Thus, I have not so far obtained any evidence for an induction of the insulin pathway after 24 hours of starvation. I however cannot exclude that this time point is too late for such studies. Thus, a time course experiment should be performed to monitor the activity of the insulin pathway. Also, a complementary approach would be to genetically manipulate the insulin pathway in *MyD88* mutants. If the insulin pathway were working downstream of MyD88, then we expect to observe a reversion of the effects in survival experiments and as regards the consumption of lipid reserves upon starvation.

5.2.4. Lipid metabolism in starved gut

Neural Lazarillo (*NLaz*) and *Lipase 3* (*Lip3*) encode proteins that play critical role in lipid metabolism (Hull-Thompson et al., 2009; Maynard et al., 2010). They are among the most significantly upregulated genes in starved larvae (Zinke et al., 2002). The RNA levels of *NLaz* and *Lip3* are widely used as markers for metabolic stress and starvation symptoms in *Drosophila*. I therefore analysed by Q-RT-PCR the expression of NLaz and Lip3 in wild type, *MyD88*, and the phenotypic revertant fly line (suppressor of the *MyD88* starvation phenotype), 2xUAS-XChr-NP1, upon one day and two days of food starvation. No induction of *NLaz* was observed in any of the starved fly lines (Figure 5.5A). *Lip3* expression, however, was induced in wild types



Figure 5.5: RNA Expression of Lip3 and NLaz upon starvation.

RNA was extracted from whole fly extracts, 0, 24 and 48 hours post-starvation. To calculate gene induction, the RNA expression for each gene after 24 and 48 hours of starvation was divided by that in non-starved flies (0 hour). One-way ANOVA (Prism software) was used to statistically analyze different values. (A) Induction of NLaz was not observed in any starved fly line (p > 0.05 n=5 (ns). (B) Lip3 induction was observed in wild type A5001 flies and used as standard to analyze Lip3 induction in other fly lines: (p values for 24 hours of starvation: A5001 vs MyD88: p < 0.05 n=5 (*), A5001 vs 2xUAS-XChr-NP1: p < 0.01 n=5 (**); p values for 48 hours of starvation: A5001 vs MyD88: p > 0.05 n=4 (ns), A5001 vs 2xUAS-XChr-NP1: p < 0.001 n=2 (***)). Lip3 induction at 24 and 48 hours in the same fly lines was also compared (A5001 at 24h vs 48h: p < 0.05 n= 4 (*); MyD88 at 24h vs 48h: p < 0.001 n=5 (***)). Error bars represent standard error in both panels.

flies starved for one day and this expression was further upregulated after two days of starvation (Figure 5.5B). Strikingly, no induction of *Lip3* was observed in *MyD88* mutant flies unless they were starved for 48 hours. This is consistent with the hypothesis that the consumption of lipid stores is delayed in *MyD88* mutant flies under starvation conditions. Thus, in *MyD88* mutants, two major mechanisms that have been shown to be involved in the catabolism of lipid droplets, namely autophagy and lipase3 digestion are impaired.

Interestingly, the revertant fly strain did not show any induction of *Lip3* at any stage of starvation. This suggests that the wild-type version of the suppressor gene is required for the induction of *Lip3* (the suppressor transposon insertion mutation is not in the *Lip3* gene as this gene is on the third chromosome). Interestingly, the suppressor fly strain dies as rapidly as wild-type flies, thus indicating that the delayed induction of *Lip3* in *MyD88* flies is not at the origin of the starvation resistance phenotype. As the Brummer lipase is not induced by starvation in adult flies, this suggests that fat loss is either mediated by yet another lipase, or alternatively, is only mediated by autophagic degradation.

5.2.5. The gut microbiota appears to mediate the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype

Recently, a link has been made between specific components of the microbiota and larval growth and developmental timing under nutrient-poor conditions (Shin et al., 2011; Storelli et al., 2011). Interestingly, one study established that the beneficial effect of one strain of *Lactobacillus plantarum* is mediated through the TOR pathway. I therefore asked whether the microbiota might play a role in the differential starvation susceptibility I have observed between wild-type and *MyD88* flies. While ideally this question should be tested using axenic fly strains, a first set of experiments was attempted using antibiotics treatment to clear the microbiota. A cocktail of four antibiotics that efficiently eradicates the microbiota has been developed in our Research Unit by Dr. Hidehiro Fukuyama. Of note, our strains tested Wolbachia-negative so that any observed effect will not be caused by the loss of this endosymbiont. As shown in Figure 5.6, this treatment reverted the *Myd88* starvation phenotype, with antibiotics-treated *Myd88* males succumbing even faster





Wild type (A5001) and *MyD88* mutant female (A) and male (B) flies were kept on sucrose solution containing a mix of 4 antibiotics (Vancomycin: 50μ g/mL, Neomycin: 100μ g/mL, Metronidazole: 100μ g/mL and Ampicilin: 100μ g/mL), for 4 days at 18° C. Then they were shifted to Ampicilin (100μ g/mL) containing sucrose solution (50mM) for overnight. Next day flies were sifted to sterile water containing only Ampicilin (100μ g/mL) and starvation experiment was performed at 18° C. Effect of antibiotics was monitored by analyzing treated and non-treated flies (p values for females: MyD88: p < 0.0001 (***), A5001: p > 0.05 (ns); p values for males: MyD88: p < 0.0001 (***), A5001: p > 0.05 (ns); while n=5 for all data sets). Error bars represent standard error in both panels.

to starvation than wild-type males. These data suggest that the microbiota plays an important role in the starvation resistance of *MyD88* flies.

5.2.6. MyD88 mutant flies harbor different microbiota

Because one major role of *MyD88* is in regulating the systemic immune response and because the immune system plays a key role in setting the tolerance threshold to microbiota, which may in some cases differentially affect distinct members of this microbial community, I set out to measure the amount of microbiota present in these fly strains using whole flies for a first step. Thus, I expect to measure both the microbiota present on the cuticle as well as that on barrier epithelia, including the gut (Ren et al., 2007). As it has been shown that the microbiota increases as a function of age, I have tested three periods, namely i) *newly emerged* flies, which were collected from 0-1 day, ii) *younger* flies (3-8 days), and iii) *older* flies (20-25 days on a medium that contains fresh yeast on vials changed every three days). Of note, age is relative and the *older* flies are relatively young when compared to the lifespan of flies (around 60 days for males at 25°C under our conditions).

Next, I examined the relative amount of microbiota in whole fly extracts by qPCR. The original idea was to use a pair of universal primers to quantify the Drosophila microbiota. However, upon a careful analysis of the published literature, I realized that there is no "ideal" universal primer pair that would amplify all bacterial DNA independently of its origin. Therefore, I decided to test three different universal primer pairs, referred as primer pair I (Nadkarni et al., 2002), II (Maeda et al., 2003), and III (Tseng et al., 2003) thereafter. They amplify conserved 16S rRNA protein encoding gene in DNA of different bacteria species, referred as Microbes-(1-3), respectively. The spectrum of bacterial specificity targeted by the three primer pairs has been described on the basis of number of species from each bacterial phylum that show a perfect DNA sequence match with both the forward and the reverse primers (Figure 5.7 and reviewed in (Horz et al., 2005)). Briefly, the primer pair I can detect more than 75 species from the phyla Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Firmicutes and Bacteriodetes, but no species from Spirochetes and Chlamydiae. *Primer pair II* and *III*, on the other hand, can amplify 16S rDNA from a large number of species of Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria but fewer Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes species (50-75). Primer pair III is the only probe in the three primer



- < 5; + = 5-25; ++ = 25-50; +++ = 50-75; ++++ >75 (Horz et al., 2005)

Figure 5.7: Young and old wild-type and *MyD88* mutant flies harbor varied microbiota Please turn the page for details...

pairs that can specifically detect species from the phylum Chlamydiae (79 species). Numerous bacterial species from the phylum Spirochetes (57 species) are also detected by the primer *pair III. Primer pair II*, however, also amplifies the *16S rDNA* from 44 species belonging to the phylum Spirochetes. Flies used in this study were reared at 25°C in standard corneal-agar medium.

Flies showed differences in the amount of commensal bacteria depending on their age and genotype. Bacteria specifically amplified by *primer pair I* dwelled in newly emerged wild types (Figure 5.7A). These species stayed associated with wild type fly lines during the young age. *MyD88* mutant flies, however, contained significantly lower number of these species throughout their adulthood. Similarly, a lower titer of microbiota specifically amplified by the *primer pair II* was observed in *MyD88* mutant flies during *newly emerged* and *older* age but no significant difference was found between *young MyD88* mutant and wild type flies (Figure 5.7B). In contrast to the results obtained from *primer pairs I* and *II*, *newly emerged* and *young MyD88* mutant flies harbored a significantly higher titer of bacterial populations specifically amplified by the *primer pair III* (Figure 5.7C).

One may draw two conclusions from these results. First, there was a significant shift in the microbial populations associated with MyD88 mutant flies as compared to wild type controls, indicating that the two fly strains contained different microbial populations. Second, *MyD88* mutant flies may not increase their microbial burden as they age, in contrast to wild type controls. Of note, the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype tends to decrease in older flies.

To further verify these results I selected flies strictly from 4 \pm 1 days old stocks (*young*) keeping other experimental settings same as above. Additionally, I included in the study the suppressor fly strain, 2xUAS-XChr, which is as sensitive to food deprivation as wild-type flies. Moreover, I monitored the stability of bacterial populations in these three fly lines after 24 hours of starvation as well. First, the data on unstarved *young* flies confirm those I had made above for all three primer pairs. Interestingly, the 2xUAS-XChr strain behaved as the *MyD88* strain, thus establishing that the microbiota differences observed in flies prior to starvation are not explaining the differences in starvation resistance. The second notable difference was that whereas wild-type A5001 flies maintained quantitatively their microbiota upon 24 hours of starvation (independently of the primer pairs used), both *MyD88* and the

Figure 5.7: Young and old wild-type and MyD88 mutant flies harbor varied microbiota

Bacterial titer was monitored by Q-PCR by amplifying *16S rRNA* gene in whole fly DNA extracts of wild-type A5001 and *MyD88* mutant flies at three different ages. Quantification of the bacterial titer is relative to each other. Values obtained with each primer pair for *MyD88* were statistically compared with those of corresponding control values observed in wild type flies using unpaired t-test (Prism). (A) Universal microbes-1 were amplified by *primer pair l*: (p values: Newly emerged: p=0.003(**), Young: p=00.3(*), Older: p=0.002(**)), (B) microbes-2 by *primer pair II*: (p values: Newly emerged: p=0.0003(***), Young: p=0.3(ns), Older: p<0.0001(***)), (C) microbes-3 by *primer pair III*: (p values: Newly emerged: p<0.0001(***), Young: p=0.002(**), Older: p=0.002(**), Older: p=0.16(nsç) and (D) *L. plantarum* using primer pair that specifically amplified this bacterial species: (p values: Newly emerged: p=0.49(ns), Young: p=0.036(*), Older: p=0.0002(***); n=4 for all panels except for (A) where for Newly emerged n=4 while for Young and Older n=3). Error bars represent standard error in each panel.

(E) Bacterial specificity of the universal *primer pairs* (*I-III*) to amplify microbes-(1-3), respectively, is shown on the basis of number of species from each bacterial phylum that show a perfect match with both the forward and the reverse 16S rDNA primers.

2xUAS-XChr strain exhibited a marked quantitative decrease of their microbiota, as monitired using the three primer pairs. Again, this phenotype is thus unlikely to account for the difference between starvation resistance observed in these strains.

5.2.7. Lactobacillus plantarum dwells in younger MyD88 flies

As mentioned above, two bacterial species, namely *Acetobacter pomorum* and *L. plantarum* inhabit the midgut of *D. melanogaster* and regulate its growth, development, and metabolism under nutrient-poor conditions. I therefore decided to check whether our fly strains differed in terms of titer for these bacterial species. Two primer pairs were used in this study that amplify 16S rRNA encoding gene specifically from the DNA of *A. pomorum* or *L. plantarum* (Wong et al., 2011). Two sets of experiments were designed as described above. In the first set of experiments, wild type and *MyD88* mutant flies were taken from three different age groups (Figure 5.7), while in the second set of experiments, 4 ± 1 days old wild type, *MyD88* mutant, and 2xUAS-XChr fly strains were used to quantify the two bacterial species (Figure 5.9).

A. pomorum was not found in any of the fly lines used in both sets of experiments. L. plantarum, however, was found in all fly strains at low titers, when compared with the results obtained from universal primer pairs that measure the bulk of the associated microbiota. I observed variations in the titer of L. plantarum depending on the age and genotype of the fly lines. Freshly emerged MyD88 mutant and wild type flies displayed a similar titre of L. plantarum (Figure 5.7 D). I found a significantly higher titer of L. plantarum in the young MyD88 mutants as compared to the wild type controls, which however was not confirmed (Figure 5.9). Older MyD88 mutants, however, lost the bacterium while highly significant numbers of the bacterium were observed in older wild type controls. Taken together the titer of L. plantarum varied in MyD88 mutants and wild type flies as a function of age, which might be associated to the starvation phenotype observed in MyD88 mutants.

Interestingly, important variations in the *L. plantarum* titer was observed upon food deprivation. First, *young* flies had a quantitatively similar titer, whether wild-type, *MyD88*, or 2xUAS-XChr flies (Figure 5.9). Wild type flies lost almost entirely *L. plantarum* after a day of starvation while there was a drastic decrease of the titer in





Q-PCR was used to quantify universal microbes-(1-3) three *primer pairs* (*I-III*) that amplified *16S rRNA* gene in whole fly DNA extracts of wild types A5001, *MyD88* mutants and the revertant strain. The quantification is shown relative to each other. For statistic analyses, each value was compared with the corresponding value of wild type controls (shown with *black* notations) using student t-test of the software Prism. The microbial burden before and after starvation was also compared in each fly strain (shown in *red*). Criterium for significance: p>0.05 (ns), 0.05>p>0.01 (*), 0.01>p>0.001 (**), and p<0.001 (***), n=12 for each data set except for: *microbe-1*: 2xUAS-XChr-0hr: n=8, A5001-24hr: n=10, MyD88-24hr: n=9, 2xUAS-XChr-24hr: n=11; *microbes-2*: A5001-24hr: n=8, My88-24hr and 2xUAS-XChr-24hr: n=11; mirobes-3: A5001-24hr: n=11). Error bars represent standard error.
2xUAS-XChr flies. *MyD88* mutants, however, still retained significantly higher numbers of the bacterium as compared to the wild type controls after 24 hours of starvation. Thus, the *MyD88* starvation resistance phenotype may be the consequence of the ability of *MyD88* flies to retain *L. plantarum* in higher numbers during starvation.

5.2.8. Yeast killed MyD88 mutant flies faster upon starvation

Since I had observed an opposite trend in the shift of microbial load in *MyD88* mutants and wild type flies as a function of age, I wanted to check whether *older* age had a significant impact on the survival of flies when deprived of a food source. Contrary to my expectations, *MyD88* mutant flies kept on normal fly food containing live yeast, changed at three days intervals, lost their resistance to starvation (Figure 5.10A). Interestingly, older flies kept on the fly food medium without live yeast (also changed every three days) did not lose the starvation resistance in *MyD88* mutant flies.

5.2.9. Longevity

Next I checked if there was a difference in the longevity between *MyD88* mutant and wild type flies kept on normal food containing live yeast. Wild type flies lived slightly but significantly longer than *MyD88* mutants (Figure 5.10B).

5.2.10. Conclusions

In this postface, I have presented data that suggest that starved wild type flies exhaust rapidly their fat reserves through TOR pathway -controlled lipophagy. Interestingly, the *MyD88* starvation phenotype is also linked to the microbiota as the phenotype disappears after antibiotic treatment. At a quantitative level, it appears that the microbiota composition differs between wild-type and *MyD88*. However, at this low level of resolution, the suppressor strain indicates that this coarse approach does not pinpoint the origin of the difference able to account for the starvation resistance of *MyD88*, as compared to wild-type AND 2xUAS-XChr suppressor line.



Figure 5.9: L. plantarum before and after starvation

Titer of *L. plantarum* was monitored by Q-PCR in the whole fly extracts. The quantification cycle (Cq) of 36 was considered equivalent to one copy of 16S rDNA and any value below this threshold was considered equivalent to zero number of copies. The quantity of *L. plantarum* 16S rDNA copies before (0 hours) and after (24 hours) starvation were compared in each fly strain, Mann-Whitney (non-parametric) test applied using the software Prims: (A5001: p=0.003 (**), MyD88: p=0.068 (ns), 2xUAS-XChr: p=0.019 (*); n=12 for each value). Medians are shown on the graph .

Possibly, this analysis might be more accurate if it were performed on dissected guts instead of whole flies. Indeed, there is also a microbiota growing on the cuticle (Ren et al., 2007) and possibly also in trachea and reproductive tract (Ferrandon et al., 1998; Tzou et al., 2000). Fortunately, the specific examination of *L. plantarum* titers yielded a unique insight in the potential basis for MyD88 starvation resistance. Indeed, in larvae, *L. plantarum* enhances growth in a process that involves the TOR pathway when nutrient supplies are limited. Here, taking all of my results together, I propose the following synopsis. The critical observation is that *L. plantarum* appears to remain longer in starved MyD88 flies as opposed to wild-type or 2xUAS-XChr suppressor control flies. The remaining *L. plantarum*, which we hypothesize would be remaining in the digestive tract, a supposition that needs to be verified, would still trigger the TOR pathway of MyD88 flies to a level sufficiently high that it would inhibit starvation-induced autophagy and lipophagy. Thus, fat stores would be preserved longer and would thus be able provide the fly with energy later on during the starvation period, thus accounting for the enhanced resistance to starvation. To validate this hypothesis, we would need to perform additional experiments: i) check L. plantarum titers in dissected guts of MyD88 and control flies ii) check that the TOR pathway is indeed activated for a longer period in starved MyD88 flies, for instance by checking the phosphorylation status of some of its major target genes, e.g., S6 kinase and 4E-BP iii) check that lipophagy is indeed involved by using LC3-GFP markers or lysotracker staining in the oenocytes iv) trigger autophagy in MyD88 mutants by overexpressing ATG1. Another line of evidence would be provided by monoassociation studies between axenic MyD88, wild-type, and 2xUAS-XChr suppressor control flies and L. plantarum. Possibly, the difference between the genotypes would become less pronounced. A similar line of experiments would consist in homogenizing the microbiota of these different genotypes by growing *MyD88* and wild-type progeny in the same vials. Indeed, this approach has been very fruitful in mice (Elinav et al., 2011).

These findings raise two interesting questions. First, wild-type flies lose their fat stores very rapidly, within 24 hours, which is unexpected. As the fat body provides much more energy than glycogen stores, the question becomes how the wild-type flies expend their energy during the first 24 hours. A universal behavior of starved animals is to move around in search for a new source of food (Meunier et al., 2007;





(A) The wild type (A5001) or *MyD88* mutant flies were either kept with or without an addition of unmeasured quantity of yeast for 14 days before performing starvation experiment. Fresh live yeast was provided after each 2 days when tubes were changed. LT50 values (time it takes for half flies to die) were calculated using Prism software. Each LT50 value was than statistically compared with that of wild type flies kept on the food medium that did not receive live yeast (A5001_yeast: p=0.16 n=6 (ns), MyD88: p<0.0001 n=9 (***), MyD88_yeast: p=0.26 n=6 (ns)). (B) Longevity experiment was performed by rearing batches of 20 male flies at 25° C on standard fly food containing live yeast. Tubes were changed after each two days. Log rank test in Prism software was used to compare survivals of *MyD88* mutants and wild type flies (p<0.0001 n=8 (***)). Error bars represent standard deviations.

Nagata and Nagasawa, 2006). Adipokinetic hormone (AKH) is required for the enhanced locomotion of the starved *Drosophila* adults by mobilizing lipid and trehalose stores from the fat body (Isabel et al., 2005). We predict that *MyD88* flies will not display this behavior. This is experimentally difficult to test as one needs specific equipment to monitor locomotion (Inan et al., 2011). However, it might be easier to test this hypothesis in starved larvae as first step. If true, it will then become relevant to ask whether this is a behavior directly regulated by *MyD88* itself or whether this somehow involves *L. plantarum* and the activation of the TOR pathway.

The second question is that of the mechanism that favorizes the association of *MyD88* with *L. plantarum*, especially under starvation. It is an interesting question as the Toll pathway has not been reported to be activated in the digestive tract, although *Drosomycin* expression might not be an adequate read-out in this context. Attempts to detect a nuclear localization of DIF in the midgut epithelium were unsuccessful. Interestingly, *Myd88* is expressed at very high levels in salivary glands, about 10 fold more than in the fat body or ovaries (Chintapalli et al., 2007). Furthermore, it is the only gene of the intracellular Toll signaling cascade to have such a pattern of expression, Dorsal being also relatively highly expressed in salivary glands (similar levels as in ovaries). This observation reinforces the notion that *MyD88* might have Toll signaling-independent functions. Thus, the cloning of the suppressor gene will most likely reveal an interesting hint to decipher this novel function.

A puzzling observation is that *L. plantarum* is lost in *older* flies (Figure 5.7D). Also, the *MyD88* phenotype is not reproduced in *older* flies (Figure 5.10A), thus strengthening the correlation between *L. plantarum* association and starvation resistance. Of note, these *older* flies feed on vials that are changed every three days, with fresh yeast added. They are thus in a nutrient-rich environment in which *L. plantarum* may not provide an essential advantage to the flies and thus there might not be a selective pressure to maintain its association with flies. Strikingly, flies aged in the absence of fresh yeast were still starvation resistant. It remains to be established whether these still have maintained *L. plantarum* in their microbiota. An alternate view would have considered that ingested yeasts are killed in a *MyD88*dependent process. This may however not be the case as the group of Won-Jae Lee has demonstrated that *S. cerevisiae* is likely killed by ROS produced by the DUOX



Figure 5.11 (a): The working model

The *MyD88* mutants retain *L. plantarum* better than the wild-type flies under starvation conditions. The *L. plantarum* in turn keeps TOR active in the fat body resulting in slow utilization of stored lipid reserves due to reduced lipophagy, thus enhancing the rate of survival of flies.



Figure 5.11 (b): The working model

The wild type flies remove *L. plantarum* from the gut during starvation, in a MyD88dependant manner. The TOR activity is downregulated to the maximum potential resulting in faster utilization of food resources by lipophagy, thus leading to the rapid fly death. enzyme, the activation of which appears to be independent of the Toll pathway (Ha et al., 2009).

In conclusion, this work exemplifies the complex interactions between the microbiota and the physiology of its host. The most original contribution may reside in the tentative attribution of a novel function to *MyD88* that is independent of its pivotal role in Toll signaling.

6. Conclusions

Assessment of the doctoral work

In this thesis, I started out by investigating the actual causes of the death of flies in an intestinal infection model first developed in the Boman laboratory thirty years ago (Flyg et al., 1980). Initially, the discovery that S. marcescens is able to cross the intestinal barrier suggested that it might cause the death of flies, given its high virulence in a septic injury model. However, the bacterial titer remained low throughout the infection (Nehme et al., 2007), unlike another intestinal infection model with *P. aeruginosa* (Limmer et al., 2011). Thus, death was unlikely to result from uncontrolled bacteremia. In the cn bw background, it was noted that the intestinal epithelium became thinner as the infection progressed (Nehme et al., 2007). However, these results appear to depend on the genetic background, possibly through the microbiota, as they were not observed in another genetic background, namely A5001 (Cronin et al., 2009; Thibault et al., 2004). While there were indeed signs of damage, it appeared that the homeostasis of the intestinal epithelium is maintained by multiple means, including the compensatory proliferation of intestinal stem cells. Here, I noted that flies that had been exposed to S. marcescens for five days were able to recover when they were placed on fresh medium, whether it contained S. marcescens or not. Interestingly, naive flies exposed to a bacterial medium on which a normal infection experiment had already been performed were killed much more rapidly. Thus, this led me and colleagues to perform additional experiments in which a source of carbon was added to the filters regularly. Taken together, these experiments demonstrate that flies actually succumb to starvation and not from direct bacterial damages. This was an unexpected result given the virulence of the bacterium. Thus, one might envision that flies and bacteria are competing for sucrose, the only available source of energy. Indeed, flies feeding under the same conditions on heat-killed S. marcescens did not succumb. As S. *marcescens* is able to resist many conditions, including those encountered in the gut, as judged by electron microscopy data, one possibility would have been that flies are unable to efficiently kill and digest bacteria. This is however not the case, as flies are unable to feed on S. xylosus, which appears to be killed in large quantities, even though its cell wall should be attacked by Drosophila lysozymes. Flies apparently are able to feed on yeasts, which are mostly killed by the DUOX-mediated ROS

response (Ha et al., 2009). It is not clear how flies are able to degrade the fungal cell wall as it lacks classical ß-glucanases (Bragatto et al., 2010; Pauchet et al., 2009), which however are found in mosquitoes.

As we had performed a whole screen to look for an impaired host defense against ingested S. marcescens, it was important to determine whether known "host defense" mutants are especially sensitive to starvation. I myself determined that key mutants are still sensitive to this infection under nonlimiting energy conditions. Of note, Dr Matthieu Lestradet (personal communication) did not find an obvious correlation between starvation sensitivity and many of the mutants that had been identified in the genome-wide screen. There is however an intriguing link between the energy status of the mutant flies and their susceptibility to infections. For instance, key mutants start dying at a time when there should still be some sucrose left on the filters. In contrast, they are dying much slower when sucrose is regularly added. One might think that bacteria may actually suffer from being exposed to sucrose concentrations that are to high, the so-called jam effect. My measurements have indicated that we never go above a 5% solution, even when sucrose is added. Also, key flies were dying more slowly when sucrose was added only every other day. Thus, a major theme worthy of investigation will be to determine how the nutritional status of the fly impinges on local immune responses and epithelial homeostatic processes. Of note, this effect does not appear to be manifest with regards to the cellular immune response. Clearly, this will require a thorough investigation of the exact role that key and other genes of the IMD pathway play in mucosal defenses. As shown in the latest part of my thesis, it will certainly be worth investigating the contribution of the microbiota during S. marcescens intestinal infections. Many years ago, competition experiments had been performed between fluorescently-labelled S. marcescens and E. coli: S. marcescens always won. However, E. coli is not a commensal of the Drosophila gut.

S. marcescens secretes many virulence factors. The exact role of each of them is not known and understanding the pathogenicity of this bacterium using the *Drosophila* model was one of the team major goals. A major limitation is the difficulty with which site-directed mutants are generated in this *S. marcescens* strain. Many of the techniques I attempted together with my previous supervisor, Dr. P. Giammarinaro, an experienced microbiologist, were unsuccessful. Thus, a screening

approach was a viable alternative, especially given the medium-throughput that is feasible in this organism. I thus undertook a couple of screens. The protease screen identified one locus, *lip*, as being required for the secretion of at least two proteases. Unfortunately, despite promising preliminary results, I did not find an enhanced sensitivity phenotype in the *eater* infection model. However, it would be worth investigating whether the permabilization of the peritrophic matrix I discovered is still taking place when flies are feeding on these mutants. It would also be interesting to determine whether ISC compensatory proliferation is affected with these bacterial mutants and whether these mutant bacteria invade the intestinal epithelium as efficiently as wild-type S. marcescens. Finally, the team is working on an early phase attack of the epithelium that is mediated by a secreted hemolysin. As this hemolysin has a short half-life of three seconds when secreted, it is likely that the peritrophic matrix limits the accessibility of this pore-forming toxin to enterocytes. I would thus expect that the early phase attack may be hindered in these protease secretion mutants as proteases are likely to particapte in the permabilization of this protective membrane. It would also be interesting to repeat this experiment when the peritrophic matrix is either removed biochemically by DTT treatment or genetically impaired (Kuraishi et al., 2011).

The screening of more than 1,300 mutants yielded rather disappointing results as only one mutant was finally retained, although it would certainly be worth retesting more extensively some of the mutant identified in the primary screen. One limitation of the bank is that transposon insertions are generated at random, and thus insertions in the same genes are possibly tested multiple times, in contrast to the ordered library generated in *P. aeruginosa* PA14 (Liberati et al., 2006). We found that *fliR* is required for: i) the efficient passage through the intestinal barrier; ii) for the invasion of enterocytes and cultured S2 cells; iii) for damaging enterocytes and thus triggering the compensatory proliferation of ISCs. I cannot exclude that this locus might also be required for exiting the enterocytes at the basal side. One possible way to test this possibility would be to make a rapid gentamicin treatment after *S. marcescens* uptake into cultured cells so as to kill all remaining extracellular bacteria. Then, one might remove the antibiotics and monitor if the extracellular count increases in a chase.

As FliR is required for secretion of proteins through the flagellar apparatus, it is at present unclear whether the phenotypes I have observed are due to a defective motility or some secreted virulence factor, which might not have been identified yet, besides phospholipase and nuclease. Thus, the conclusion that invasion is needed to cause epithelial damages remains tentative at this stage. Of note, a role for flagellin in these phenotypes would actually also account for them satisfactorily. The generation of additional mutants affecting the structure of flagellin would resolve this issue. For lack of time, I unfortunately could not tackle this problem.

I did not recover any mutants displaying a consistent increased virulence like that displayed in a septic injury model, although again it might be worth rechecking some of the initial mutants I isolated. The biological basis for this switch in virulence remains to be established and might be linked to swarming, which is likely to happen in the septic injury model (Dr Kwang Zin Lee and Dr Samuel Liegeois, personal communication). Actually, it is likely that *S. marcescens* in nature is not the only food that *Drosophila* flies ingest when feeding on decaying fruits and thus that only limited amounts are ingested. By being able to cross the digestive tract, it might be able to reach reproductive organs and thus be disseminated together with the fly progeny (Nehme et al., 2007). Thus, the bacterium may not be pathogenic in this context or its virulence might be altered in the specific conditions found in the digestive tract. It might become virulent when in the presence of a viral cofactor. For instance, *S. marcescens* is a bacterium retrieved in silkworms suffering from *flacherie*, a viral infection that was coexisting with Nosemosis, as discovered by Pasteur.

The *S. xylosus* model was started as a side-project by Dr. P. Giammarinaro. The question raised by intestinal infections by Gram-positive bacteria has rarely been tackled (Cox and Gilmore, 2007). We have not rigorously tested yet the hypothesis that *S. xylosus* is killed by the ROS response. This would entail monitoring the bacterial titer in the gut after N-acetylcysteine treatment or *duox* mutants. The one unexpected result was the higher resistance of *MyD88* to ingested *S. xylosus*. Again, the ultimate cause of death appears to be starvation. Interestingly, *S. xylosus*, in contrast to *L. plantarum*, appears to deplete rapidly fat stores. It will be thus interesting to determine whether this phenomenon requires the inhibition of the TOR pathway and lipophagy. Any interference with the gut microbiota should also be monitored. Testing a *S. xylosus* lipase mutant would also be interesting.

As regards the starvation resistance of *Myd88* mutants, I have now a model that can be experimentally tested, namely that *L. plantarum* prevents lipophagy by stimulating the TOR pathway. This is relatively straightforward. However, the more relevant question to my mind is how *MyD88* favorizes *L. plantarum* colonization and maintenance. The second issue is why the flies can survive longer by not triggering prematurely the consumption of energy stores. As discussed earlier, it is likely that this involves a behavioral change that would limit energy consumption. The identification of the exact molecular mechanisms involved promises to be highly stimulating.

In conclusion, my work has allowed the identification of the mechanisms that led to the death of flies that ingest bacteria, even though the explanation was rather far from the one originally envisioned. Nevertheless, these infection models remain relevant as mutant flies identified in screens generally remain sensitive to a bacterial challenge, even though it takes much longer to observe the fly's demise. My work, like that of several investigators (Lee, 2008, Leulier, PIMS, (Ryu et al., 2008; Shin et al., 2011; Storelli et al., 2011) points to the importance of the microbiota in several aspects of the biology of the flies. This is also the case in humans. My work is also relevant to an understanding of the homeostasis of the fly intestinal epithelium, which is also likely to be essential to understand the primary causes of genetic diseases such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease.

7. Bibliography

Adams, M.D., Celniker, S.E., Holt, R.A., Evans, C.A., Gocayne, J.D., Amanatides, P.G., Scherer, S.E., Li, P.W., Hoskins, R.A., Galle, R.F., George, R.A., Lewis, S.E., Richards, S., Ashburner, M., Henderson, S.N., Sutton, G.G., Wortman, J.R., Yandell, M.D., Zhang, Q., Chen, L.X., Brandon, R.C., Rogers, Y.H., Blazej, R.G., Champe, M., Pfeiffer, B.D., Wan, K.H., Doyle, C., Baxter, E.G., Helt, G., Nelson, C.R., Gabor, G.L., Abril, J.F., Agbayani, A., An, H.J., Andrews-Pfannkoch, C., Baldwin, D., Ballew, R.M., Basu, A., Baxendale, J., Bayraktaroglu, L., Beasley, E.M., Beeson, K.Y., Benos, P.V., Berman, B.P., Bhandari, D., Bolshakov, S., Borkova, D., Botchan, M.R., Bouck, J., Brokstein, P., Brottier, P., Burtis, K.C., Busam, D.A., Butler, H., Cadieu, E., Center, A., Chandra, I., Cherry, J.M., Cawley, S., Dahlke, C., Davenport, L.B., Davies, P., de Pablos, B., Delcher, A., Deng, Z., Mays, A.D., Dew, I., Dietz, S.M., Dodson, K., Doup, L.E., Downes, M., Dugan-Rocha, S., Dunkov, B.C., Dunn, P., Durbin, K.J., Evangelista, C.C., Ferraz, C., Ferriera, S., Fleischmann, W., Fosler, C., Gabrielian, A.E., Garg, N.S., Gelbart, W.M., Glasser, K., Glodek, A., Gong, F., Gorrell, J.H., Gu, Z., Guan, P., Harris, M., Harris, N.L., Harvey, D., Heiman, T.J., Hernandez, J.R., Houck, J., Hostin, D., Houston, K.A., Howland, T.J., Wei, M.H., Ibegwam, C., Jalali, M., Kalush, F., Karpen, G.H., Ke, Z., Kennison, J.A., Ketchum, K.A., Kimmel, B.E., Kodira, C.D., Kraft, C., Kravitz, S., Kulp, D., Lai, Z., Lasko, P., Lei, Y., Levitsky, A.A., Li, J., Li, Z., Liang, Y., Lin, X., Liu, X., Mattei, B., McIntosh, T.C., McLeod, M.P., McPherson, D., Merkulov, G., Milshina, N.V., Mobarry, C., Morris, J., Moshrefi, A., Mount, S.M., Moy, M., Murphy, B., Murphy, L., Muzny, D.M., Nelson, D.L., Nelson, D.R., Nelson, K.A., Nixon, K., Nusskern, D.R., Pacleb, J.M., Palazzolo, M., Pittman, G.S., Pan, S., Pollard, J., Puri, V., Reese, M.G., Reinert, K., Remington, K., Saunders, R.D., Scheeler, F., Shen, H., Shue, B.C., Siden-Kiamos, I., Simpson, M., Skupski, M.P., Smith, T., Spier, E., Spradling, A.C., Stapleton, M., Strong, R., Sun, E., Svirskas, R., Tector, C., Turner, R., Venter, E., Wang, A.H., Wang, X., Wang, Z.Y., Wassarman, D.A., Weinstock, G.M., Weissenbach, J., Williams, S.M., WoodageT, Worley, K.C., Wu, D., Yang, S., Yao, Q.A., Ye, J., Yeh, R.F., Zaveri, J.S., Zhan, M., Zhang, G., Zhao, Q., Zheng, L., Zheng, X.H., Zhong, F.N., Zhong, W., Zhou, X., Zhu, S., Zhu, X., Smith, H.O., Gibbs, R.A., Myers, E.W., Rubin, G.M., and Venter, J.C. (2000). The genome sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Science (New York, N.Y 287, 2185-2195.

Agaisse, H., and Perrimon, N. (2004). The roles of JAK/STAT signaling in Drosophila immune responses. Immunological reviews 198, 72-82.

Agaisse, H., Petersen, U.M., Boutros, M., Mathey-Prevot, B., and Perrimon, N. (2003). Signaling role of hemocytes in Drosophila JAK/STAT-dependent response to septic injury. Developmental cell 5, 441-450.

Aggarwal, K., Rus, F., Vriesema-Magnuson, C., Erturk-Hasdemir, D., Paquette, N., and Silverman, N. (2008). Rudra interrupts receptor signaling complexes to negatively regulate the IMD pathway. PLoS pathogens 4, e1000120.

Akhouayri, I., Turc, C., Royet, J., and Charroux, B. (2011). Toll-8/Tollo negatively regulates antimicrobial response in the Drosophila respiratory epithelium. PLoS pathogens 7, e1002319.

Apidianakis, Y., and Rahme, L.G. (2011). Drosophila melanogaster as a model for human intestinal infection and pathology. Disease models & mechanisms 4, 21-30.

Arbouzova, N.I., and Zeidler, M.P. (2006). JAK/STAT signalling in Drosophila: insights into conserved regulatory and cellular functions. Development (Cambridge, England) 133, 2605-2616.

Arnot, C.J., Gay, N.J., and Gangloff, M. (2010). Molecular mechanism that induces activation of Spatzle, the ligand for the Drosophila Toll receptor. The Journal of biological chemistry 285, 19502-19509.

Ayres, J.S., and Schneider, D.S. (2008). A signaling protease required for melanization in Drosophila affects resistance and tolerance of infections. PLoS biology 6, 2764-2773.

Ballard, J.W., Melvin, R.G., and Simpson, S.J. (2008). Starvation resistance is positively correlated with body lipid proportion in five wild caught Drosophila simulans populations. Journal of insect physiology 54, 1371-1376.

Bardin, A.J., Perdigoto, C.N., Southall, T.D., Brand, A.H., and Schweisguth, F. (2010). Transcriptional control of stem cell maintenance in the Drosophila intestine. Development (Cambridge, England) 137, 705-714.

Basbous, N., Coste, F., Leone, P., Vincentelli, R., Royet, J., Kellenberger, C., and Roussel, A. (2011). The Drosophila peptidoglycan-recognition protein LF interacts with peptidoglycan-recognition protein LC to downregulate the Imd pathway. EMBO reports 12, 327-333.

Basset, A., Khush, R.S., Braun, A., Gardan, L., Boccard, F., Hoffmann, J.A., and Lemaitre, B. (2000). The phytopathogenic bacteria Erwinia carotovora infects Drosophila and activates an immune response. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 3376-3381.

Belvin, M.P., Jin, Y., and Anderson, K.V. (1995). Cactus protein degradation mediates Drosophila dorsal-ventral signaling. Genes & development 9, 783-793.

Benedik, M.J., and Strych, U. (1998). Serratia marcescens and its extracellular nuclease. FEMS microbiology letters 165, 1-13.

Bergeret, E., Perrin, J., Williams, M., Grunwald, D., Engel, E., Thevenon, D., Taillebourg, E., Bruckert, F., Cosson, P., and Fauvarque, M.O. (2008). TM9SF4 is required for Drosophila cellular immunity via cell adhesion and phagocytosis. Journal of cell science 121, 3325-3334.

Berry, D.L., and Baehrecke, E.H. (2007). Growth arrest and autophagy are required for salivary gland cell degradation in Drosophila. Cell 131, 1137-1148.

Bertoldo, J.B., Razzera, G., Vernal, J., Brod, F.C., Arisi, A.C., and Terenzi, H. Structural stability of Staphylococcus xylosus lipase is modulated by Zn(2+) ions. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1814, 1120-1126.

Bertoldo, J.B., Razzera, G., Vernal, J., Brod, F.C., Arisi, A.C., and Terenzi, H. (2011). Structural stability of Staphylococcus xylosus lipase is modulated by Zn(2+) ions. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1814, 1120-1126.

Beutler, B., Hoebe, K., Du, X., Janssen, E., Georgel, P., and Tabeta, K. (2003a). Lps2 and signal transduction in sepsis: at the intersection of host responses to bacteria and viruses. Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases 35, 563-567.

Beutler, B., Hoebe, K., Du, X., and Ulevitch, R.J. (2003b). How we detect microbes and respond to them: the Toll-like receptors and their transducers. Journal of leukocyte biology 74, 479-485.

Bingel, S.A. (2002). Pathology of a mouse model of x-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Contemporary topics in laboratory animal science / American Association for Laboratory Animal Science 41, 33-38.

Birse, R.T., Choi, J., Reardon, K., Rodriguez, J., Graham, S., Diop, S., Ocorr, K., Bodmer, R., and Oldham, S. (2010). High-fat-diet-induced obesity and heart dysfunction are regulated by the TOR pathway in Drosophila. Cell metabolism 12, 533-544.

Bischoff, V., Vignal, C., Boneca, I.G., Michel, T., Hoffmann, J.A., and Royet, J. (2004). Function of the drosophila pattern-recognition receptor PGRP-SD in the detection of Gram-positive bacteria. Nature immunology 5, 1175-1180.

Bischoff, V., Vignal, C., Duvic, B., Boneca, I.G., Hoffmann, J.A., and Royet, J. (2006). Downregulation of the Drosophila immune response by peptidoglycan-recognition proteins SC1 and SC2. PLoS pathogens 2, e14.

Biteau, B., Karpac, J., Hwangbo, D., and Jasper, H. (2011). Regulation of Drosophila lifespan by JNK signaling. Experimental gerontology 46, 349-354.

Blandin, S., and Levashina, E.A. (2004). Thioester-containing proteins and insect immunity. Molecular immunology 40, 903-908.

Bond, D., and Foley, E. (2009). A quantitative RNAi screen for JNK modifiers identifies Pvr as a novel regulator of Drosophila immune signaling. PLoS pathogens 5, e1000655.

Bou Aoun, R., Hetru, C., Troxler, L., Doucet, D., Ferrandon, D., and Matt, N. (2011). Analysis of thioester-containing proteins during the innate immune response of Drosophila melanogaster. Journal of innate immunity 3, 52-64.

Boutros, M., Agaisse, H., and Perrimon, N. (2002). Sequential activation of signaling pathways during innate immune responses in Drosophila. Developmental cell 3, 711-722.

Bradfield, J.F., Wagner, J.E., Boivin, G.P., Steffen, E.K., and Russell, R.J. (1993). Epizootic fatal dermatitis in athymic nude mice due to Staphylococcus xylosus. Laboratory animal science 43, 111-113.

Bragatto, I., Genta, F.A., Ribeiro, A.F., Terra, W.R., and Ferreira, C. (2010). Characterization of a beta-1,3-glucanase active in the alkaline midgut of Spodoptera frugiperda larvae and its relation to beta-glucan-binding proteins. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology 40, 861-872.

Brand, A.H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development (Cambridge, England) 118, 401-415.

Braun, A., Hoffmann, J.A., and Meister, M. (1998). Analysis of the Drosophila host defense in domino mutant larvae, which are devoid of hemocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 14337-14342.

Braun, A., Lemaitre, B., Lanot, R., Zachary, D., and Meister, M. (1997). Drosophila immunity: analysis of larval hemocytes by P-element-mediated enhancer trap. Genetics 147, 623-634.

Brennan, C.A., Delaney, J.R., Schneider, D.S., and Anderson, K.V. (2007). Psidin is required in Drosophila blood cells for both phagocytic degradation and immune activation of the fat body. Curr Biol 17, 67-72.

Brogiolo, W., Stocker, H., Ikeya, T., Rintelen, F., Fernandez, R., and Hafen, E. (2001). An evolutionarily conserved function of the Drosophila insulin receptor and insulin-like peptides in growth control. Curr Biol 11, 213-221.

Brown, S., and Zeidler, M.P. (2008). Unphosphorylated STATs go nuclear. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18, 455-460.

Brun, S., Vidal, S., Spellman, P., Takahashi, K., Tricoire, H., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). The MAPKKK Mekk1 regulates the expression of Turandot stress genes in response to septic injury in Drosophila. Genes Cells 11, 397-407.

Brurberg, M.B., Eijsink, V.G., Haandrikman, A.J., Venema, G., and Nes, I.F. (1995). Chitinase B from Serratia marcescens BJL200 is exported to the periplasm without processing. Microbiology 141 (Pt 1), 123-131.

Buchon, N., Broderick, N.A., Kuraishi, T., and Lemaitre, B. (2010). Drosophila EGFR pathway coordinates stem cell proliferation and gut remodeling following infection. BMC biology 8, 152.

Buchon, N., Poidevin, M., Kwon, H.M., Guillou, A., Sottas, V., Lee, B.L., and Lemaitre, B. (2009). A single modular serine protease integrates signals from pattern-recognition receptors upstream of the Drosophila Toll pathway. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 12442-12447.

Caballero, I., and Piedrahita, J.A. (2009). Evaluation of the Serratia marcescens nuclease (NucA) as a transgenic cell ablation system in porcine. Anim Biotechnol 20, 177-185.

Callus, B.A., and Mathey-Prevot, B. (2002). SOCS36E, a novel Drosophila SOCS protein, suppresses JAK/STAT and EGF-R signalling in the imaginal wing disc. Oncogene 21, 4812-4821.

Caricilli, A.M., Picardi, P.K., de Abreu, L.L., Ueno, M., Prada, P.O., Ropelle, E.R., Hirabara, S.M., Castoldi, A., Vieira, P., Camara, N.O., Curi, R., Carvalheira, J.B., and Saad, M.J. (2012). Gut Microbiota Is a Key Modulator of Insulin Resistance in TLR 2 Knockout Mice. PLoS biology 9, e1001212.

Chang, C.I., Chelliah, Y., Borek, D., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., and Deisenhofer, J. (2006). Structure of tracheal cytotoxin in complex with a heterodimeric pattern-recognition receptor. Science (New York, N.Y 311, 1761-1764.

Charroux, B., Rival, T., Narbonne-Reveau, K., and Royet, J. (2009). Bacterial detection by Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition proteins. Microbes and infection / Institut Pasteur 11, 631-636.

Charroux, B., and Royet, J. (2009). Elimination of plasmatocytes by targeted apoptosis reveals their role in multiple aspects of the Drosophila immune response. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 9797-9802.

Charroux, B., and Royet, J. (2010). Drosophila immune response: From systemic antimicrobial peptide production in fat body cells to local defense in the intestinal tract. Fly (Austin) 4, 40-47.

Chasan, R., and Anderson, K.V. (1989). The role of easter, an apparent serine protease, in organizing the dorsal-ventral pattern of the Drosophila embryo. Cell 56, 391-400.

Chasan, R., Jin, Y., and Anderson, K.V. (1992). Activation of the easter zymogen is regulated by five other genes to define dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo. Development (Cambridge, England) 115, 607-616.

Chassaing, B., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2011). The commensal microbiota and enteropathogens in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 140, 1720-1728.

Chen, P., Rodriguez, A., Erskine, R., Thach, T., and Abrams, J.M. (1998). Dredd, a novel effector of the apoptosis activators reaper, grim, and hid in Drosophila. Developmental biology 201, 202-216.

Chinchore, Y., Gerber, G.F., and Dolph, P.J. (2012). Alternative pathway of cell death in Drosophila mediated by NF-kappaB transcription factor Relish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.

Chintapalli, V.R., Wang, J., and Dow, J.A. (2007). Using FlyAtlas to identify better Drosophila melanogaster models of human disease. Nature genetics 39, 715-720.

Choe, K.M., Lee, H., and Anderson, K.V. (2005). Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein LC (PGRP-LC) acts as a signal-transducing innate immune receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 1122-1126.

Choe, K.M., Werner, T., Stoven, S., Hultmark, D., and Anderson, K.V. (2002). Requirement for a peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP) in Relish activation and antibacterial immune responses in Drosophila. Science (New York, N.Y 296, 359-362.

Colombani, J., Raisin, S., Pantalacci, S., Radimerski, T., Montagne, J., and Leopold, P. (2003). A nutrient sensor mechanism controls Drosophila growth. Cell 114, 739-749.

Conrad, S.A., and West, B.C. (1984). Endocarditis caused by Staphylococcus xylosus associated with intravenous drug abuse. The Journal of infectious diseases 149, 826-827.

Cordero, J.B., and Sansom, O.J. (2012). Wnt signalling and its role in stem celldriven intestinal regeneration and hyperplasia. Acta physiologica (Oxford, England) 204, 137-143.

Cox, C.R., and Gilmore, M.S. (2007). Native microbial colonization of Drosophila melanogaster and its use as a model of Enterococcus faecalis pathogenesis. Infection and immunity 75, 1565-1576.

Cronin, S.J., Nehme, N.T., Limmer, S., Liegeois, S., Pospisilik, J.A., Schramek, D., Leibbrandt, A., Simoes Rde, M., Gruber, S., Puc, U., Ebersberger, I., Zoranovic, T., Neely, G.G., von Haeseler, A., Ferrandon, D., and Penninger, J.M. (2009). Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies genes involved in intestinal pathogenic bacterial infection. Science (New York, N.Y 325, 340-343.

Cuttell, L., Vaughan, A., Silva, E., Escaron, C.J., Lavine, M., Van Goethem, E., Eid, J.P., Quirin, M., and Franc, N.C. (2008). Undertaker, a Drosophila Junctophilin, links Draper-mediated phagocytosis and calcium homeostasis. Cell 135, 524-534.

Davis, R.J. (1999). Signal transduction by the c-Jun N-terminal kinase. Biochemical Society symposium 64, 1-12.

De Bandt, J.P., Waligora-Dupriet, A.J., and Butel, M.J. (2011). Intestinal microbiota in inflammation and insulin resistance: relevance to humans. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care 14, 334-340.

De Gregorio, E., Spellman, P.T., Rubin, G.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2001). Genomewide analysis of the Drosophila immune response by using oligonucleotide microarrays. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 12590-12595.

Defaye, A., Evans, I., Crozatier, M., Wood, W., Lemaitre, B., and Leulier, F. (2009). Genetic ablation of Drosophila phagocytes reveals their contribution to both development and resistance to bacterial infection. Journal of innate immunity 1, 322-334.

Delaney, J.R., and Mlodzik, M. (2006). TGF-beta activated kinase-1: new insights into the diverse roles of TAK1 in development and immunity. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex 5, 2852-2855.

Delaney, J.R., Stoven, S., Uvell, H., Anderson, K.V., Engstrom, Y., and Mlodzik, M. (2006). Cooperative control of Drosophila immune responses by the JNK and NF-kappaB signaling pathways. The EMBO journal 25, 3068-3077.

Dimarcq, J.L., Keppi, E., Dunbar, B., Lambert, J., Reichhart, J.M., Hoffmann, D., Rankine, S.M., Fothergill, J.E., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1988). Insect immunity. Purification and characterization of a family of novel inducible antibacterial proteins from immunized larvae of the dipteran Phormia terranovae and complete amino-acid sequence of the predominant member, diptericin A. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS 171, 17-22.

Dionne, M.S., Pham, L.N., Shirasu-Hiza, M., and Schneider, D.S. (2006). Akt and FOXO dysregulation contribute to infection-induced wasting in Drosophila. Curr Biol 16, 1977-1985.

Dordet-Frisoni, E., Dorchies, G., De Araujo, C., Talon, R., and Leroy, S. (2007). Genomic diversity in Staphylococcus xylosus. Applied and environmental microbiology 73, 7199-7209.

Ekengren, S., and Hultmark, D. (2001). A family of Turandot-related genes in the humoral stress response of Drosophila. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 284, 998-1003.

Ekengren, S., Tryselius, Y., Dushay, M.S., Liu, G., Steiner, H., and Hultmark, D. (2001). A humoral stress response in Drosophila. Curr Biol 11, 714-718.

El Chamy, L., Leclerc, V., Caldelari, I., and Reichhart, J.M. (2008). Sensing of 'danger signals' and pathogen-associated molecular patterns defines binary signaling pathways 'upstream' of Toll. Nature immunology 9, 1165-1170.

Eldon, E., Kooyer, S., D'Evelyn, D., Duman, M., Lawinger, P., Botas, J., and Bellen, H. (1994). The Drosophila 18 wheeler is required for morphogenesis and has striking similarities to Toll. Development (Cambridge, England) 120, 885-899.

Eleftherianos, I., and Revenis, C. (2011). Role and importance of phenoloxidase in insect hemostasis. Journal of innate immunity 3, 28-33.

Elinav, E., Strowig, T., Kau, A.L., Henao-Mejia, J., Thaiss, C.A., Booth, C.J., Peaper, D.R., Bertin, J., Eisenbarth, S.C., Gordon, J.I., and Flavell, R.A. (2011). NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis. Cell 145, 745-757.

Elliott, M.R., and Ravichandran, K.S. (2008). Death in the CNS: six-microns-under. Cell 133, 393-395.

Elrod-Erickson, M., Mishra, S., and Schneider, D. (2000). Interactions between the cellular and humoral immune responses in Drosophila. Curr Biol 10, 781-784.

Erturk-Hasdemir, D., Broemer, M., Leulier, F., Lane, W.S., Paquette, N., Hwang, D., Kim, C.H., Stoven, S., Meier, P., and Silverman, N. (2009). Two roles for the Drosophila IKK complex in the activation of Relish and the induction of antimicrobial peptide genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 9779-9784.

Evans, I.R., and Wood, W. (2011). Drosophila embryonic hemocytes. Curr Biol 21, R173-174.

Fehlbaum, P., Bulet, P., Michaut, L., Lagueux, M., Broekaert, W.F., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1994). Insect immunity. Septic injury of Drosophila induces the synthesis of a potent antifungal peptide with sequence homology to plant antifungal peptides. The Journal of biological chemistry 269, 33159-33163.

Fernandez, N.Q., Grosshans, J., Goltz, J.S., and Stein, D. (2001). Separable and redundant regulatory determinants in Cactus mediate its dorsal group dependent degradation. Development (Cambridge, England) 128, 2963-2974.

Ferrandon, D., Imler, J.L., Hetru, C., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2007). The Drosophila systemic immune response: sensing and signalling during bacterial and fungal infections. Nature reviews 7, 862-874.

Ferrandon, D., Imler, J.L., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2004). Sensing infection in Drosophila: Toll and beyond. Seminars in immunology 16, 43-53.

Ferrandon, D., Jung, A.C., Criqui, M., Lemaitre, B., Uttenweiler-Joseph, S., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1998). A drosomycin-GFP reporter transgene reveals a local immune response in Drosophila that is not dependent on the Toll pathway. The EMBO journal 17, 1217-1227.

Fessler, L.I., Nelson, R.E., and Fessler, J.H. (1994). Drosophila extracellular matrix. Methods in enzymology 245, 271-294.

Flyg, C., Kenne, K., and Boman, H.G. (1980). Insect pathogenic properties of Serratia marcescens: phage-resistant mutants with a decreased resistance to Cecropia immunity and a decreased virulence to Drosophila. J Gen Microbiol 120, 173-181.

Flyg, C., and Xanthopoulos, K. (1983). Insect pathogenic properties of *Serratia marcescens*. Passive and active resistance to insect immunity studied with protease-deficient and phage-resistant mutants. J. Gen. Microbiol. 129, 453-464.

Franc, N.C., Dimarcq, J.L., Lagueux, M., Hoffmann, J., and Ezekowitz, R.A. (1996). Croquemort, a novel Drosophila hemocyte/macrophage receptor that recognizes apoptotic cells. Immunity 4, 431-443.

Franc, N.C., Heitzler, P., Ezekowitz, R.A., and White, K. (1999). Requirement for croquemort in phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in Drosophila. Science (New York, N.Y 284, 1991-1994.

Fthenakis, G.C., Marples, R.R., Richardson, J.F., and Jones, J.E. (1994). Some properties of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from cases of ovine mastitis. Epidemiology and infection 112, 171-176.

Ganguly, A., Jiang, J., and Ip, Y.T. (2005). Drosophila WntD is a target and an inhibitor of the Dorsal/Twist/Snail network in the gastrulating embryo. Development (Cambridge, England) 132, 3419-3429.

Garrett, W.S., Gordon, J.I., and Glimcher, L.H. (2010). Homeostasis and inflammation in the intestine. Cell 140, 859-870.

Garver, L.S., Wu, J., and Wu, L.P. (2006). The peptidoglycan recognition protein PGRP-SC1a is essential for Toll signaling and phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus in Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 660-665.

Gay, N.J., and Gangloff, M. (2007). Structure and function of Toll receptors and their ligands. Annual review of biochemistry 76, 141-165.

Gay, N.J., and Keith, F.J. (1991). Drosophila Toll and IL-1 receptor. Nature 351, 355-356.

Gay, N.J., and Keith, F.J. (1992). Regulation of translation and proteolysis during the development of embryonic dorso-ventral polarity in Drosophila. Homology of easter proteinase with Limulus proclotting enzyme and translational activation of Toll receptor synthesis. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1132, 290-296.

Gesellchen, V., Kuttenkeuler, D., Steckel, M., Pelte, N., and Boutros, M. (2005). An RNA interference screen identifies Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein 2 as a regulator of innate immune signalling in Drosophila. EMBO reports 6, 979-984.

Geuking, P., Narasimamurthy, R., Lemaitre, B., Basler, K., and Leulier, F. (2009). A non-redundant role for Drosophila Mkk4 and hemipterous/Mkk7 in TAK1-mediated activation of JNK. PloS one 4, e7709.

Gobert, V., Gottar, M., Matskevich, A.A., Rutschmann, S., Royet, J., Belvin, M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ferrandon, D. (2003). Dual activation of the Drosophila toll pathway by two pattern recognition receptors. Science (New York, N.Y 302, 2126-2130.

Gordon, M.D., Ayres, J.S., Schneider, D.S., and Nusse, R. (2008). Pathogenesis of listeria-infected Drosophila wntD mutants is associated with elevated levels of the novel immunity gene edin. PLoS pathogens 4, e1000111.

Gordon, M.D., Dionne, M.S., Schneider, D.S., and Nusse, R. (2005). WntD is a feedback inhibitor of Dorsal/NF-kappaB in Drosophila development and immunity. Nature 437, 746-749.

Goto, A., Kadowaki, T., and Kitagawa, Y. (2003). Drosophila hemolectin gene is expressed in embryonic and larval hemocytes and its knock down causes bleeding defects. Developmental biology 264, 582-591.

Gottar, M., Gobert, V., Matskevich, A.A., Reichhart, J.M., Wang, C., Butt, T.M., Belvin, M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ferrandon, D. (2006). Dual detection of fungal infections in Drosophila via recognition of glucans and sensing of virulence factors. Cell 127, 1425-1437.

Gottar, M., Gobert, V., Michel, T., Belvin, M., Duyk, G., Hoffmann, J.A., Ferrandon, D., and Royet, J. (2002). The Drosophila immune response against Gram-negative bacteria is mediated by a peptidoglycan recognition protein. Nature 416, 640-644.

Gozalo, A.S., Hoffmann, V.J., Brinster, L.R., Elkins, W.R., Ding, L., and Holland, S.M. (2010). Spontaneous Staphylococcus xylosus infection in mice deficient in NADPH oxidase and comparison with other laboratory mouse strains. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 49, 480-486.

Gregory, L., Came, P.J., and Brown, S. (2008). Stem cell regulation by JAK/STAT signaling in Drosophila. Seminars in cell & developmental biology 19, 407-413.

Grigorian, M., Mandal, L., and Hartenstein, V. (2011). Hematopoiesis at the onset of metamorphosis: terminal differentiation and dissociation of the Drosophila lymph gland. Dev Genes Evol 221, 121-131.

Grimont, P.A., and Grimont, F. (1978). The genus Serratia. Annu Rev Microbiol 32, 221-248.

Guntermann, S., and Foley, E. (2011). The protein Dredd is an essential component of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway in the Drosophila immune response. The Journal of biological chemistry 286, 30284-30294.

Ha, E.M., Lee, K.A., Park, S.H., Kim, S.H., Nam, H.J., Lee, H.Y., Kang, D., and Lee, W.J. (2009). Regulation of DUOX by the Galphaq-phospholipase Cbeta-Ca2+ pathway in Drosophila gut immunity. Developmental cell 16, 386-397.

Ha, E.M., Oh, C.T., Ryu, J.H., Bae, Y.S., Kang, S.W., Jang, I.H., Brey, P.T., and Lee, W.J. (2005). An antioxidant system required for host protection against gut infection in Drosophila. Developmental cell 8, 125-132.

Harbison, S.T., Chang, S., Kamdar, K.P., and Mackay, T.F. (2005). Quantitative genomics of starvation stress resistance in Drosophila. Genome biology 6, R36.

Hariharan, H., Matthew, V., Fountain, J., Snell, A., Doherty, D., King, B., Shemer, E., Oliveira, S., and Sharma, R.N. Aerobic bacteria from mucous membranes, ear canals, and skin wounds of feral cats in Grenada, and the antimicrobial drug susceptibility of major isolates. Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases 34, 129-134.

Hariharan, H., Matthew, V., Fountain, J., Snell, A., Doherty, D., King, B., Shemer, E., Oliveira, S., and Sharma, R.N. (2011). Aerobic bacteria from mucous membranes, ear canals, and skin wounds of feral cats in Grenada, and the antimicrobial drug susceptibility of major isolates. Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases 34, 129-134.

Harpster, M.H., and Dunsmuir, P. (1989). Nucleotide sequence of the chitinase B gene of Serratia marcescens QMB1466. Nucleic acids research 17, 5395.

Hashimoto, C., Hudson, K.L., and Anderson, K.V. (1988). The Toll gene of Drosophila, required for dorsal-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. Cell 52, 269-279.

Hedengren, M., Asling, B., Dushay, M.S., Ando, I., Ekengren, S., Wihlborg, M., and Hultmark, D. (1999). Relish, a central factor in the control of humoral but not cellular immunity in Drosophila. Molecular cell 4, 827-837.

Hejazi, A., and Falkiner, F.R. (1997). Serratia marcescens. J Med Microbiol 46, 903-912. Hines, D.A., Saurugger, P.N., Ihler, G.M., and Benedik, M.J. (1988). Genetic analysis of extracellular proteins of Serratia marcescens. Journal of bacteriology 170, 4141-4146.

Hoffmann, A., Neumann, P., Schierhorn, A., and Stubbs, M.T. (2008). Crystallization of Spatzle, a cystine-knot protein involved in embryonic development and innate immunity in Drosophila melanogaster. Acta crystallographica 64, 707-710.

Hoffmann, A.A., Hallas, R., Sinclair, C., and Mitrovski, P. (2001). Levels of variation in stress resistance in drosophila among strains, local populations, and geographic regions: patterns for desiccation, starvation, cold resistance, and associated traits. Evolution 55, 1621-1630.

Holz, A., Bossinger, B., Strasser, T., Janning, W., and Klapper, R. (2003). The two origins of hemocytes in Drosophila. Development (Cambridge, England) 130, 4955-4962.

Horz, H.P., Vianna, M.E., Gomes, B.P., and Conrads, G. (2005). Evaluation of universal probes and primer sets for assessing total bacterial load in clinical samples: general implications and practical use in endodontic antimicrobial therapy. Journal of clinical microbiology 43, 5332-5337.

Hu, S., and Yang, X. (2000). dFADD, a novel death domain-containing adapter protein for the Drosophila caspase DREDD. The Journal of biological chemistry 275, 30761-30764.

Hu, X., Yagi, Y., Tanji, T., Zhou, S., and Ip, Y.T. (2004). Multimerization and interaction of Toll and Spatzle in Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 9369-9374.

Huang, J., Wu, S., Barrera, J., Matthews, K., and Pan, D. (2005). The Hippo signaling pathway coordinately regulates cell proliferation and apoptosis by inactivating Yorkie, the Drosophila Homolog of YAP. Cell 122, 421-434.

Huh, J.R., Foe, I., Muro, I., Chen, C.H., Seol, J.H., Yoo, S.J., Guo, M., Park, J.M., and Hay, B.A. (2007). The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) DIAP2 is dispensable for cell survival, required for the innate immune response to gramnegative bacterial infection, and can be negatively regulated by the reaper/hid/grim family of IAP-binding apoptosis inducers. The Journal of biological chemistry 282, 2056-2068.

Hull-Thompson, J., Muffat, J., Sanchez, D., Walker, D.W., Benzer, S., Ganfornina, M.D., and Jasper, H. (2009). Control of metabolic homeostasis by stress signaling is mediated by the lipocalin NLaz. PLoS genetics 5, e1000460.

Inan, O.T., Marcu, O., Sanchez, M.E., Bhattacharya, S., and Kovacs, G.T. (2011). A portable system for monitoring the behavioral activity of Drosophila. J Neurosci Methods 202, 45-52.

losifidis, E., Farmaki, E., Nedelkopoulou, N., Tsivitanidou, M., Kaperoni, M., Pentsoglou, V., Pournaras, S., Athanasiou-Metaxa, M., and Roilides, E. (2012). Outbreak of bloodstream infections because of Serratia marcescens in a pediatric department. Am J Infect Control 40, 11-15.

Isabel, G., Martin, J.R., Chidami, S., Veenstra, J.A., and Rosay, P. (2005). AKHproducing neuroendocrine cell ablation decreases trehalose and induces behavioral changes in Drosophila. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 288, R531-538.

Ivanenkov, Y.A., Balakin, K.V., and Lavrovsky, Y. (2011). Small molecule inhibitors of NF-kB and JAK/STAT signal transduction pathways as promising anti-inflammatory therapeutics. Mini Rev Med Chem 11, 55-78.

Jackson, S.H., Miller, G.F., Segal, B.H., Mardiney, M., 3rd, Domachowske, J.B., Gallin, J.I., and Holland, S.M. (2001). IFN-gamma is effective in reducing infections in the mouse model of chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). J Interferon Cytokine Res 21, 567-573.

Jang, I.H., Chosa, N., Kim, S.H., Nam, H.J., Lemaitre, B., Ochiai, M., Kambris, Z., Brun, S., Hashimoto, C., Ashida, M., Brey, P.T., and Lee, W.J. (2006). A Spatzle-processing enzyme required for toll signaling activation in Drosophila innate immunity. Developmental cell 10, 45-55.

Jenkins, J.B. (1967a). Mutagenesis at a complex locus in Drosophila with the monofunctional alkylating agent, ethyl methanesulfonate. Genetics 57, 783-793.

Jenkins, J.B. (1967b). The induction of mosaic and complete dumpy mutants in Drosophila melanogaster with ethyl methanesulfonate. Mutation research 4, 90-92.

Jiang, H., and Edgar, B.A. (2009). EGFR signaling regulates the proliferation of Drosophila adult midgut progenitors. Development (Cambridge, England) 136, 483-493.

Jiggins, F.M., and Kim, K.W. (2006). Contrasting evolutionary patterns in Drosophila immune receptors. J Mol Evol 63, 769-780.

Jung, S.H., Evans, C.J., Uemura, C., and Banerjee, U. (2005). The Drosophila lymph gland as a developmental model of hematopoiesis. Development (Cambridge, England) 132, 2521-2533.

Kagan, J.C., Su, T., Horng, T., Chow, A., Akira, S., and Medzhitov, R. (2008). TRAM couples endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4 to the induction of interferon-beta. Nature immunology 9, 361-368.

Kallus, S.J., and Brandt, L.J. (2012). The intestinal microbiota and obesity. Journal of clinical gastroenterology 46, 16-24.

Kambris, Z., Brun, S., Jang, I.H., Nam, H.J., Romeo, Y., Takahashi, K., Lee, W.J., Ueda, R., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). Drosophila immunity: a large-scale in vivo RNAi screen identifies five serine proteases required for Toll activation. Curr Biol 16, 808-813.

Kaneko, T., Goldman, W.E., Mellroth, P., Steiner, H., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., Harley, W., Fox, A., Golenbock, D., and Silverman, N. (2004). Monomeric and polymeric gram-negative peptidoglycan but not purified LPS stimulate the Drosophila IMD pathway. Immunity 20, 637-649.

Kaneko, T., Yano, T., Aggarwal, K., Lim, J.H., Ueda, K., Oshima, Y., Peach, C., Erturk-Hasdemir, D., Goldman, W.E., Oh, B.H., Kurata, S., and Silverman, N. (2006). PGRP-LC and PGRP-LE have essential yet distinct functions in the drosophila immune response to monomeric DAP-type peptidoglycan. Nature immunology 7, 715-723.

Karlsson, C., Korayem, A.M., Scherfer, C., Loseva, O., Dushay, M.S., and Theopold, U. (2004). Proteomic analysis of the Drosophila larval hemolymph clot. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 52033-52041.

Karlyshev, A.V., Pallen, M.J., and Wren, B.W. (2000). Single-primer PCR procedure for rapid identification of transposon insertion sites. BioTechniques 28, 1078, 1080, 1082.

Karsten, P., Hader, S., and Zeidler, M.P. (2002). Cloning and expression of Drosophila SOCS36E and its potential regulation by the JAK/STAT pathway. Mechanisms of development 117, 343-346.

Kaska, M., Lysenko, O., and Chaloupka, J. (1976). Exocellular proteases of Serratia marcescens and their toxicity to larvae of Galleria mellonella. Folia microbiologica 21, 465-473.

Kellenberger, C., Leone, P., Coquet, L., Jouenne, T., Reichhart, J.M., and Roussel, A. (2011). Structure-function analysis of grass clip serine protease involved in Drosophila Toll pathway activation. The Journal of biological chemistry 286, 12300-12307.

Kennerdell, J.R., and Carthew, R.W. (2000). Heritable gene silencing in Drosophila using double-stranded RNA. Nature biotechnology 18, 896-898.

Kessie, G., Ettayebi, M., Haddad, A.M., Shibl, A.M., al-Shammary, F.J., Tawfik, A.F., and al-Ahdal, M.N. (1998). Plasmid profile and antibiotic resistance in coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from polluted water. Journal of applied microbiology 84, 417-422.

Kida, Y., Inoue, H., Shimizu, T., and Kuwano, K. (2007). Serratia marcescens serralysin induces inflammatory responses through protease-activated receptor 2. Infection and immunity 75, 164-174.

Kim, L.K., Choi, U.Y., Cho, H.S., Lee, J.S., Lee, W.B., Kim, J., Jeong, K., Shim, J., Kim-Ha, J., and Kim, Y.J. (2007). Down-regulation of NF-kappaB target genes by the AP-1 and STAT complex during the innate immune response in Drosophila. PLoS biology 5, e238.

Kim, M., Lee, J.H., Lee, S.Y., Kim, E., and Chung, J. (2006). Caspar, a suppressor of antibacterial immunity in Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 16358-16363.

Kim, M.S., Byun, M., and Oh, B.H. (2003). Crystal structure of peptidoglycan recognition protein LB from Drosophila melanogaster. Nature immunology 4, 787-793.

Kim, T., Yoon, J., Cho, H., Lee, W.B., Kim, J., Song, Y.H., Kim, S.N., Yoon, J.H., Kim-Ha, J., and Kim, Y.J. (2005). Downregulation of lipopolysaccharide response in Drosophila by negative crosstalk between the AP1 and NF-kappaB signaling modules. Nature immunology 6, 211-218.

Kleino, A., Myllymaki, H., Kallio, J., Vanha-aho, L.M., Oksanen, K., Ulvila, J., Hultmark, D., Valanne, S., and Ramet, M. (2008). Pirk is a negative regulator of the Drosophila Imd pathway. J Immunol 180, 5413-5422.

Kleino, A., Valanne, S., Ulvila, J., Kallio, J., Myllymaki, H., Enwald, H., Stoven, S., Poidevin, M., Ueda, R., Hultmark, D., Lemaitre, B., and Ramet, M. (2005). Inhibitor of apoptosis 2 and TAK1-binding protein are components of the Drosophila Imd pathway. The EMBO journal 24, 3423-3434.

Kloos, W.E., and Schleifer, K.H. (1986). Genus IV. *Staphylococcus*, In Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD., 1013-1035.

Kloos, W.E., Zimmerman, R.J., and Smith, R.F. (1976). Preliminary studies on the characterization and distribution of Staphylococcus and Micrococcus species on animal skin. Applied and environmental microbiology 31, 53-59.

Knowles, S., Herra, C., Devitt, E., O'Brien, A., Mulvihill, E., McCann, S.R., Browne, P., Kennedy, M.J., and Keane, C.T. (2000). An outbreak of multiply resistant Serratia marcescens: the importance of persistent carriage. Bone Marrow Transplant 25, 873-877.

Kocks, C., Cho, J.H., Nehme, N., Ulvila, J., Pearson, A.M., Meister, M., Strom, C., Conto, S.L., Hetru, C., Stuart, L.M., Stehle, T., Hoffmann, J.A., Reichhart, J.M., Ferrandon, D., Ramet, M., and Ezekowitz, R.A. (2005). Eater, a transmembrane

protein mediating phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens in Drosophila. Cell 123, 335-346.

Koksal, F., Yasar, H., and Samasti, M. (2009). Antibiotic resistance patterns of coagulase-negative staphylococcus strains isolated from blood cultures of septicemic patients in Turkey. Microbiological research 164, 404-410.

Kramer, J.M., Davidge, J.T., Lockyer, J.M., and Staveley, B.E. (2003). Expression of Drosophila FOXO regulates growth and can phenocopy starvation. BMC developmental biology 3, 5.

Kramer, J.M., Slade, J.D., and Staveley, B.E. (2008). foxo is required for resistance to amino acid starvation in Drosophila. Genome 51, 668-672.

Kuraishi, T., Binggeli, O., Opota, O., Buchon, N., and Lemaitre, B. (2011). Genetic evidence for a protective role of the peritrophic matrix against intestinal bacterial infection in Drosophila melanogaster. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 15966-15971.

Kurant, E., Axelrod, S., Leaman, D., and Gaul, U. (2008). Six-microns-under acts upstream of Draper in the glial phagocytosis of apoptotic neurons. Cell 133, 498-509.

Kurucz, E., Markus, R., Zsamboki, J., Folkl-Medzihradszky, K., Darula, Z., Vilmos, P., Udvardy, A., Krausz, I., Lukacsovich, T., Gateff, E., Zettervall, C.J., Hultmark, D., and Ando, I. (2007). Nimrod, a putative phagocytosis receptor with EGF repeats in Drosophila plasmatocytes. Curr Biol 17, 649-654.

Kurz, C.L., Chauvet, S., Andres, E., Aurouze, M., Vallet, I., Michel, G.P., Uh, M., Celli, J., Filloux, A., De Bentzmann, S., Steinmetz, I., Hoffmann, J.A., Finlay, B.B., Gorvel, J.P., Ferrandon, D., and Ewbank, J.J. (2003). Virulence factors of the human opportunistic pathogen Serratia marcescens identified by in vivo screening. The EMBO journal 22, 1451-1460.

Lagueux, M., Perrodou, E., Levashina, E.A., Capovilla, M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (2000). Constitutive expression of a complement-like protein in toll and JAK gain-of-function mutants of Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 11427-11432.

Lanot, R., Zachary, D., Holder, F., and Meister, M. (2001). Postembryonic hematopoiesis in Drosophila. Developmental biology 230, 243-257.

Leclerc, V., Pelte, N., El Chamy, L., Martinelli, C., Ligoxygakis, P., Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (2006). Prophenoloxidase activation is not required for survival to microbial infections in Drosophila. EMBO reports 7, 231-235.

Lemaitre, B., and Hoffmann, J. (2007). The host defense of Drosophila melanogaster. Annual review of immunology 25, 697-743.

Lemaitre, B., Kromer-Metzger, E., Michaut, L., Nicolas, E., Meister, M., Georgel, P., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1995). A recessive mutation, immune deficiency (imd), defines two distinct control pathways in the Drosophila host defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92, 9465-9469.

Leulier, F., Lhocine, N., Lemaitre, B., and Meier, P. (2006). The Drosophila inhibitor of apoptosis protein DIAP2 functions in innate immunity and is essential to resist gram-negative bacterial infection. Molecular and cellular biology 26, 7821-7831.

Leulier, F., Parquet, C., Pili-Floury, S., Ryu, J.H., Caroff, M., Lee, W.J., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., and Lemaitre, B. (2003). The Drosophila immune system detects bacteria through specific peptidoglycan recognition. Nature immunology 4, 478-484.

Leulier, F., Rodriguez, A., Khush, R.S., Abrams, J.M., and Lemaitre, B. (2000). The Drosophila caspase Dredd is required to resist gram-negative bacterial infection. EMBO reports 1, 353-358.

Leulier, F., Vidal, S., Saigo, K., Ueda, R., and Lemaitre, B. (2002). Inducible expression of double-stranded RNA reveals a role for dFADD in the regulation of the antibacterial response in Drosophila adults. Curr Biol 12, 996-1000.

Levashina, E.A., Langley, E., Green, C., Gubb, D., Ashburner, M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (1999). Constitutive activation of toll-mediated antifungal defense in serpin-deficient Drosophila. Science (New York, N.Y 285, 1917-1919.

Levashina, E.A., Moita, L.F., Blandin, S., Vriend, G., Lagueux, M., and Kafatos, F.C. (2001). Conserved role of a complement-like protein in phagocytosis revealed by dsRNA knockout in cultured cells of the mosquito, Anopheles gambiae. Cell 104, 709-718.

Levy, F., Rabel, D., Charlet, M., Bulet, P., Hoffmann, J.A., and Ehret-Sabatier, L. (2004). Peptidomic and proteomic analyses of the systemic immune response of Drosophila. Biochimie 86, 607-616.

Lhocine, N., Ribeiro, P.S., Buchon, N., Wepf, A., Wilson, R., Tenev, T., Lemaitre, B., Gstaiger, M., Meier, P., and Leulier, F. (2008). PIMS modulates immune tolerance by negatively regulating Drosophila innate immune signaling. Cell host & microbe 4, 147-158.

Li, W.X. (2008). Canonical and non-canonical JAK-STAT signaling. Trends in cell biology 18, 545-551.

Liberati, N.T., Urbach, J.M., Miyata, S., Lee, D.G., Drenkard, E., Wu, G., Villanueva, J., Wei, T., and Ausubel, F.M. (2006). An ordered, nonredundant library of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain PA14 transposon insertion mutants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 2833-2838.

Liehl, P., Blight, M., Vodovar, N., Boccard, F., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). Prevalence of local immune response against oral infection in a Drosophila/Pseudomonas infection model. PLoS pathogens 2, e56.

Ligoxygakis, P., Pelte, N., Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (2002). Activation of Drosophila Toll during fungal infection by a blood serine protease. Science (New York, N.Y 297, 114-116.

Lim, J.H., Kim, M.S., Kim, H.E., Yano, T., Oshima, Y., Aggarwal, K., Goldman, W.E., Silverman, N., Kurata, S., and Oh, B.H. (2006). Structural basis for preferential recognition of diaminopimelic acid-type peptidoglycan by a subset of peptidoglycan recognition proteins. The Journal of biological chemistry 281, 8286-8295.

Limmer, S., Haller, S., Drenkard, E., Lee, J., Yu, S., Kocks, C., Ausubel, F.M., and Ferrandon, D. (2011). Pseudomonas aeruginosa RhIR is required to neutralize the cellular immune response in a Drosophila melanogaster oral infection model. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 17378-17383.

Lin, G., Xu, N., and Xi, R. (2010). Paracrine unpaired signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway controls self-renewal and lineage differentiation of drosophila intestinal stem cells. Journal of molecular cell biology 2, 37-49.

Lindgren, M., Riazi, R., Lesch, C., Wilhelmsson, C., Theopold, U., and Dushay, M.S. (2008). Fondue and transglutaminase in the Drosophila larval clot. Journal of insect physiology 54, 586-592.

Liu, F., Chen, Y., Yang, B., Wang, J., Peng, Q., Shao, Q., Li, X., Beerntsen, B.T., Xu, Y., Li, J., Yu, X.Q., and Ling, E. (2011). Drosophila melanogaster prophenoloxidases respond inconsistently to Cu(2+) and have different activity in vitro. Developmental and comparative immunology.

Lund, V.K., and Delotto, R. (2011). Regulation of Toll and Toll-like receptor signaling by the endocytic pathway. Small GTPases 2, 95-98.

Luo, H., and Dearolf, C.R. (2001). The JAK/STAT pathway and Drosophila development. Bioessays 23, 1138-1147.

Luo, L. (2007). Single-Neuron Labeling Using the Genetic MARCM Method. CSH protocols 2007, pdb prot4789.

Maeda, H., Fujimoto, C., Haruki, Y., Maeda, T., Kokeguchi, S., Petelin, M., Arai, H., Tanimoto, I., Nishimura, F., and Takashiba, S. (2003). Quantitative real-time PCR using TaqMan and SYBR Green for Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans, Porphyromonas gingivalis, Prevotella intermedia, tetQ gene and total bacteria. FEMS immunology and medical microbiology 39, 81-86.

Maillet, F., Bischoff, V., Vignal, C., Hoffmann, J., and Royet, J. (2008). The Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein PGRP-LF blocks PGRP-LC and IMD/JNK pathway activation. Cell host & microbe 3, 293-303.

Maltezou, H.C., Tryfinopoulou, K., Katerelos, P., Ftika, L., Pappa, O., Tseroni, M., Kostis, E., Kostalos, C., Prifti, H., Tzanetou, K., and Vatopoulos, A. (2012). Consecutive Serratia marcescens multiclone outbreaks in a neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Infect Control.

Markus, R., Laurinyecz, B., Kurucz, E., Honti, V., Bajusz, I., Sipos, B., Somogyi, K., Kronhamn, J., Hultmark, D., and Ando, I. (2009). Sessile hemocytes as a hematopoietic compartment in Drosophila melanogaster. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 4805-4809.

Matova, N., and Anderson, K.V. (2006). Rel/NF-kappaB double mutants reveal that cellular immunity is central to Drosophila host defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 16424-16429.

Matskevich, A.A., Quintin, J., and Ferrandon, D. (2010). The Drosophila PRR GNBP3 assembles effector complexes involved in antifungal defenses independently of its Toll-pathway activation function. European journal of immunology 40, 1244-1254.

Maynard, J.C., Pham, T., Zheng, T., Jockheck-Clark, A., Rankin, H.B., Newgard, C.B., Spana, E.P., and Nicchitta, C.V. (2010). Gp93, the Drosophila GRP94 ortholog, is required for gut epithelial homeostasis and nutrient assimilation-coupled growth control. Developmental biology 339, 295-306.

McElwain, M.A., Ko, D.C., Gordon, M.D., Fyrst, H., Saba, J.D., and Nusse, R. (2011). A suppressor/enhancer screen in Drosophila reveals a role for wnt-mediated lipid metabolism in primordial germ cell migration. PloS one 6, e26993.

Meignin, C., Alvarez-Garcia, I., Davis, I., and Palacios, I.M. (2007). The salvadorwarts-hippo pathway is required for epithelial proliferation and axis specification in Drosophila. Curr Biol 17, 1871-1878.

Mellroth, P., Karlsson, J., Hakansson, J., Schultz, N., Goldman, W.E., and Steiner, H. (2005). Ligand-induced dimerization of Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition proteins in vitro. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 6455-6460.

Mellroth, P., Karlsson, J., and Steiner, H. (2003). A scavenger function for a Drosophila peptidoglycan recognition protein. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 7059-7064.

Mellroth, P., and Steiner, H. (2006). PGRP-SB1: an N-acetylmuramoyl L-alanine amidase with antibacterial activity. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 350, 994-999.

Meunier, N., Belgacem, Y.H., and Martin, J.R. (2007). Regulation of feeding behaviour and locomotor activity by takeout in Drosophila. J Exp Biol 210, 1424-1434.

Miedzobrodzki, J., Naidu, A.S., Watts, J.L., Ciborowski, P., Palm, K., and Wadstrom, T. (1989). Effect of milk on fibronectin and collagen type I binding to Staphylococcus aureus and coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine mastitis. Journal of clinical microbiology 27, 540-544.

Mishima, Y., Quintin, J., Aimanianda, V., Kellenberger, C., Coste, F., Clavaud, C., Hetru, C., Hoffmann, J.A., Latge, J.P., Ferrandon, D., and Roussel, A. (2009). The N-terminal domain of Drosophila Gram-negative binding protein 3 (GNBP3) defines a novel family of fungal pattern recognition receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry 284, 28687-28697.

Mizuguchi, K., Parker, J.S., Blundell, T.L., and Gay, N.J. (1998). Getting knotted: a model for the structure and activation of Spatzle. Trends Biochem Sci 23, 239-242.

Moresco, E.M., LaVine, D., and Beutler, B. (2011). Toll-like receptors. Curr Biol 21, R488-493.

Muller, P., Boutros, M., and Zeidler, M.P. (2008). Identification of JAK/STAT pathway regulators--insights from RNAi screens. Seminars in cell & developmental biology 19, 360-369.

Muller, P., Kuttenkeuler, D., Gesellchen, V., Zeidler, M.P., and Boutros, M. (2005). Identification of JAK/STAT signalling components by genome-wide RNA interference. Nature 436, 871-875.

Mutsuddi, M., Mukherjee, A., Shen, B., Manley, J.L., and Nambu, J.R. (2010). Drosophila Pelle phosphorylates Dichaete protein and influences its subcellular distribution in developing oocytes. Int J Dev Biol 54, 1309-1315.

Nadkarni, M.A., Martin, F.E., Jacques, N.A., and Hunter, N. (2002). Determination of bacterial load by real-time PCR using a broad-range (universal) probe and primers set. Microbiology 148, 257-266.

Nagase, N., Sasaki, A., Yamashita, K., Shimizu, A., Wakita, Y., Kitai, S., and Kawano, J. (2002). Isolation and species distribution of staphylococci from animal and human skin. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 64, 245-250.

Nagata, S., and Nagasawa, H. (2006). Effects of diet-deprivation and physical stimulation on the feeding behaviour of the larvae of the silkworm, Bombyx mori. Journal of insect physiology 52, 807-815.

Naitza, S., Rosse, C., Kappler, C., Georgel, P., Belvin, M., Gubb, D., Camonis, J., Hoffmann, J.A., and Reichhart, J.M. (2002). The Drosophila immune defense against gram-negative infection requires the death protein dFADD. Immunity 17, 575-581.

Nakamura, T., Shibata, N., Doi, Y., Okuda, K., Nakata, C., Heijyo, H., Matsuo, N., Masuda, M., Takahashi, H., and Arakawa, Y. (2002). [IMP-1 type metalo-betalactamase producing Serratia marcescens strains isolated from blood culture between 1991 to 2000]. Kansenshogaku Zasshi 76, 246-253.

Nappi, A., Poirie, M., and Carton, Y. (2009). The role of melanization and cytotoxic by-products in the cellular immune responses of Drosophila against parasitic wasps. Adv Parasitol 70, 99-121.

Nappi, A.J., Vass, E., Frey, F., and Carton, Y. (1995). Superoxide anion generation in Drosophila during melanotic encapsulation of parasites. Eur J Cell Biol 68, 450-456.

Nehme, N.T., Liegeois, S., Kele, B., Giammarinaro, P., Pradel, E., Hoffmann, J.A., Ewbank, J.J., and Ferrandon, D. (2007). A model of bacterial intestinal infections in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS pathogens 3, e173.

Nehme, N.T., Quintin, J., Cho, J.H., Lee, J., Lafarge, M.C., Kocks, C., and Ferrandon, D. (2011). Relative roles of the cellular and humoral responses in the Drosophila host defense against three gram-positive bacterial infections. PloS one 6, e14743.

Oldham, S. (2011). Obesity and nutrient sensing TOR pathway in flies and vertebrates: Functional conservation of genetic mechanisms. Trends Endocrinol Metab 22, 45-52.

Paquette, N., Broemer, M., Aggarwal, K., Chen, L., Husson, M., Erturk-Hasdemir, D., Reichhart, J.M., Meier, P., and Silverman, N. (2010). Caspase-mediated cleavage, IAP binding, and ubiquitination: linking three mechanisms crucial for Drosophila NF-kappaB signaling. Molecular cell 37, 172-182.

Paredes, J.C., Welchman, D.P., Poidevin, M., and Lemaitre, B. (2011). Negative Regulation by Amidase PGRPs Shapes the Drosophila Antibacterial Response and Protects the Fly from Innocuous Infection. Immunity 35, 770-779.

Partridge, L., Alic, N., Bjedov, I., and Piper, M.D. (2011). Ageing in Drosophila: the role of the insulin/lgf and TOR signalling network. Experimental gerontology 46, 376-381.

Pauchet, Y., Freitak, D., Heidel-Fischer, H.M., Heckel, D.G., and Vogel, H. (2009). Immunity or digestion: glucanase activity in a glucan-binding protein family from Lepidoptera. The Journal of biological chemistry 284, 2214-2224.
Pelte, N., Robertson, A.S., Zou, Z., Belorgey, D., Dafforn, T.R., Jiang, H., Lomas, D., Reichhart, J.M., and Gubb, D. (2006). Immune challenge induces N-terminal cleavage of the Drosophila serpin Necrotic. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology 36, 37-46.

Persson, C., Oldenvi, S., and Steiner, H. (2007). Peptidoglycan recognition protein LF: a negative regulator of Drosophila immunity. Insect biochemistry and molecular biology 37, 1309-1316.

Pili-Floury, S., Leulier, F., Takahashi, K., Saigo, K., Samain, E., Ueda, R., and Lemaitre, B. (2004). In vivo RNA interference analysis reveals an unexpected role for GNBP1 in the defense against Gram-positive bacterial infection in Drosophila adults. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 12848-12853.

Pioch, G., Heyne, H., and Witte, W. (1988). Coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus* species in mixed fodder and on grain. Zentralbl. Mikrobiol. 143, 157-171.

Planchon, S., Desvaux, M., Chafsey, I., Chambon, C., Leroy, S., Hebraud, M., and Talon, R. (2009). Comparative subproteome analyses of planktonic and sessile Staphylococcus xylosus C2a: new insight in cell physiology of a coagulase-negative Staphylococcus in biofilm. Journal of proteome research 8, 1797-1809.

Planchon, S., Gaillard-Martinie, B., Dordet-Frisoni, E., Bellon-Fontaine, M.N., Leoy, S., Labadie, J., Hebraud, M., and Talon, R. (2006). Formation of biofilm b *Staphylococcus xylosus*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 109, 88-96.

Pradel, E., Zhang, Y., Pujol, N., Matsuyama, T., Bargmann, C.I., and Ewbank, J.J. (2007). Detection and avoidance of a natural product from the pathogenic bacterium Serratia marcescens by Caenorhabditis elegans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 2295-2300.

Ragab, A., Buechling, T., Gesellchen, V., Spirohn, K., Boettcher, A.L., and Boutros, M. (2011). Drosophila Ras/MAPK signalling regulates innate immune responses in immune and intestinal stem cells. The EMBO journal 30, 1123-1136.

Ramet, M., Manfruelli, P., Pearson, A., Mathey-Prevot, B., and Ezekowitz, R.A. (2002). Functional genomic analysis of phagocytosis and identification of a Drosophila receptor for E. coli. Nature 416, 644-648.

Ramet, M., Pearson, A., Manfruelli, P., Li, X., Koziel, H., Gobel, V., Chung, E., Krieger, M., and Ezekowitz, R.A. (2001). Drosophila scavenger receptor CI is a pattern recognition receptor for bacteria. Immunity 15, 1027-1038.

Rawlings, J.S., Rennebeck, G., Harrison, S.M., Xi, R., and Harrison, D.A. (2004). Two Drosophila suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) differentially regulate JAK and EGFR pathway activities. BMC Cell Biol 5, 38.

Reichhart, J.M., Meister, M., Dimarcq, J.L., Zachary, D., Hoffmann, D., Ruiz, C., Richards, G., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1992). Insect immunity: developmental and inducible activity of the Drosophila diptericin promoter. The EMBO journal 11, 1469-1477.

Ren, C., Webster, P., Finkel, S.E., and Tower, J. (2007). Increased internal and external bacterial load during Drosophila aging without life-span trade-off. Cell metabolism 6, 144-152.

Ren, F., Wang, B., Yue, T., Yun, E.Y., Ip, Y.T., and Jiang, J. (2010a). Hippo signaling regulates Drosophila intestine stem cell proliferation through multiple pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 21064-21069.

Ren, F., Zhang, L., and Jiang, J. (2010b). Hippo signaling regulates Yorkie nuclear localization and activity through 14-3-3 dependent and independent mechanisms. Developmental biology 337, 303-312.

Robertson, A.S., Belorgey, D., Gubb, D., Dafforn, T.R., and Lomas, D.A. (2006). Inhibitory activity of the Drosophila melanogaster serpin Necrotic is dependent on lysine residues in the D-helix. The Journal of biological chemistry 281, 26437-26443.

Robertson, A.S., Belorgey, D., Lilley, K.S., Lomas, D.A., Gubb, D., and Dafforn, T.R. (2003). Characterization of the necrotic protein that regulates the Toll-mediated immune response in Drosophila. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 6175-6180.

Rogers, H.J. (1980). Microbial Cell Walls and membranes. Chapman and Hall, London.

Roos, D., Kuijpers, T.W., and Curnutte, J.T. (2007). Chronic granulomatous disease, p. 525-549. *In* Ochs H. D. Smith C.I.E., Puck J. M. (ed.) Primary immunodeficiency diseases, a molecular and genetic approach, 2nd ed. New York (NY): Oxford University Press.

Rubin, G.M., and Spradling, A.C. (1982). Genetic transformation of Drosophila with transposable element vectors. Science (New York, N.Y 218, 348-353.

Russo, J., Dupas, S., Frey, F., Carton, Y., and Brehelin, M. (1996). Insect immunity: early events in the encapsulation process of parasitoid (Leptopilina boulardi) eggs in resistant and susceptible strains of Drosophila. Parasitology 112 (Pt 1), 135-142.

Ryoo, H.D., and Baehrecke, E.H. (2010). Distinct death mechanisms in Drosophila development. Current opinion in cell biology 22, 889-895.

Ryoo, H.D., Gorenc, T., and Steller, H. (2004). Apoptotic cells can induce compensatory cell proliferation through the JNK and the Wingless signaling pathways. Developmental cell 7, 491-501.

Ryu, J.H., Ha, E.M., and Lee, W.J. (2010). Innate immunity and gut-microbe mutualism in Drosophila. Developmental and comparative immunology 34, 369-376.

Ryu, J.H., Ha, E.M., Oh, C.T., Seol, J.H., Brey, P.T., Jin, I., Lee, D.G., Kim, J., Lee, D., and Lee, W.J. (2006). An essential complementary role of NF-kappaB pathway to microbicidal oxidants in Drosophila gut immunity. The EMBO journal 25, 3693-3701.

Ryu, J.H., Kim, S.H., Lee, H.Y., Bai, J.Y., Nam, Y.D., Bae, J.W., Lee, D.G., Shin, S.C., Ha, E.M., and Lee, W.J. (2008). Innate immune homeostasis by the homeobox gene caudal and commensal-gut mutualism in Drosophila. Science (New York, N.Y 319, 777-782.

Scherfer, C., Karlsson, C., Loseva, O., Bidla, G., Goto, A., Havemann, J., Dushay, M.S., and Theopold, U. (2004). Isolation and characterization of hemolymph clotting factors in Drosophila melanogaster by a pullout method. Curr Biol 14, 625-629.

Scherfer, C., Qazi, M.R., Takahashi, K., Ueda, R., Dushay, M.S., Theopold, U., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). The Toll immune-regulated Drosophila protein Fondue is involved in hemolymph clotting and puparium formation. Developmental biology 295, 156-163.

Schneider, D.S., Hudson, K.L., Lin, T.Y., and Anderson, K.V. (1991). Dominant and recessive mutations define functional domains of Toll, a transmembrane protein required for dorsal-ventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo. Genes & development 5, 797-807.

Scott, R.C., Schuldiner, O., and Neufeld, T.P. (2004). Role and regulation of starvation-induced autophagy in the Drosophila fat body. Developmental cell 7, 167-178.

Searles, L.L., Jokerst, R.S., Bingham, P.M., Voelker, R.A., and Greenleaf, A.L. (1982). Molecular cloning of sequences from a Drosophila RNA polymerase II locus by P element transposon tagging. Cell 31, 585-592.

Serino, M., Chabo, C., and Burcelin, R. (2011). Intestinal MicrobiOMICS to Define Health and Disease in Human and Mice. Current pharmaceutical biotechnology.

Shale, K., Lues, J.F.R., Venter, P., and Buys, E.M. (2005). The distribution of *Staphylococcus* sp. on bovine meat from abattoir deboning rooms. Food Microbiology 22, 433-438.

Shanbhag, S., and Tripathi, S. (2009). Epithelial ultrastructure and cellular mechanisms of acid and base transport in the Drosophila midgut. J Exp Biol 212, 1731-1744.

Shaw, R.L., Kohlmaier, A., Polesello, C., Veelken, C., Edgar, B.A., and Tapon, N. (2010). The Hippo pathway regulates intestinal stem cell proliferation during

Drosophila adult midgut regeneration. Development (Cambridge, England) 137, 4147-4158.

Shelton, C.A., and Wasserman, S.A. (1993). pelle encodes a protein kinase required to establish dorsoventral polarity in the Drosophila embryo. Cell 72, 515-525.

Shi, S., Larson, K., Guo, D., Lim, S.J., Dutta, P., Yan, S.J., and Li, W.X. (2008). Drosophila STAT is required for directly maintaining HP1 localization and heterochromatin stability. Nature cell biology 10, 489-496.

Shia, A.K., Glittenberg, M., Thompson, G., Weber, A.N., Reichhart, J.M., and Ligoxygakis, P. (2009). Toll-dependent antimicrobial responses in Drosophila larval fat body require Spatzle secreted by haemocytes. Journal of cell science 122, 4505-4515.

Shin, S.C., Kim, S.H., You, H., Kim, B., Kim, A.C., Lee, K.A., Yoon, J.H., Ryu, J.H., and Lee, W.J. (2011). Drosophila microbiome modulates host developmental and metabolic homeostasis via insulin signaling. Science (New York, N.Y 334, 670-674.

Shrestha, B.R., and Grueber, W.B. (2011). Generation and staining of MARCM clones in Drosophila. Cold Spring Harbor protocols 2011, 973-979.

Sieber, M.H., and Thummel, C.S. (2012). Coordination of Triacylglycerol and Cholesterol Homeostasis by DHR96 and the Drosophila LipA Homolog magro. Cell metabolism 15, 122-127.

Silverman, N., Zhou, R., Erlich, R.L., Hunter, M., Bernstein, E., Schneider, D., and Maniatis, T. (2003). Immune activation of NF-kappaB and JNK requires Drosophila TAK1. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 48928-48934.

Silverman, N., Zhou, R., Stoven, S., Pandey, N., Hultmark, D., and Maniatis, T. (2000). A Drosophila IkappaB kinase complex required for Relish cleavage and antibacterial immunity. Genes & development 14, 2461-2471.

Singh, R., Kaushik, S., Wang, Y., Xiang, Y., Novak, I., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cuervo, A.M., and Czaja, M.J. (2009). Autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. Nature 458, 1131-1135.

Singh, S.R., Chen, X., and Hou, S.X. (2005). JAK/STAT signaling regulates tissue outgrowth and male germline stem cell fate in Drosophila. Cell research 15, 1-5.

Staley, B.K., and Irvine, K.D. (2012). Hippo signaling in Drosophila: Recent advances and insights. Dev Dyn 241, 3-15.

Storelli, G., Defaye, A., Erkosar, B., Hols, P., Royet, J., and Leulier, F. (2011). Lactobacillus plantarum promotes Drosophila systemic growth by modulating

hormonal signals through TOR-dependent nutrient sensing. Cell metabolism 14, 403-414.

Stoven, S., Ando, I., Kadalayil, L., Engstrom, Y., and Hultmark, D. (2000). Activation of the Drosophila NF-kappaB factor Relish by rapid endoproteolytic cleavage. EMBO reports 1, 347-352.

Stuart, L.M., Deng, J., Silver, J.M., Takahashi, K., Tseng, A.A., Hennessy, E.J., Ezekowitz, R.A., and Moore, K.J. (2005). Response to Staphylococcus aureus requires CD36-mediated phagocytosis triggered by the COOH-terminal cytoplasmic domain. The Journal of cell biology 170, 477-485.

Sun, H., Towb, P., Chiem, D.N., Foster, B.A., and Wasserman, S.A. (2004). Regulated assembly of the Toll signaling complex drives Drosophila dorsoventral patterning. The EMBO journal 23, 100-110.

Swaroop, A., Paco-Larson, M.L., and Garen, A. (1985). Molecular genetics of a transposon-induced dominant mutation in the Drosophila locus Glued. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 82, 1751-1755.

Takehana, A., Katsuyama, T., Yano, T., Oshima, Y., Takada, H., Aigaki, T., and Kurata, S. (2002). Overexpression of a pattern-recognition receptor, peptidoglycanrecognition protein-LE, activates imd/relish-mediated antibacterial defense and the prophenoloxidase cascade in Drosophila larvae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 13705-13710.

Takehana, A., Yano, T., Mita, S., Kotani, A., Oshima, Y., and Kurata, S. (2004). Peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP)-LE and PGRP-LC act synergistically in Drosophila immunity. The EMBO journal 23, 4690-4700.

Talon, R., Leroy-Sétrin, S., and Fadda, S. (2002). Bacterial starters involved in the quality of fermented meat products, p. 175-191. *In* F. Toldra (ed.), Handbook of research advances in quality of meat and meat products. Research Signpost, Kerala, India.

Tamiya, T., Kashiwagi, I., Takahashi, R., Yasukawa, H., and Yoshimura, A. (2011). Suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins and JAK/STAT pathways: regulation of T-cell inflammation by SOCS1 and SOCS3. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 31, 980-985.

Tang, H., Kambris, Z., Lemaitre, B., and Hashimoto, C. (2008). A serpin that regulates immune melanization in the respiratory system of Drosophila. Developmental cell 15, 617-626.

Tao, K., Long, Z., Liu, K., Tao, Y., and Liu, S. (2006). Purification and properties of a novel insecticidal protein from the locust pathogen Serratia marcescens HR-3. Curr Microbiol 52, 45-49.

Tauszig, S., Jouanguy, E., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2000). Toll-related receptors and the control of antimicrobial peptide expression in Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 10520-10525.

Tauszig-Delamasure, S., Bilak, H., Capovilla, M., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2002). Drosophila MyD88 is required for the response to fungal and Gram-positive bacterial infections. Nature immunology 3, 91-97.

Teleman, A.A., Chen, Y.W., and Cohen, S.M. (2005). 4E-BP functions as a metabolic brake used under stress conditions but not during normal growth. Genes & development 19, 1844-1848.

Tepass, U., Fessler, L.I., Aziz, A., and Hartenstein, V. (1994). Embryonic origin of hemocytes and their relationship to cell death in Drosophila. Development (Cambridge, England) 120, 1829-1837.

Tettweiler, G., Miron, M., Jenkins, M., Sonenberg, N., and Lasko, P.F. (2005). Starvation and oxidative stress resistance in Drosophila are mediated through the eIF4E-binding protein, d4E-BP. Genes & development 19, 1840-1843.

Thibault, S.T., Singer, M.A., Miyazaki, W.Y., Milash, B., Dompe, N.A., Singh, C.M., Buchholz, R., Demsky, M., Fawcett, R., Francis-Lang, H.L., Ryner, L., Cheung, L.M., Chong, A., Erickson, C., Fisher, W.W., Greer, K., Hartouni, S.R., Howie, E., Jakkula, L., Joo, D., Killpack, K., Laufer, A., Mazzotta, J., Smith, R.D., Stevens, L.M., Stuber, C., Tan, L.R., Ventura, R., Woo, A., Zakrajsek, I., Zhao, L., Chen, F., Swimmer, C., Kopczynski, C., Duyk, G., Winberg, M.L., and Margolis, J. (2004). A complementary transposon tool kit for Drosophila melanogaster using P and piggyBac. Nature genetics 36, 283-287.

Tingvall, T.O., Roos, E., and Engstrom, Y. (2001). The GATA factor Serpent is required for the onset of the humoral immune response in Drosophila embryos. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 3884-3888.

Towb, P., Sun, H., and Wasserman, S.A. (2009). Tube Is an IRAK-4 homolog in a Toll pathway adapted for development and immunity. Journal of innate immunity 1, 309-321.

Traub, W.H. (2000). Antibiotic susceptibility of Serratia marcescens and Serratia liquefaciens. Chemotherapy 46, 315-321.

Tselenis-Kotsowilis, A.D., Koliomichalis, M.P., and Papavassiliou, J.T. (1982). Acute pyelonephritis caused by Staphylococcus xylosus. Journal of clinical microbiology 16, 593-594.

Tseng, C.P., Cheng, J.C., Tseng, C.C., Wang, C., Chen, Y.L., Chiu, D.T., Liao, H.C., and Chang, S.S. (2003). Broad-range ribosomal RNA real-time PCR after removal of DNA from reagents: melting profiles for clinically important bacteria. Clin Chem 49, 306-309.

Tukhvatulin, A.I., Logunov, D.Y., Shcherbinin, D.N., Shmarov, M.M., Naroditsky, B.S., Gudkov, A.V., and Gintsburg, A.L. (2010). Toll-like receptors and their adapter molecules. Biochemistry (Mosc) 75, 1098-1114.

Tzou, P., Ohresser, S., Ferrandon, D., Capovilla, M., Reichhart, J.M., Lemaitre, B., Hoffmann, J.A., and Imler, J.L. (2000). Tissue-specific inducible expression of antimicrobial peptide genes in Drosophila surface epithelia. Immunity 13, 737-748.

Uttenweiler-Joseph, S., Moniatte, M., Lagueux, M., Van Dorsselaer, A., Hoffmann, J.A., and Bulet, P. (1998). Differential display of peptides induced during the immune response of Drosophila: a matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry study. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 11342-11347.

Valanne, S., Myllymaki, H., Kallio, J., Schmid, M.R., Kleino, A., Murumagi, A., Airaksinen, L., Kotipelto, T., Kaustio, M., Ulvila, J., Esfahani, S.S., Engstrom, Y., Silvennoinen, O., Hultmark, D., Parikka, M., and Ramet, M. (2010). Genome-wide RNA interference in Drosophila cells identifies G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 as a conserved regulator of NF-kappaB signaling. J Immunol 184, 6188-6198.

Valanne, S., Wang, J.H., and Ramet, M. (2011). The Drosophila Toll signaling pathway. J Immunol 186, 649-656.

Vallet-Gely, I., Lemaitre, B., and Boccard, F. (2008). Bacterial strategies to overcome insect defences. Nat Rev Microbiol 6, 302-313.

Vollmer, W. (2008). Structural variation in the glycan strands of bacterial peptidoglycan. FEMS microbiology reviews 32, 287-306.

Vollmer, W., and Bertsche, U. (2008). Murein (peptidoglycan) structure, architecture and biosynthesis in Escherichia coli. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1778, 1714-1734.

Vollmer, W., Blanot, D., and de Pedro, M.A. (2008). Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. FEMS microbiology reviews 32, 149-167.

Vorgias, C.E., Perrakis, A., and Tews, I. (1996). Structure-function studies on the chitinolytic enzymes of Serratia marcescens chitinase and chitobiase. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 799, 190-192.

Wang, B., Moya, N., Niessen, S., Hoover, H., Mihaylova, M.M., Shaw, R.J., Yates, J.R., 3rd, Fischer, W.H., Thomas, J.B., and Montminy, M. (2011). A hormone-dependent module regulating energy balance. Cell 145, 596-606.

Wang, L., Weber, A.N., Atilano, M.L., Filipe, S.R., Gay, N.J., and Ligoxygakis, P. (2006). Sensing of Gram-positive bacteria in Drosophila: GNBP1 is needed to process and present peptidoglycan to PGRP-SA. The EMBO journal 25, 5005-5014.

Wang, Z., Wilhelmsson, C., Hyrsl, P., Loof, T.G., Dobes, P., Klupp, M., Loseva, O., Morgelin, M., Ikle, J., Cripps, R.M., Herwald, H., and Theopold, U. (2010). Pathogen entrapment by transglutaminase--a conserved early innate immune mechanism. PLoS pathogens 6, e1000763.

Watson, F.L., Puttmann-Holgado, R., Thomas, F., Lamar, D.L., Hughes, M., Kondo, M., Rebel, V.I., and Schmucker, D. (2005). Extensive diversity of Ig-superfamily proteins in the immune system of insects. Science (New York, N.Y 309, 1874-1878.

Wayne, M.L., Soundararajan, U., and Harshman, L.G. (2006). Environmental stress and reproduction in Drosophila melanogaster: starvation resistance, ovariole numbers and early age egg production. BMC Evol Biol 6, 57.

Weber, A.N., Moncrieffe, M.C., Gangloff, M., Imler, J.L., and Gay, N.J. (2005). Ligand-receptor and receptor-receptor interactions act in concert to activate signaling in the Drosophila toll pathway. The Journal of biological chemistry 280, 22793-22799.

Weber, A.N., Tauszig-Delamasure, S., Hoffmann, J.A., Lelievre, E., Gascan, H., Ray, K.P., Morse, M.A., Imler, J.L., and Gay, N.J. (2003). Binding of the Drosophila cytokine Spatzle to Toll is direct and establishes signaling. Nature immunology 4, 794-800.

Wells, J.M., Rossi, O., Meijerink, M., and van Baarlen, P. (2011). Epithelial crosstalk at the microbiota-mucosal interface. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108 Suppl 1, 4607-4614.

Werner, T., Liu, G., Kang, D., Ekengren, S., Steiner, H., and Hultmark, D. (2000). A family of peptidoglycan recognition proteins in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97, 13772-13777.

Williamson, J.H. (1970). Ethyl methanesulfonate-induced mutants in the Y chromosome of Drosophila melanogaster. Mutation research 10, 597-605.

Wong, C.N., Ng, P., and Douglas, A.E. (2011). Low-diversity bacterial community in the gut of the fruitfly Drosophila melanogaster. Environmental microbiology 13, 1889-1900.

Wormald, S., and Hilton, D.J. (2004). Inhibitors of cytokine signal transduction. The Journal of biological chemistry 279, 821-824.

Wu, J.S., and Luo, L. (2006). A protocol for mosaic analysis with a repressible cell marker (MARCM) in Drosophila. Nature protocols 1, 2583-2589.

Xi, R., McGregor, J.R., and Harrison, D.A. (2003). A gradient of JAK pathway activity patterns the anterior-posterior axis of the follicular epithelium. Developmental cell 4, 167-177.

Xu, N., Wang, S.Q., Tan, D., Gao, Y., Lin, G., and Xi, R. (2011). EGFR, Wingless and JAK/STAT signaling cooperatively maintain Drosophila intestinal stem cells. Developmental biology 354, 31-43.

Yoshiga, T., Georgieva, T., Dunkov, B.C., Harizanova, N., Ralchev, K., and Law, J.H. (1999). Drosophila melanogaster transferrin. Cloning, deduced protein sequence, expression during the life cycle, gene localization and up-regulation on bacterial infection. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS 260, 414-420.

Zaidman-Remy, A., Herve, M., Poidevin, M., Pili-Floury, S., Kim, M.S., Blanot, D., Oh, B.H., Ueda, R., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., and Lemaitre, B. (2006). The Drosophila amidase PGRP-LB modulates the immune response to bacterial infection. Immunity 24, 463-473.

Zanoni, I., Ostuni, R., Marek, L.R., Barresi, S., Barbalat, R., Barton, G.M., Granucci, F., and Kagan, J.C. (2011). CD14 controls the LPS-induced endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4. Cell 147, 868-880.

Zeidler, M.P., Bach, E.A., and Perrimon, N. (2000). The roles of the Drosophila JAK/STAT pathway. Oncogene 19, 2598-2606.

Zhong, J., and Yedvobnick, B. (2009). Targeted gain-of-function screening in Drosophila using GAL4-UAS and random transposon insertions. Genet Res (Camb) 91, 243-258.

Zhou, R., Silverman, N., Hong, M., Liao, D.S., Chung, Y., Chen, Z.J., and Maniatis, T. (2005). The role of ubiquitination in Drosophila innate immunity. The Journal of biological chemistry 280, 34048-34055.

Zinke, I., Schutz, C.S., Katzenberger, J.D., Bauer, M., and Pankratz, M.J. (2002). Nutrient control of gene expression in Drosophila: microarray analysis of starvation and sugar-dependent response. The EMBO journal 21, 6162-6173.